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SECTION - I:  GENERAL  

NOTICE TO INVESTORS  

All statements contained in this Draft Offer Document with respect to the Brookfield REIT and Units are, in all 

material respects, true, accurate and not misleading. The opinions and intentions expressed in this Draft Offer 

Document with respect to the Brookfield REIT and Units are honestly held and have been reached after 

considering all relevant circumstances. Such opinions and intentions are based on reasonable assumptions and 

information presently available with our Sponsor, Manager and the Trustee. There are no other facts with respect 

to the Brookfield REIT and Units, the omission of which would, in the context of the Offer, make any statement 

in this Draft Offer Document misleading in any material respect. Further, our Manager and our Sponsor have 

made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and 

statements made herein. 

Prospective investors acknowledge that they have not relied on the Lead Managers or any of their respective 

shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors, representatives, agents or affiliates with respect to such 

personôs investigation of the accuracy of such information or such personôs investment decision and each person 

must rely on his/ her own examination of the Brookfield REIT and the merits and risks involved in investing in 

our Units. Prospective investors also acknowledge that they should not construe the contents of this Draft Offer 

Document as legal, business, tax, accounting or investment advice and accordingly, each prospective investor is 

advised to consult its own advisors in respect of the consequences of an investment in our Units being issued 

pursuant to the Offer Document. Prospective investors are also advised to read ñRisk Factorsò beginning on page 

30 before taking an investment decision with respect to the Offer. 

No person is authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Draft Offer 

Document and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having been 

authorized by or on behalf of the Brookfield REIT or by or on behalf of the Lead Managers. 

As on the date of this Draft Offer Document, none of our Portfolio Companies are owned or managed by the 

Brookfield REIT. Accordingly, any reference to ñweò, ñourò and ñusò in this Draft Offer Document described 

below is indicative in nature and is made under the assumption that the Brookfield REIT, upon consummation of 

the Formation Transactions and the Offer, shall acquire our Portfolio Companies. As on the date of this Draft 

Offer Document, the Brookfield REIT (acting through the Trustee), our Manager, certain members of our Sponsor 

Group and each of our Portfolio Companies are yet to enter into the Share Acquisition Agreements for transfer of 

the equity shares and CCDs, as applicable, held by the respective members of our Sponsor Group in our Portfolio 

Companies to the Brookfield REIT, in exchange for our Units. For details of risks in relation to the Brookfield 

REITôs inability to consummate transactions in relation to Formation Transactions, see ñRisk Factors - Our 

Manager has not executed any binding agreements with respect to the Share Acquisition Agreements, Call Option 

Agreements, ROFO Agreements, the Candor Amended and Restated Service Agreement, the Candor Amended 

and Restated Transition, Operations and Maintenance Agreements and the Festus Service Agreement. Our 

Managerôs inability to consummate transactions in relation to these agreements will impact the Offer and its 

ability to complete the Offer within the anticipated time frame or at allò beginning on page 31.  

Notice to Prospective Investors in the United States of America 

Our Units have not been approved or recommended by any U.S. federal or state securities commission or 

regulatory authority. Further, the United States Securities Exchange Commission has not confirmed the accuracy 

or determined the adequacy of this Draft Offer Document or approved or disapproved our Units. Any 

representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States. In making an investment decision, 

investors must rely on their own examination of Brookfield REIT and the terms of the Offer, including the merits 

and risks involved. Our Units have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as 

amended (ñU.S. Securities Actò) or any state securities laws in the United States and, unless so registered, may 

not be offered or sold within the United States, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not 

subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. 

Accordingly, our Units are being offered and sold (a) in the United States only to persons reasonably believed to 

be ñqualified institutional buyersò (as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act and referred to in this 

Draft Offer Document as ñU.S. QIBsò; for the avoidance of doubt, the term U.S. QIBs does not refer to a category 

of institutional investor defined under applicable Indian regulations and referred to in this Draft Offer Document 

as ñQIBsò) in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; and (b) outside 

the United States in ñoffshore transactionsò in compliance with Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act and 

the applicable laws of the jurisdiction where those offers and sales occur. 
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Notice to Prospective Investors in the European Economic Area 

This Draft Offer Document has been prepared on the basis that all offers of our Units in Member States of the 

European Economic Area and the United Kingdom (each, a ñRelevant Stateò) will be made pursuant to an 

exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to produce a prospectus for offers of Units. The 

expression ñProspectus Regulationò means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and Council 

(and amendments thereto) and includes, in relation to the UK, the Prospectus Regulation as it forms part of UK 

domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. Accordingly, any person making or 

intending to make an offer in a Relevant State of Units which are the subject of the placement contemplated in 

this Draft Offer Document should only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for Brookfield REIT 

or any of the Lead Managers to produce a prospectus for such offer. Neither Brookfield REIT nor the Lead 

Managers have authorized the making of any offer of our Units through any financial intermediary, other than the 

offers made by the Lead Managers which constitute the final placement of our Units contemplated in this Draft 

Offer Document.  

Any distributor subject to The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU) and Markets 

in Financial Instruments Regulation (Regulation (EU) No 600/2014) (together, ñMiFID II ò) that is offering, 

selling or recommending our Units is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of 

our Units and determining its own distribution channels for the purposes of the MiFID II product governance rules 

under Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 (as amended, the ñDelegated Directiveò). Neither 

Brookfield REIT nor the Lead Managers makes any representations or warranties as to a distributorôs compliance 

with the Delegated Directive.  

Our Units are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, and should not be and are not to be 

offered, sold or otherwise made available to, any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor 

means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) 

a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 as amended, where that customer would not qualify as 

a professional client as defined in point (10) of article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined 

in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no Key Information Document required by Regulation (EU) no 

1286/2014 (as amended, the ñPRIIPS Regulationò) for offering or selling our Units or otherwise making them 

available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling our Units or otherwise 

making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.  

Notice to Prospective Investors in the United Kingdom  

In the United Kingdom (ñUKò), this Draft Offer Document is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, 

persons (i) who have professional experience in matters relating to investments and who fall within article 19(5) 

of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (financial promotion) order 2005 (as amended) (ñOrderò), (ii) 

who are high net worth entities or other persons falling within article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the order or (iii) to whom 

they may otherwise lawfully be distributed or directed (all such persons together being referred to as ñRelevant 

Personsò). In the UK, our Units are only available to, and any investment or investment activity to which this 

Draft Offer Document relates will be engaged in only with, Relevant Persons. This Draft Offer Document should 

not be distributed, published or reproduced (in whole or in part) or disclosed by recipients to any other person in 

the UK. Any person in the UK that is not a Relevant Person should not act or rely on this Draft Offer Document.  

Notice to Prospective Investors in Canada 

Our Units will not be qualified for sale under the securities laws of any province or territory of Canada. Our Units 

may only be offered, sold or distributed, directly or indirectly, in or to or for the benefit of a resident of, the 

Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario or Québec, which is purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as 

a principal that is: (i) an accredited investor, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions 

(ñNI 45-106ò) or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and (ii) a permitted client, as defined in 

National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations and only 

through a dealer duly registered under the applicable securities laws of such provinces in circumstances where no 

exemption from the applicable registered dealer requirement is available. Any resale of our Units must be made 

in accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable 

securities laws.  

This Draft Offer Document or any other offering material in connection with the offer of our Units has not been 

and will not be distributed or delivered in Canada other than to a resident of the Provinces of British Columbia, 

Alberta, Ontario or Québec in compliance with applicable securities laws. Prospective Canadian investors are 
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advised that the information contained within this Draft Offer Document in relation to our Units has not been 

prepared with regard to matters that may be of particular concern to Canadian investors. Accordingly, prospective 

Canadian investors should consult with their own legal, financial and tax advisers concerning the information 

contained within this Draft Offer Document and any other offering material relating to our Units and as to the 

suitability of an investment in our Units in their particular circumstances. 

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for 

rescission or damages if this Draft Offer Document or any other offering material constituting an ñoffering 

memorandumò under applicable Canadian securities laws (including any amendment to any such documents) 

contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser 

within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaserôs province or territory. The purchaser 

should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaserôs province or territory for 

particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor. 

Pursuant to section 3A.3 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts (ñNI 33-105ò), the parties to this 

offering, including the Brookfield REIT, and the Lead Managers, as the case may be, are not required to comply 

with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest in connection with an 

offering of our Units. 

Upon receipt of this Draft Offer Document, each Canadian purchaser hereby confirms that it has expressly 

requested that all documents evidencing or relating in any way to the sale of our Units described herein (including 

for greater certainty any purchase confirmation or any notice) be drawn up in the English language only. Par la 

r®ception de la document dôoffre, chaque acheteur canadien confirme par les pr®sentes quôil a express®ment exig® 

que tous les documents faisant foi ou se rapportant de quelque manière que ce soit à la vente des valeurs 

mobilières décrites aux présentes (incluant, pour plus de certitude, toute confirmation d'achat ou tout avis) soient 

rédigés en anglais seulement.  

Notice to Investors in certain other jurisdictions 

The distribution of this Draft Offer Document and the Offer in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. As 

such, this Draft Offer Document does not constitute, and may not be used for or with respect to, an offer or 

solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to 

whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. In particular, no action has been taken by our Manager or 

the Lead Managers which would permit the Offer or distribution of this Draft Offer Document in any jurisdiction, 

other than India. Accordingly, our Units may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Draft 

Offer Document nor any Offer materials in connection with our Units may be distributed or published in or from 

any country or jurisdiction that would require registration of our Units in such country or jurisdiction. 

Disclaimer 

This Draft Offer Document does not, directly or indirectly, relate to any invitation, offer or sale of any securities, 

instruments or loans (including listed non-convertible debentures or bonds, if any) that may be issued by the 

Brookfield REIT after the listing of our Units. Any prospective investor investing in such invitation, offer or sale 

of securities by the Brookfield REIT should consult its own advisors before taking any decision in relation thereto. 

Each prospective investor acknowledges that neither the Lead Managers, nor their associates or affiliates have 

any responsibility or liability for such invitation, offer or sale of securities by the Brookfield REIT. 
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DEFINITIONS  AND ABBREVIATIONS  

This Draft Offer Document uses the definitions and abbreviations set forth. Prospective investors should consider 

such definitions and abbreviations whilst reading this Draft Offer Document and the information contained 

herein. The words and expressions used within this Draft Offer Document, but not defined herein shall have the 

meaning ascribed to such terms in the REIT Regulations, the SEBI Guidelines, the Depositories Act, and the rules 

and regulations made thereunder, as applicable. Prospective investors should note that references to any 

legislation, act, regulation, rules, guidelines or policies shall be to such legislation, act, regulation, rules, 

guidelines or policies as amended, supplemented, or re-enacted from time to time and any reference to a statutory 

provision shall also include any subordinate legislation made under such statutory provision. 

In this Draft Offer Document, unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to ñweò, ñusò and ñourò 

collectively refers to the Brookfield REIT and our Portfolio Companies. Such terms do not include reference to 

the Call Option SPVs.  

Brookfield REIT Related Terms 

Term Description 

Asset SPVs Collectively, Candor Kolkata, Festus and SPPL Noida 

Associates Associates of any person shall be as defined under the Companies Act or under the 

applicable accounting standards and shall include the following: 

(i) any person controlled directly or indirectly by the said person; 

(ii)  any person who directly controls the said person; 

(iii)  where the said person is a company or a body corporate, any person(s) who is 

designated as promoter(s) of the company or body corporate and any other 

company or body corporate with the same promoter(s); and 

(iv) where the said person is an individual, any relative of the individual 

 

In compliance with the provisions of Regulation 2(1)(b) of the REIT Regulations, 

our Manager has identified the associates of the Brookfield REIT, our Sponsor and 

Manager except with respect to sub-clause (ii) of Regulation 2(1)(b), which requires 

any person who controls, both directly and indirectly, the said person to be identified 

as an associate. With respect to the aforesaid, only entities which directly control the 

Brookfield REIT, our Sponsor or Manager, as applicable, have been considered  

Auditor  Deloitte Haskins & Sells, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 015125N), 

statutory auditors of the Brookfield REIT 

Audit Committee The audit committee of our Board 

BAM  Brookfield Asset Management Inc. 

Board/ Board of Directors The board of directors of our Manager  

BPY Brookfield Property Partners L.P. 

Brookfield REIT / Brookfield 

India REIT  

Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 

Brookfield/ Brookfield Group  BAM and its affiliates  

Brookfield Property Group  Brookfield Groupôs real estate business 

BSREP India Holdings BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd. 

BSREP India Office III  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd. 

BSREP II India  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd. 

BSREP V/ Sponsor BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. Ltd. 

Call Option Properties Together, Candor Techspace G1 (owned by Candor Gurgaon 1) and Candor 

Techspace N2 (owned by SDPL Noida) 

Call Option SPVs Together, Candor Gurgaon 1 and SDPL Noida 

Candor Amended and Restated 

Service Agreement 

Agreement dated [ǒ] entered into between our Manager and CIOP  

Candor Amended and Restated 

Transition, Operations and 

Maintenance Agreements 

Agreements, each dated [ǒ], entered into between CIOP and the Candor Asset SPVs, 

respectively 

Candor Assets Candor Techspace K1 (owned by Candor Kolkata), Candor Techspace G2 (owned 

by Candor Kolkata) and Candor Techspace N1 (owned by SPPL Noida) 

Candor Asset SPVs Together, Candor Kolkata and SPPL Noida 

Candor Gurgaon 1 Candor Gurgaon One Realty Projects Private Limited 

Candor Gurgaon 2 Erstwhile Candor Gurgaon Two Developers and Projects Private Limited, which has 

merged into Candor Kolkata with effect from May 4, 2020 

Candor Kolkata Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited 
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Term Description 

Candor Techspace G1 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 9, and under construction towers nos. 8, 

amenity block I, amenity block II, 10 (SEZ and customs office) all situated at Tikri, 

Sector 48, Gurugram 122 018, Haryana, India 

Candor Techspace G2 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 (amenity block I), 4A (amenity block II), 5, 6, 7, 8A, 

8B, 9, 11 and 10 (MLCP), all situated at Dundahera, Sector 21, Gurugram 122 016, 

Haryana, India 

Candor Techspace K1 Completed tower nos. A1, A2, A3, B1, B2, B3, G1, G2, G3, C1, C2 and C3 all 

situated at Action Area ï 1D, New Town, Rajarhat, Kolkata 700 156, West Bengal, 

India 

Candor Techspace N1 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7 (amenity block), under construction tower 

no. 8 (amenity block) and Future Development Potential towers 4A and 4B, all 

situated at Plot No. 2, Block No. B, Sector 62, Noida, Gautam Budh Nagar 201 301, 

Uttar Pradesh, India  

Candor Techspace N2 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 ,7, 8, 9, 10, amenity block I (ground floor) and 

amenity block II, under construction tower nos. 11 and11A and Future Development 

Potential tower 12 and amenity block I (first floor only), all situated at Plot Nos. 20 

and 21, Sector 135, Noida, Gautam Budh Nagar 201 304, Uttar Pradesh, India 

Candor Trademark Agreement  Agreement dated September 26, 2020 entered into between CIOP, Candor Asset 

SPVs, Call Option SPVs, our Manager and the Brookfield REIT 

Call Option Agreements The agreements dated [ǒ] entered into by each of the Call Option SPVs and their 

respective shareholders with our Manager and the Brookfield REIT (acting through 

the Trustee) 

Capital Contribution  The total amount contributed by our Unitholders, either by payment of cash towards 

subscription of Units or allotment of Units by way of a swap of shareholding/ 

interests in our Asset SPVs/ CIOP or against transfer of Real Estate Assets into the 

Brookfield REIT, or in any other manner whatsoever 

CIOP/ Operational Services 

Provider  

Candor India Office Parks Private Limited 

Compliance Officer  The compliance officer of the Brookfield REIT 

Condensed Combined Financial 

Statements 

The special purpose condensed combined financial statements of the Brookfield 

REIT, which comprise the combined balance sheet as at March 31, 2020, March 31, 

2019 and March 31, 2018, combined statement of net assets at fair value as at March 

31, 2020, combined statement of total returns at fair value as at March 31, 2020, 

combined statement of profit and loss, combined statement of cash flow, combined 

statement of changes in equity, and a summary of significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory information for the Financial Years ended March 31, 2020, 

March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 

 

Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the basis of 

preparation described in Note 2.1 to the special purpose condensed combined 

financial statements  

Distribution Policy  The distribution policy of the Brookfield REIT, in accordance with REIT 

Regulations, adopted on September 26, 2020 

Festus Festus Properties Private Limited 

Festus Service Agreement Agreement dated [ǒ] entered into between our Manager and Festus 

Formation Transactions The transactions pursuant to which the Brookfield REIT will acquire the Portfolio 

prior to the Allotment through the Offer 

Holdco/ Holding Company  Holding company or holdco as defined under Regulation 2(1)(qa) of the REIT 

Regulations  

Independent Property 

Consultant Report 

Independent property consultant report dated September 26, 2020 issued by the 

Independent Industry Expert 

Initial Portfolio  Real Estate Assets which will be directly or indirectly owned by the Brookfield 

REIT prior to listing in terms of the REIT Regulations, in this case being (a) Candor 

Techspace G2 (owned by Candor Kolkata); (b) Candor Techspace K1 (owned by 

Candor Kolkata); (c) Candor Techspace N1 (owned by SPPL Noida); and (d) 

Kensington (owned by Festus) 

Initial Contribution  The amount which was irrevocably transferred to the Trustee, on or before the 

execution of the Trust Deed (i.e. July 15, 2020), being an amount of 0.010 million 

towards the initial corpus of the Brookfield REIT in equal proportion, with an 

intention to settle and establish the Brookfield REIT 

Investment Management 

Agreement 

The investment management agreement dated July 17, 2020 executed between the 

Brookfield REIT (acting through the Trustee) and our Manager 

Kairos  Kairos Property Managers Private Limited 



 

6 

Term Description 

Kensington Kensington A and Kensington B located at Powai, Mumbai 400 076, Maharashtra, 

India 

Manager/ Brookprop 

Management 

Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  

MIOP  Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited 

Mountainstar Transition, 

Operations and Maintenance 

Agreement 

Agreements, each dated September 1, 2020 entered into between MIOP and the Call 

Option SPVs, respectively 

Mountainstar Service Agreement Agreement dated September 9, 2020 entered into between our Manager and MIOP 

Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee 

The nomination and remuneration committee of our Board 

Operational Services Services including property management, facilities management and support 

services to be provided by CIOP to each of the Candor Asset SPVs in terms of the 

Candor Amended and Restated Transition, Operations and Maintenance 

Agreements 

Parties to the Brookfield REIT Our Sponsor Group, Manager and Trustee  

Portfolio  Together, our Initial Portfolio and our Portfolio Investment 

Portfolio Companies  Together, our Asset SPVs and CIOP 

Portfolio Investment The investment held by the Brookfield REIT in CIOP, aggregating to 100% of the 

issued and paid-up equity share capital of CIOP 

Proforma Financial Statements  The unaudited proforma condensed combined financial information of the 

Brookfield REIT, comprising the special purpose unaudited proforma condensed 

combined balance sheet as at March 31, 2020 and the special purpose unaudited 

proforma condensed combined statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 

31, 2020, read with select explanatory notes thereto 

 

The Proforma Financial Statements have been prepared to reflect the probable 

impact of the acquisition of either and both of the Call Option SPVs by the 

Brookfield REIT. Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

the basis of preparation described in Note 2 to the proforma financial statements 

Pro Forma Portfolio Together, our Initial Portfolio and the Call Option Properties  

Projections Projections of income from operating lease rentals, revenue from operations, net 

operating income, earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization, cash 

flows from operating activities, net distributable cash flows and underlying 

assumptions of the Brookfield REIT for Financial Years ending March 31, 2021, 

2022 and 2023 as described in Note 1 of the basis and notes to preparation under 

projection section. For further details, see ñProjectionsò beginning on page 272 

Real Estate Assets Properties held by a REIT, on a freehold or leasehold basis, whether directly or 

through a Holdco and/ or a special purpose vehicle  

REIT Distribution  Declaration and distribution of at least 90% of the NDCF of the Brookfield REIT as 

distributions to our Unitholders, in accordance with the REIT Regulations and the 

Distribution Policy 

REIT Management Fees Fees payable to our Manager by the Brookfield REIT in consideration for services 

rendered by our Manager pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement 

REIT Of fer Committee The REIT Offer committee of our Board constituted to facilitate the process of the 

Offer 

ROFO Agreements Right of first offer agreements each dated [ǒ] entered into by the Brookfield REIT 

(acting through the Trustee) and our Manager with each of the ROFO Companies 

and their respective shareholders and debenture holders 

ROFO Companies  Vrihis Properties Private Limited, Equinox Business Parks Private Limited and Mars 

Hotels and Resorts Private Limited 

ROFO Properties Powai Business District (owned by Vrihis), Equinox, Units in Godrej BKC (owned 

by Vrihis) and Waterstones 

SDPL Noida Seaview Developers Private Limited 

Selling Unitholders Collectively, 

a) BSREP V; 

b) BSREP II India; 

c) Kairos; 

d) BSREP India Office III; and 

e) BSREP India Holdings  

Share Acquisition Agreements The agreements, each dated [ǒ], to be entered into by the Brookfield REIT (acting 

through the Trustee) and our Manager with each of our Portfolio Companies and 

their respective shareholders and debenture holders, being certain members of our 

Sponsor Group (including our Sponsor)  
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Term Description 

Shareholder Debt Debt to be provided by the Brookfield REIT to our Asset SPVs for the partial or full 

repayment or pre-payment of the existing indebtedness of our Asset SPVs and for 

general purposes 

Shareholder Debt Documentation Documentation proposed to be entered into between the Brookfield REIT and our 

Asset SPVs, with respect to the Shareholder Debt 

Special Purpose Condensed 

Financial Statements 

The special purpose condensed financial statements of the Call Option SPVs for the 

Financial Years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, prepared in accordance with 

the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the respective special purpose condensed 

financial statements of the Call Option SPVs, which are annexed to the Proforma 

Financial Statements 

Sponsor Group Sponsor group as defined under Regulation 2(1)(zta) of the REIT Regulations. For 

a list of the entities forming part of our Sponsor Group, see ñBackground of the 

Brookfield REIT ï Parties to the Brookfield REIT - Our Sponsor Groupò beginning 

on page 73 

SPPL Noida Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited 

Stakeholdersô Relationship 

Committee 

The stakeholdersô relationship committee of our Board 

Summary Valuation Report Summary valuation report dated September 26, 2020 issued by the Valuer in relation 

to the Brookfield REIT, as included in this Draft Offer Document 

Trade-Mark Sublicense 

Agreement  

Agreement dated September 26, 2020 entered into between the Brookfield REIT 

(acting through our Manager), our Manager, the Portfolio Companies and 

Brookfield Asset Management Holdings SRL  

Trust Deed The trust deed dated July 17, 2020 entered into between our Manager (solely as the 

settlor, on behalf of our Sponsor), our Sponsor and the Trustee 

Trust Fund  The aggregate of the Initial Contribution, Capital Contributions and any additions, 

accretions (including accretions arising as result of revaluation/ fair valuation of the 

assets of the Brookfield REIT or investments) or reductions to the Brookfield REIT 

and shall include securities, investments (including the investments) and properties 

of any kind whatsoever (including the Real Estate Assets) to which the same may 

be converted or varied from time to time, and any unutilised portion of any reserves/ 

surplus in the income and expenditure account 

Trustee Axis Trustee Services Limited 

Unitholders Any person or entity who holds Units of the Brookfield REIT 

Units An undivided beneficial interest in the Brookfield REIT, and such Units together 

represent the entire beneficial interest in the Brookfield REIT 

Valuation Report Full valuation report dated September 26, 2020 issued by the Valuer with respect to 

the Brookfield REIT 

Valuer Shubhendu Saha, MRICS, registered as a valuer with IBBI for the asset class óLand 

and Buildingô under the provisions of the Companies (Registered Valuers and 

Valuation) Rules 

Vrihis   Vrihis Properties Private Limited 

 

Offer Related Terms  

Term Description 

Acknowledgement Slip The slip or document issued by the Designated Intermediary to a Bidder as proof of 

registration of the Bid cum Application Form 

Allocated/ Allocation Following the determination of the Offer Price by our Manager and the Selling 

Unitholders in consultation with the Lead Managers, the allocation of Units to 

Bidder on the basis of the Application Form submitted by Bidder 

Allot/ Allotment/ Allotted  Unless the context otherwise requires, the issue, transfer and allotment of Units to 

be issued and transferred pursuant to the Offer  

Allotment Advice Note, advice or intimation of Allotment sent to the successful Bidders who have 

been or are to be Allotted Units after the Basis of Allotment has been approved by 

the Designated Stock Exchange 

Allottees The successful Bidders to whom Units are Allotted 

Ambit  Ambit Private Limited 

Anchor Investor An Institutional Investor, applying under the Anchor Investor Portion in accordance 

with the requirements specified in the REIT Regulations and the SEBI Guidelines 

in terms of the Offer Document 

Anchor Investor Allocation Price Price at which Units will be allocated to Anchor Investors in terms of the Offer 

Document, decided by our Manager and the Selling Unitholders in consultation with 

the Lead Managers 
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Term Description 

Anchor Investor Application 

Form 

The form used by an Anchor Investor to make a Bid in the Anchor Investor Portion 

and which will be considered as an application for Allotment in terms of the Offer 

Document and the Final Offer Document 

Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer 

Period 

One Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening Date, on which Bids by Anchor 

Investors are to be submitted and allocation to Anchor Investors shall be completed 

Anchor Investor Offer Price Final price at which Units will be Allotted to Anchor Investors in terms of the Offer 

Document and the Final Offer Document, which price will be equal to or higher than 

the Offer Price but not higher than the Cap Price. The Anchor Investor Offer Price 

will  be decided by our Manager and the Selling Unitholders in consultation with the 

Lead Managers 

Anchor Investor Portion Up to 60% of the Institutional Investor Portion which may be allocated to Anchor 

Investors by our Manager and the Selling Unitholders in consultation with the Lead 

Managers on a discretionary basis 

Application Supported by 

Blocked Amount or ASBA 

An application, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders to make a 

Bid by authorising a SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the ASBA Account 

ASBA Account A bank account maintained with a SCSB and specified in the ASBA Form for 

blocking the Bid Amount mentioned in the ASBA Form 

ASBA Bid A Bid made by an ASBA Bidder including all revisions and modifications thereto 

as permitted under the REIT Regulations and SEBI Guidelines 

ASBA Bidder All Bidders other than Anchor Investors and Strategic Investors 

ASBA Form An application form, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders which 

will be considered as the application for Allotment in terms of the Offer Document 

and the Final Offer Document 

Axis  Axis Capital Limited 

Basis of Allotment The basis on which Units will be Allotted to successful Bidders through the Offer 

and which is described in ñOffer Procedureò beginning on page 325 

Bankers to the Offer Collectively, the Escrow Collection Bank(s), Public Offer Account Bank(s) and 

Refund Bank(s) 

Bid Amount The highest value of optional Bids indicated in the Bid cum Application Form and 

payable by the Bidder or blocked in the ASBA Account of the ASBA Bidder or the 

amount payable by any Strategic Investors, as the case may be, upon submission of 

the Bid in the Offer  

Bid cum Application Form The Anchor Investor Application Form or the ASBA Form, as the context requires 

Bid Lot  [ǒ] Units and [ǒ] Units thereafter 

Bid(s) An indication to make an offer during the Bid/ Offer Period by an ASBA Bidder 

pursuant to submission of the ASBA Form, or during the Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer 

Period by an Anchor Investor pursuant to submission of the Anchor Investor 

Application Form, to subscribe to or purchase Units at a price within the Price Band, 

including all revisions and modifications thereto as permitted and including any 

participation by Strategic Investors under the REIT Regulations and SEBI 

Guidelines. The term ñBiddingò shall be construed accordingly 

Bid/ Offer Closing Date Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors and Strategic 

Investors, the date after which the Designated Intermediaries will not accept any 

Bids, which will be published in all editions of [ǒ] (a widely circulated English 

national daily newspaper) and all editions of [ǒ] (a widely circulated Hindi national 

daily newspaper, Hindi also being the regional language of the place where the 

principal place of business of the Brookfield REIT is located) 

Bid/ Offer Opening Date Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors and Strategic 

Investors, the date on which the Designated Intermediaries shall start accepting Bids, 

which will be published in all editions of [ǒ] (a widely circulated English national 

daily newspaper) and all editions of [ǒ] (a widely circulated Hindi national daily 

newspaper, Hindi also being the regional language of the place where the principal 

place of business of the Brookfield REIT is located)  

Bid/ Offer Period The period between the Bid/ Offer Opening Date and the Bid/ Offer Closing Date, 

inclusive of both days, during which prospective Bidders can submit their Bids, 

including any revisions thereof 

Bidder Any prospective investor who makes a Bid pursuant to the terms of the Offer 

Document and the Bid cum Application Form and for a Strategic Investor in terms 

of the Strategic Investor Unit Subscription Agreement with such investor and unless 

otherwise stated or implied, includes an Anchor Investor and a Strategic Investor 

Bidding Centers Centers at which the Designated Intermediaries shall accept ASBA Forms, i.e., 

Designated SCSB Branches for SCSBs, Specified Locations for Syndicate, Broker 

Centers for Registered Brokers, Designated RTA Locations for RTAs and 

Designated CDP Locations for CDPs 
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Term Description 

Body/ies Corporate Any body corporate as defined in Regulation 2(1)(d) of the REIT Regulations 

BofA Securities  DSP Merrill Lynch Limited 

Book Building Process The book building process, as provided under the REIT Regulations and SEBI 

Guidelines 

Book Running Lead Managers 

or BRLMs  

Ambit, Axis, IIFL Securities, JM, J.P. Morgan, Kotak and SBICAPS  

Broker Centers Broker centers notified by the Stock Exchanges where Bidders can submit the ASBA 

Forms to a Registered Broker. The details of such Broker Centers, along with the 

names and contact details of the Registered Brokers are available on the websites of 

the respective Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com) 

CAN or Confirmation of 

Allocation Note 

Note or advice to Anchor Investors confirming Allocation of Units to such Investors 

after the Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period and Strategic Investors, as applicable 

Cap Price The higher end of the Price Band, subject to any revision thereto being [ǒ] per Unit, 

above which the Offer Price and the Anchor Investor Offer Price will not be finalized 

and above which no Bids will be accepted 

Citigroup  Citigroup Global Markets India Private Limited 

Client ID  Client identification number maintained with one of the Depositories in relation to 

a demat account 

Closing Date The date on which Allotment of Units pursuant to the Offer is expected to be made, 

i.e. on or about [ǒ] 

Collecting Depository 

Participant or CDP 

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, registered with SEBI 

and who is eligible to procure Bids at the Designated CDP Locations in terms of 

circular no. CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 issued by 

SEBI 

Cut-off Price The Offer Price of our Units to be Allocated pursuant to the Offer, which shall be 

finalized by our Manager and the Selling Unitholders in consultation with the Lead 

Managers 

Demographic Details Details of the Bidders including the Bidderôs address, name of the Bidderôs father/ 

husband, investor status, PAN, occupation and bank account details 

Designated CDP Locations Such locations of the CDPs where Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms. The details 

of such Designated CDP Locations, along with names and contact details of the 

CDPs eligible to accept Bid cum Application Forms are available on the respective 

websites of the Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com) 

Designated Date The date on which funds are transferred from the Escrow Accounts and the amounts 

blocked by the SCSBs are transferred from the ASBA Accounts, as the case may be, 

to the Public Offer Account(s) or the Refund Accounts, as appropriate 

Designated Intermediaries Syndicate, sub-syndicate/ members, SCSBs, Registered Brokers, CDPs and RTAs, 

who are authorized to collect ASBA Forms from the ASBA Bidders, with respect to 

the Offer  

Designated RTA Locations Such locations of the RTAs where Bidders can submit ASBA Forms to RTAs. The 

details of such Designated RTA Locations, along with names and contact details of 

the RTAs eligible to accept Bid cum Application Forms are available on the 

respective websites of the Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and 

www.nseindia.com) 

Designated SCSB Branches Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the ASBA Forms, a list of which is 

available on the website of SEBI at www.sebi.gov.in, as updated from time to time 

Designated Stock Exchange [ǒ] 

Draft Offer Document This Draft Offer Document dated September 29, 2020 issued in accordance with the 

REIT Regulations and the SEBI Guidelines, which does not contain complete 

particulars of the Offer including the price at which our Units will be Allotted and 

the size of the Offer, including any addenda or corrigenda thereto 

Eligible NRI(s) NRI(s) from jurisdictions outside India where it is not unlawful to make an offer or 

invitation with respect to the Offer and in relation to whom the ASBA Form and the 

Offer Document will constitute an invitation to subscribe to our Units 

Escrow Accounts óNo-lienô and ónon-interest bearingô accounts opened with the Escrow Collection 

Bank(s) and in whose favour Anchor Investors and Strategic Investors will transfer 

money through direct credit/NEFT/NECS/RTGS in respect of the Bid Amount when 

submitting a Bid 

Escrow Agreement Agreement dated [ǒ], entered into among the Brookfield REIT (acting through the 

Trustee), our Sponsor, our Manager, the Registrar to the Offer, the Bankers to the 

Offer, the Syndicate Members and the Lead Managers  

Escrow Collection Bank(s)  The banks which are clearing members and registered with SEBI under the BTI 

Regulations, with whom the Escrow Account(s) have been opened and in this case 

being [ǒ] 
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Term Description 

Final Offer Document The Final Offer Document to be filed with SEBI and the Stock Exchanges after the 

Pricing Date in accordance with the REIT Regulations and the SEBI Guidelines 

containing, among other things, the Offer Price that is determined at the end of the 

Book Building Process, the size of the Offer and certain other information, including 

any addenda or corrigenda thereto 

First Bidder  Bidder whose name shall be mentioned first in the Bid cum Application Form or the 

Revision Form and in case of joint Bids, whose name shall also appear as the first 

holder of the beneficiary account held in joint names 

Floor Price The lower end of the Price Band, subject to any revision thereto, in this case being 

[ǒ] at or above which the Offer Price and the Anchor Investor Offer Price and the 

Strategic Investor Offer Price will be finalized and below which no Bids will be 

accepted 

Fresh Issue The issuance of up to [ǒ] Units aggregating up to 38,000 million by the Brookfield 

REIT  

Global Coordinators and Book 

Running Lead Managers or 

GCBRLMs 

Morgan Stanley, BofA Securities, Citigroup and HSBC 

HSBC HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited 

IIFL  Securities IIFL Securities Limited 

Institutional Investor Portion  Portion of the Offer (including the Anchor Investor Portion) being not more than 

75% of the Offer, comprising not more than [ǒ] Units which shall be available for 

allocation to Institutional Investors (including Anchor Investors), subject to valid 

Bids being received at or above the Offer Price 

Institutional Investors Institutional Investor means (i) a Qualified Institutional Buyer, or (ii) a family trust 

or intermediaries registered with SEBI, with net-worth of more than 5,000 million 

as per the last audited financial statements 

JM JM Financial Limited 

J.P. Morgan J.P. Morgan India Private Limited 

Kotak  Kotak Mahindra Capital Company Limited 

Lead Managers  Together, the GCBRLMs and the BRLMs 

Listing Agreement Listing agreement to be entered into with the Stock Exchanges by our Manager or 

the Trustee (on behalf of the Brookfield REIT), in line with the format as specified 

under the Securities and Exchange Board of India circular number CIR/ 

CFD/CMD/6/2015 dated October 13, 2015 on ñFormat of uniform Listing 

Agreementò 

Listing Date The date on which our Units will be listed on the Stock Exchanges 

Minimum Bid Size 0.05 million, for Bidders other than Anchor Investors and Strategic Investors, 100 

million for Anchor Investors and 5% of the total Offer size (either jointly or 

severally) for Strategic Investors 

Morgan Stanley Morgan Stanley India Company Private Limited 

Mutual Funds Mutual funds registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of 

India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 

Net Proceeds Proceeds of the Offer less the Brookfield REITôs share of the Offer expenses 

Non-Institutional Investors All Bidders, that are not QIBs (including Anchor Investors) and Strategic Investors, 

who have Bid for Units in the Offer 

Non-Institutional Investor 

Portion 

Portion of the Offer being not less than 25% of the Offer, comprising at least [ǒ] 

Units, which shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Non-

Institutional Investors, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer 

Price 

Offer  Initial public offer of up to [ǒ] Units comprising the Fresh Issue and the Offer for 

Sale 

Offer Agreement Agreement dated September 29, 2020 entered into among the Trustee, our Sponsor, 

our Manager, the Selling Unitholders and the Lead Managers 

Offer Document The Offer Document to be issued in accordance with the provisions of the REIT 

Regulations and the SEBI Guidelines, which will not have complete particulars of 

the Price Band and the Offer Price at which our Units will be offered and the size of 

the Fresh Issue, including any addenda or corrigenda. The Offer Document will be 

filed with SEBI and the Stock Exchanges at least five Working Days prior to the 

Bid/ Offer Opening Date and shall become the Final Offer Document which shall be 

filed with SEBI and the Stock Exchanges after the Pricing Date 

Offer for Sale Offer for Sale of up to [ǒ] Units, aggregating up to [ǒ] million, by the Selling 

Unitholders in terms of the Offer Document 

Offer Price [ǒ] per Unit, being the final price at which Units will be Allotted to successful 

Bidders, other than Anchor Investors and Strategic Investors, in terms of the Offer 
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Term Description 

Document. The Offer Price will be decided by our Manager and the Selling 

Unitholders in consultation with the Lead Managers on the Pricing Date 

Offer Proceeds The gross proceeds of the Offer pursuant to the Fresh Issue and the Offer for Sale 

Offer Size The Offer, aggregating up to [ǒ] million 

Pay-in Date The last date specified in the CAN for payment of application monies by the Anchor 

Investors and Strategic Investors, which shall be no later than two Working Days 

from the Bid/ Offer Closing Date/ Pricing Date, as applicable 

Price Band Price band between the Floor Price and the Cap Price. The Price Band will be 

decided by our Manager and the Selling Unitholders in consultation with the Lead 

Managers, and will be advertised at least two Working Days prior to the Bid/ Offer 

Opening Date, on the websites of the Brookfield REIT, our Sponsor and our 

Manager, and shall be made available to the Stock Exchanges for the purpose of 

uploading on their respective websites 

Pricing Date The date on which our Manager and the Selling Unitholders in consultation with the 

Lead Managers finalises the Offer Price 

Public Offer Account(s) óNo-lienô and ónon-interest bearingô bank account(s) opened to receive monies from 

the Escrow Account(s) and from the ASBA Accounts on the Designated Date 

Public Offer Account(s) Bank The banks which are clearing members and registered with SEBI under the BTI 

Regulations, with whom the Public Offer Account has been opened and in this case 

being [ǒ] 

Qualified Institutional Buyers or 

QIB(s) 

Qualified institutional buyers as defined in Regulation 2(l)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR 

Regulations 

Refund Account(s) óNo-lienô and ónon-interest bearingô account(s) opened with the Refund Bank(s), 

from which refunds, if any of the whole or part of the Bid Amount to Anchor 

Investors shall be made 

Refund Bank(s) The banks which are clearing members and registered with SEBI under the BTI 

Regulations with whom the Refund Account has been opened and in this case being 

[ǒ]  

Registered Brokers Stock brokers registered with the stock exchanges having nationwide terminals, 

other than the Lead Managers and the Syndicate Members, eligible to procure Bids 

in terms of Circular No. CIR/CFD/14/2012 dated October 4, 2012 issued by SEBI 

Registrar Agreement The agreement dated September 26, 2020 entered into among the Trustee (on behalf 

of the Brookfield REIT), the Trustee, our Manager, the Selling Unitholders and the 

Registrar to the Offer 

Registrar and Share Transfer 

Agents or RTA 

Registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure 

RTAs Bids at the Designated RTA Locations in terms of circular no. 

CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 issued by SEBI 

Registrar to the Offer Link Intime India Private Limited  

Revision Form Form used by the Bidders to modify the quantity of Units or the Bid Amount in any 

of their ASBA Forms or any previous Revision Forms. Bidders are not allowed to 

withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms of number of Units or the Bid Amount) at 

any stage. Bidders are permitted to make upward revisions in their Bids 

SBICAPS SBI Capital Markets Limited 

Self-Certified Syndicate Bank(s) 

or SCSB(s) 

Banks registered with SEBI, offering services in relation to ASBA, a list of which 

is available on the website of SEBI at www.sebi.gov.in, as updated from time to time 

Specified Locations Bidding centres where the Syndicate shall accept ASBA Forms from Bidders 

Strategic Investors Strategic investors as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ztb) of the REIT Regulations 

Strategic Investor Allocation 

Price 

Price at which Units will be Allocated to Strategic Investors in terms of the Offer 

Document and the relevant Strategic Investor Unit Subscription Agreement, decided 

by our Manager and the Selling Unitholders, in consultation with the Lead Managers 

Strategic Investor Offer Price Final price at which Units will be Allotted to Strategic Investors in terms of the Offer 

Document and the Final Offer Document, which price will be equal to or higher than 

the Offer Price. 

The Strategic Investor Offer Price will be decided by our Manager in consultation 

with the Selling Unitholders and the Lead Managers 

Strategic Investor Unit 

Subscription Agreement 

Strategic Investor Unit Subscription Agreements as described in ñThe Offerò 

beginning on page 317 

Syndicate Agreement The agreement dated [ǒ], entered into among the Brookfield REIT (acting through 

the Trustee), our Manager, our Sponsor, the Selling Unitholders, the Lead Managers 

and the Syndicate Members 

Syndicate Members Intermediaries, registered with SEBI who are permitted to carry out activities as an 

underwriter, being, [ǒ] 

Syndicate/ Members of the 

Syndicate 

The Lead Managers and the Syndicate Members 
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Term Description 

Underwriters  [ǒ] 

Underwriting Agreement Agreement dated [ǒ], entered into between the Trustee, the Underwriters, our 

Manager, the Selling Unitholders and our Sponsor  

Unit Escrow Agent [ǒ] 

Unit Escrow Agreement The agreement to be entered into among the Brookfield REIT (acting through the 

Trustee), our Manager, our Sponsor, the shareholders of our Asset SPVs (including 

the Selling Unitholders) and the Unit Escrow Agent in relation to, inter alia, the 

deposit of our Units issued pursuant to the Formation Transactions in connection 

with the Offer for Sale 

Working Day Working Day, with reference to (a) announcement of Price Band; and (b) Bid/ Offer 

Period, shall mean all days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, on 

which commercial banks in Mumbai are open for business; and (c) the time period 

between the Bid/ Offer Closing Date and the listing of our Units on the Stock 

Exchanges, shall mean all trading days of Stock Exchanges, excluding Sundays and 

bank holidays, as per the SEBI Circular SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL/CIR/P/2016/26 dated 

January 21, 2016 

 

Technical, Industry related and other terms  

Term Description 

Adjusted EBITDA  Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure that takes its earnings and adds back 

interest expenses, taxes, and depreciation charges, plus exceptional items to the 

metric  

Accenture Accenture Solutions Private Limited 

Amazon Amazon Development Centre India Private Limited 

Aricent  Aricent Technologies (Holding) Limited 

Bank of America Continuum BA Continuum India Private Limited 

Barclays Barclays Global Service Centre Private Limited 

Cognizant Cognizant Technology Solutions India Private Limited 

Committed Occupancy (Occupied Area) + (Completed Area under Letters of Intent) 
in% 

Completed Area 
 

Completed Area The area of a property for which occupancy certificate has been received 

CPI Consumer price index 

C&WI/ Independent Industry 

Expert 

Cushman & Wakefield (India) Private Limited 

EPS Earnings per share 

Floor Space Index/ FSI The quotient of the ratio of the combined gross covered area on all floors, excepting 

areas specifically exempted under the relevant laws and the REIT Regulations to the 

total area of the plot 

Future Development Potential The area of a property for which the master plan for development has been obtained 

or applied for, or which has been calculated on the basis of FSI available as per the 

local regulatory norms, but where the internal development plans are yet to be 

finalized and the applications for requisite approvals to commence construction are 

yet to be made 

GCCs Global capability centers  

GICs Global in-house centres 

Grade A Grade-A means a development type whose tenant profile includes prominent 

multinational corporations. The development should also include adequate ceiling 

height, 24x7 power back-up, supply of telephone lines, infrastructure for access to 

internet, central air-conditioning, spacious lobbies, circulation areas, good lift 

services, sufficient parking facilities and should have centralized building 

management and security systems 

Gross Contracted Rentals Gross contracted rentals is the sum of Warm Shell Rentals from Occupied Area that 

is expected to be received from the tenants pursuant to the agreements entered into 

with them 

GVA Gross value added 

IGBC Indian Green Building Council 

Industry Report  Report titled ñIndia Commercial Real Estate Overviewò dated September 22, 2020 

issued by C&WI 

Landis + Gyr Landis + Gyr Limited 

Leasable Area The total area of a property that can be occupied and commonly used, or assigned to 

a tenant for the purpose of determining a tenantôs rental obligation 
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Term Description 

Leasing Rent Warm Shell Rent of the asset that can be expected from new leasing to a tenant as 

on a particular date and does not include fit-out, car parking income and maintenance 

services income 

Letters of Intent Non-binding agreements with tenants to lease space 

Market Value The market value as determined by the Valuer as of March 31, 2020 and as included 

in the Summary Valuation Report 

NDCF Net distributable cash flows (non-GAAP measure) 

Occupied Area  Completed Area for which lease agreements have been signed with tenants 

RBS RBS Services India Private Limited 

Sapient  Publicis Sapient 

STEM Science, technology, engineering and medicine 

Steria  Sopra Steria 

Tata Consultancy Services Tata Consultancy Services Ltd. 

Under Construction Area The area of a property for which the master plan for development has been obtained, 

internal development plans have been finalised and requisite approvals for the 

commencement of construction required under law have been applied for, 

construction has commenced and the occupancy certificate is yet to be received 

WALE  Weighted Average Lease Expiry based on area. Calculated assuming tenants 

exercise all their renewal options post expiry of their initial lock-in period 

Warm Shell Rent Rental income contracted from the leasing of Occupied Area and does not include 

fit -out and car parking income 

Wipro  Wipro HR Services India Private Limited 

 

Abbreviations  

Term Description 

AIF  Alternative Investment Fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under the SEBI 

AIF Regulations 

Air Act  Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act 1981 

BoA Board of approvals established under the SEZ Act 

BSE BSE Limited 

BTI Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Bankers to an Issue) Regulations, 1994 

CCD Compulsorily convertible debentures  

CCI  Competition Commission of India 

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited 

Companies Act Companies Act, 2013, to the extent in force pursuant to the notification of the 

Notified Sections along with the relevant rules, clarifications and modifications 

made therein  

Companies Act, 1956 Companies Act, 1956 (without reference to the provisions thereof that have ceased 

to have effect upon the notification of the Notified Sections) along with the relevant 

rules made therein 

Companies (Registered Valuers 

and Valuation) Rules 

Companies (Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017  

Competition Act Competition Act, 2002 

Depository A depository registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India 

(Depositories and Participant) Regulations, 1996 

Depositories Act Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participant) Regulations, 

1996 

Depository Participant or DP A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act 

DIN Director identification number 

DP ID Depository participantôs identification 

DoI Directorate of Industries, Mumbai 

EBITDA  Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (non-GAAP measure) 

ESG Environmental, social and governance  

FAR Floor area ratio  

FBIL  Financial Benchmark India Private Limited 

FCNR Account Foreign currency non-resident account 

FDI Foreign direct investment 

FDI Policy The consolidated FDI Policy, effective from August 28, 2017, issued by the 

Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and 

Industry, Government of India, and any modifications thereto or substitutions 

thereof, issued from time to time 

FEMA Rules Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Rules, 2019 
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Term Description 

Financial Year or Fiscal or FY Period of 12 months period ended March 31 of that particular year, unless otherwise 

stated 

FPI Foreign Portfolio Investor as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations 

FVCI  Foreign Venture Capital Investors as defined and registered under the Securities and 

Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors) Regulations, 2000 

HUDA Haryana Urban Development Authority  

HUF Hindu undivided family 

IBBI  Insolvency and Bankruptcy Board of India 

ICAI  Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards referred to in the Companies Act and notified under 

Section 133 of the Companies Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2015, notified on February 19, 2015 by the MCA, including any 

amendments or modifications thereto 

Indian GAAP  Previously generally accepted accounting principles in India that were notified by 

the MCA under the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, and amended 

pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Companies Act 

Insurance Companies Companies registered as insurance companies with the IRDAI 

IRDAI  Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India 

IT  Information technology  

ITES Information technology enabled services 

IT Park  Information Technology Park 

MCA  Ministry of Corporate Affairs 

MCLR  Marginal cost of funds based lending rate 

MLCP  Multi  level car parking  

MoEF&CC  Ministry of Environment, Forests and Climate Change 

MPCB Maharashtra Pollution Control Board 

MRICS Member of Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 

NASDAQ National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations  

NBFC Non-banking financial company 

NCLT  National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai Bench 

NEFT National electronic funds transfer 

NOC No objection certificate  

Noida New Okhla Industrial Development Area 

Notified Sections The sections of the Companies Act that have been notified by the MCA and are 

currently in effect 

Non-Resident Indian/ Non-

Resident 

An individual resident outside India who is a citizen or is an óoverseas citizen of 

Indiaô cardholder within the meaning of Section 7A of the Citizenship Act, 1955 and 

includes a Non-Resident Indian, FVCIs and FPIs 

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited 

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited 

NYSE New York Stock Exchange 

OCB A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or indirectly 

to the extent of at least 60% by NRIs including overseas trusts, in which not less 

than 60% of beneficial interest is irrevocably held by NRIs directly or indirectly and 

which was in existence on October 3, 2003 and immediately before such date had 

taken benefits under the general permission granted to OCBs under FEMA.  

OCBs are not allowed to invest in the Offer 

ODI  Overseas direct investment  

PAN Permanent account number 

PLR Prime lending rate 

Psf Per square feet 

RBI Reserve Bank of India 

Regulation S Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act 

REIT  Real estate investment trust 

REIT Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) 

Regulations, 2014 

RICS The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 

RoC Registrar of Companies  

ROFO Right of first offer 

Rs./ Rupees/ INR/   Indian rupees 

Rule 144A Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act 

SEBI The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
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Term Description 

SEBI Act The Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 

SEBI Guidelines Circular dated December 19, 2016 on Guidelines for public issue of units of REITs 

issued by SEBI as amended by circular dated January 15, 2019, circular dated 

December 26, 2016 on Disclosure of Financial Information in Offer Document for 

REITs issued by SEBI, circular dated December 29, 2016 on Continuous 

Disclosures and Compliances by REITs issued by SEBI, circular dated January 18, 

2018 on participation by Strategic Investor(s) in InvITs and REITs issued by SEBI, 

Circular dated April 23, 2019 on Guidelines for determination of allotment and 

trading lot size for Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) and Infrastructure 

Investment Trusts (InvITs) and any other circulars, guidelines and clarifications 

issued by SEBI under the REIT Regulations, from time to time 

SEBI AIF Regulations The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investments Funds) 

Regulations, 2012 

SEBI ICDR Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2018 

SEBI Insider Trading 

Regulations 

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 

Regulations, 2015 

SEBI FPI Regulations The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) 

Regulations, 2019 

SEBI Listing Regulations The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 

SEBI VCF Regulations The erstwhile Securities and Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Funds) 

Regulations, 1996 

U.S. Securities Exchange Act U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended  

U.S. Securities Act U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended 

SEC United States Securities and Exchange Commission 

SEZ Special Economic Zone 

SEZ Act Special Economic Zones Act, 2005 

SEZ Rules Special Economic Zone Rules, 2006  

SPV(s) Special purpose vehicle(s)  

Stock Exchanges Collectively, BSE and NSE 

TDS Tax deducted at source 

TSX The Toronto Stock Exchange 

USD/ US$ United States Dollar 

Water Act  Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the words and expressions not defined herein, however, used within the ñFinancial 

Information of the Brookfield REITò, ñProforma Financial Informationò, ñProjectionsò, ñIndustry Overviewò 

ñTaxationò and ñLegal Proceedingsò beginning on pages 411, 479, 272, 76, 374 and 367, respectively, shall 

have the meaning ascribed to such terms in these respective sections. 
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL DATA AND OTHER IN FORMATION  

Certain Conventions 

All references in this Draft Offer Document to ñIndiaò are to the Republic of India and its territories and 

possessions and all references herein to the ñGovernmentò, ñIndian Governmentò, ñGoIò, ñCentral Governmentò 

or the ñState Governmentò are to the Government of India or the relevant state government, as applicable. 

All references herein to (i) ñUSAò, ñU.S.ò, ñUnited Statesò and ñUSò are to the United States of America; and (ii) 

ñSingaporeò is to the Republic of Singapore. 

Unless stated otherwise, all references to page numbers in this Draft Offer Document are to the page numbers of 

this Draft Offer Document. 

Financial Data  

The financial year for the Brookfield REIT and our Manager commences on April 1 of the immediately preceding 

calendar year and ends on March 31 of that particular calendar year and the financial year for our Sponsor 

commences on January 1 and ends on December 31 of the same calendar year. Accordingly, all references to a 

particular financial year (unless stated otherwise or with respect to our Sponsor) are to the 12 month period 

commencing on April 1 of the immediately preceding calendar year and ending on March 31 of that particular 

calendar year.  

Historically, the audited standalone financial statements for certain of our Portfolio Companies, prepared in 

accordance with Indian GAAP and the Companies Act, have been audited by each of their respective statutory 

auditors. However, for the purposes of this Draft Offer Document, the Condensed Combined Financial Statements, 

have been prepared in accordance with Ind AS and the provisions of the REIT Regulations and the SEBI 

Guidelines, for the purposes of the Offer, and in accordance with the basis of preparation as set out in óNotes to 

Accounts ï Note 2.1 Basis of preparation of the Condensed Combined Financial Statementsô to the Condensed 

Combined Financial Statements. The date of transition for the purpose of Ind AS for the Condensed Combined 

Financial Statements is determined as April 1, 2017.  

Unless stated otherwise, the financial information included in this Draft Offer Document with respect to the 

Brookfield REIT is derived from the Condensed Combined Financial Statements. For details, see ñFinancial 

Information of the Brookfield REITò beginning on page 411.  

In addition, the Proforma Financial Statements prepared to reflect the probable impact of the acquisition of either 

or both of the Call Option SPVs by the Brookfield REIT, as if the acquisition had taken place on April 1, 2019, 

have also been included in this Draft Offer Document. The Proforma Financial Statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the basis of preparation described in Note 2 of the Proforma Financial Statements. For details, 

see ñProforma Financial Informationò beginning on page 479. Further, the Special Purpose Condensed Financial 

Statements of the Call Option SPVs, prepared in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the 

respective special purpose condensed financial statements of the Call Option SPVs, have also been included in 

this Draft Offer Document. For details, see ñAnnexure A ï Proforma Financial Informationò beginning on page 

490. 

Further, this Draft Offer Document includes Projections in relation to the projections of revenues from operations 

and cash flows from operating activities and underlying assumptions of the Brookfield REIT for Financial Years 

ending March 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023. For details, see ñProjectionsò beginning on page 272. 

This Draft Offer Document also includes summary financial statements of our Sponsor, as of and for the three 

years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, derived from the standalone audited financial statements of our 

Sponsor, prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and the IFRS. For details, see 

ñFinancial Information of our Sponsorò beginning on page 473. Our Manager was incorporated as a private 

limited company on March 21, 2018 and accordingly was not required to prepare audited financial statements for 

the Financial Year ended March 31, 2018. The summary financial statements of our Manager for the Financial 

Year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, derived from the standalone audited financial statements of our Manager, 

prepared in accordance with Ind AS and the Companies Act, have been disclosed in this Draft Offer Document. 

For details, see ñFinancial Information of our Managerò beginning on page 476.  
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The degree to which the financial information included in this Draft Offer Document will provide meaningful 

information is entirely dependent on the readerôs level of familiarity with Indian accounting policies and practices, 

Companies Act, Indian GAAP, Ind AS, IFRS, the REIT Regulations and the SEBI Guidelines. Any reliance by 

prospective investors not familiar with the accounting policies and practices on the financial disclosures presented 

in this Draft Offer Document should accordingly be limited. 

In this Draft Offer Document, any discrepancies in any tabular representation between the total and the sums of 

the amounts stated are due to applicable rounding off. 

Certain Non-GAAP Financial Metrics 

The body of generally accepted accounting principles is commonly referred to as ñGAAPò. Our Manager believes 

that the presentation of certain non-GAAP measures provides additional useful information to prospective 

investors regarding the performance and trends related to the Brookfield REITôs results of operations and 

accordingly, our Manager believes that when non-GAAP financial information is viewed with GAAP and/ or Ind 

AS financial information, prospective investors are provided with a more meaningful understanding of the 

Brookfield REITôs ongoing operating performance and financial results. For such reason, this Draft Offer 

Document includes information regarding the Brookfield REITôs Net Distributable Cash Flow, NOI and NOI 

margin, EBITDA and EBITDA margin and certain other metrics based on or derived from such metrics. 

However, these financial measures are not measures determined based on GAAP, Ind AS or any other 

internationally accepted accounting principles, and prospective investors should not consider such items as an 

alternative to the historical financial results or other indicators of the Brookfield REITôs cash flow based on Ind 

AS or IFRS. The non-GAAP financial measures included herein, may not be directly comparable with metrics 

bearing similar names as presented by other entities due to differences in the way such non-GAAP financial 

measures are calculated. The non-GAAP financial information contained in this Draft Offering Document is not 

intended to comply with the requirements of the SEC and is or will not be subject to review by the SEC. Even 

though the non-GAAP financial measures are used by management to assess the financial position, financial 

results and liquidity of the Brookfield REIT and these types of measures are commonly used by investors, they 

have important limitations as analytical tools. For additional information, see ñManagementôs Discussion and 

Analysis of Factors Affecting the Financial Condition and Results of Operations ï Non Ind AS Measuresò 

beginning on page 262. 

Net Distributable Cash Flow (ñNDCFò) 

The Brookfield REIT presents NDCF in this Draft Offer Document. NDCF is calculated in the manner specified 

within ñDistributionò. NDCF is a significant performance metric, the framework for which is adopted by our 

Manager in line with the REIT Regulations and the SEBI Guidelines. Our Manager believes this metric serves as 

a useful indicator of our expected ability to provide a cash return on investment. NDCF is a supplemental measure 

of performance and is not a measurement of financial performance or liquidity under Ind AS, IFRS or any other 

internationally accepted accounting principles, and should not be considered as an alternative to net profit or any 

other performance measures derived in accordance with Ind AS, nor as an alternative to cash flow from operating 

activities as a measure of liquidity. In addition, NDCF is not a standardized term, hence, a direct comparison 

between companies/ REITs using this term may not be possible. For details see ñProjectionsò and ñDistributionò 

beginning on pages 272 and 313, respectively. 

Net Operating Income (ñNOIò)  

Our Manager calculates NOI as revenue from operations (which includes (i) income from operating lease rentals; 

(ii) income from maintenance services; (iii) property management fees; and (iv) sale of food and beverages) less 

direct operating expenses. Direct operating expenses include (i) property management fees; (ii) brokerage; (iii) 

facility usage charges; (iv) power and fuel; (v) lease rent; and (vi) cost of materials consumed; and (vii) a portion 

of repair and maintenance, legal and professional fees, insurance, rates and taxes and miscellaneous expenses, 

which are directly incurred in relation to the commercial properties of our respective Asset SPVs. For a detailed 

calculation, see ñSummary Financialsò and ñManagementôs Discussion and Analysis of the Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations ï Non Ind AS Measuresò beginning on pages 227 and 262. 

Our Manager uses NOI internally as a performance measure and believes it provides useful information to 

investors regarding our financial condition and results of operations because it provides a direct measure of the 

operating results of our business. We therefore consider NOl to be a meaningful supplemental financial measure 

of our performance when considered with the Condensed Combined Financial Statements determined in 
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accordance with Ind AS. However, NOI does not have a standardised meaning, nor is it a recognized measure 

under Ind AS or IFRS, and may not be comparable with measures with similar names presented by other 

companies/ REITs. NOI should not be considered by itself or as a substitute for comparable measures under Ind 

AS or IFRS or other measures of operating performance, liquidity or ability to pay dividends. Accordingly, there 

can be no assurance that our basis for computing this non-Ind AS measure is comparable with that of other 

companies/ REITs.  

Earnings before interest costs, taxes, depreciation and amortization 

EBITDA is computed by taking profit / (loss) and then adding back finance cost, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization. EBITDA is a supplemental measure of performance that is not required by, nor presented in 

accordance with, Ind AS or IFRS. EBITDA is not a measurement of financial performance or liquidity under Ind 

AS, IFRS or any other internationally accepted accounting principles, and should not be considered as an 

alternative to profit or any other performance measures derived in accordance with Ind AS, nor as an alternative 

to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. In addition, EBITDA is not a standardized term, 

hence, a direct comparison between companies/ REITs using this term may not be possible. EBITDA is presented 

because our Manager believes that it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties 

in evaluating companies/ REITs. For details, see ñManagementôs Discussion and Analysis of the Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations ï Non Ind AS Measuresò and ñProjectionsò beginning on pages 262 and 272. 

Currency and Units of Presentation  

In this Draft Offer Document, all references to (i) ñRupeesò or ñ ò or ñRs.ò or ñINRò are to Indian Rupees, the 

official currency of India; (ii)  ñUS$ò, ñU.S. Dollarò, ñUSDò or ñU.S. Dollarsò are to United States Dollars, the 

official currency of the United States; and (iii) ñSGDò or ñS$ò are to the Singapore Dollar, the official currency 

of Singapore. 

Except otherwise specified, this Draft Offer Document includes certain numerical information in ñmillionò or 

ñbillionò units. Wherein, one million represents 1,000,000 and one billion represents 1,000,000,000. However, 

where any figures that may have been sourced from third-party industry sources are expressed in denominations 

other than millions in their respective sources, such figures appear in this Draft Offer Document expressed in such 

denominations as provided in such respective sources. 

Areas have been represented in square feet and acres, where one acre is equal to 43,560 square feet. 

Industry and Market Data  

Unless stated otherwise, industry and market data used in this Draft Offer Document is a summary of and has 

been obtained or derived from report titled ñIndia Commercial Real Estate Overviewò dated September 22, 2020 

as issued by C&WI (the ñIndustry Reportò).  

Industry publications generally state that the information contained in such publications has been obtained from 

publicly available documents from various sources believed to be reliable but their accuracy and completeness 

are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. The data used in these sources may have been re-

classified for the purposes of this Draft Offer Document. Data from these sources may also not be comparable. 

Such data involves risks, uncertainties and numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on various 

factors, including those set out within ñRisk Factors ï This Draft Offer Document contains information from the 

industry report which have been commissioned by our Manager from C&WI in relation to the Offer. Our Manager 

cannot assure you that the statistical, financial and other industry information in the industry report is either 

complete or accurate.ò beginning on page 49. Although our Manager believes that the industry and market data 

used in this Draft Offer Document is reasonably reliable, it has not been independently verified by our Manager, 

our Sponsor, the Trustee or the Lead Managers, or any of their associates, affiliates or advisors. Accordingly, no 

investment decisions should be solely based on such information or data included herein. 

Considering that there are no standard methodologies for compiling data with respect to the industry in which the 

Brookfield REIT operates, the methodologies and assumptions adopted may widely vary among different industry 

sources and accordingly, the extent to which the market and industry data used in this Draft Offer Document is 

meaningful depends on the readerôs familiarity with and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling 

such data.  
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Valuation data  

Unless stated otherwise, the Summary Valuation Report included in this Draft Offer Document is a summary of 

the Valuation Report issued by the Valuer which has been prepared by drawing inputs from the macro market 

data provided by C&WI, the Independent Industry Expert, in the Industry Report. C&WI has also independently 

reviewed the assumptions and the methodologies used for the valuation, in accordance with the IVS 104 of the 

IVSC International Valuation Standards issued on July 31, 2019, effective from January 31, 2020, and issued the 

Independent Property Consultant Report, accordingly. For additional details, see ñSummary Valuation Reportò, 

ñIndustry Overviewò and ñIndependent Property Consultant Reportò beginning on pages 633, 76 and 661, 

respectively. 

The valuation of our Initial Portfolio has been carried out in accordance with provisions of the REIT Regulations, 

including Regulation 21 and Schedule V of the REIT Regulations. To arrive at a market valuation of our Initial 

Portfolio, given the prevalent market conditions, the Valuer has carried out an impartial and detailed assessment 

in relation to our Initial Portfolio on the basis of its independent professional judgment and has relied on the macro 

market related information provided by the Independent Industry Expert. The Independent Industry Expert has 

also provided the Independent Property Consultant Report under RICS standard and in accordance with the IVS 

104 of the IVSC International Valuation Standards issued on July 31, 2019, effective from January 31, 2020, on 

the assumptions and the methodologies used for the valuation. For details on the Independent Property Consultant 

Report, see ñIndependent Property Consultant Reportò beginning on page 661. However, the valuation exercise 

is based on prevailing market dynamics as on the date of valuation and does not take into account any 

unforeseeable developments which could impact the same in the future. 

The valuations are based on asset specific information provided by our Manager which has been assumed to be 

correct and has been used for valuation exercise. Where it is stated in the Summary Valuation Report that another 

party has supplied information to the Valuer, this information is believed to be reliable but the Valuer can accept 

no responsibility if this should prove not to be so. 

Assumptions are a necessary part of undertaking valuations. The Valuer adopts assumptions for the purpose of 

providing valuation advice because some matters are not capable of accurate calculation or fall outside the scope 

of the Valuerôs expertise, or the Valuerôs instructions. Prospective investors accept that the valuation contains 

certain specific assumptions and acknowledge and accept the risk that if any of the assumptions adopted in the 

valuation are incorrect, then this may have an effect on the valuation.  

Such data involves risks, uncertainties and numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on various 

factors, including those set out within ñRisk Factors ï The Valuation Report on the Pro Forma Portfolio is only 

indicative in nature as it is based on a set of assumptions and may not be representative of the true value of the 

Pro Forma Portfolioò beginning on page 45. Although our Manager believes that the industry and market data 

used by the Valuer and the Independent Industry Expert for the valuation is reasonably reliable, it has not been 

independently verified by our Manager, our Sponsor, the Trustee or the Lead Managers, or any of their associates, 

affiliates or advisors. Accordingly, no investment decisions should be solely based on such information or data 

included herein. 

The extent to which the valuation assumptions used by the Valuer in the ñSummary Valuation Reportò, beginning 

on page 633 are meaningful, depends on the readerôs familiarity with and understanding of the methodologies 

used in undertaking such valuations.  

Exchange Rates 

This Draft Offer Document contains conversion of certain currency amounts into Rupees. These conversions 

should not be construed as a representation that these currency amounts could have been, or can be converted into 

Rupees, at any particular rate. The exchange rates of certain currencies used in this Draft Offer Document into 

Rupees are set forth for the dates indicated:  

Currency Exchange rate as on 

June 30, 2020 

Exchange rate as on 

March 31, 2020 

Exchange rate as on 

March 29, 2019* 

Exchange rate as on 

March 28, 2018**  

1 USD  75.53 75.39 69.17 65.04 

1 SGD  53.99 52.68  51.12 49.52 
Source: RBI Reference Rate and FBIL Reference Rate (www.fbil.org.in) for USD and www.oanda.com for SGD  

* Exchange Rate as on March 29, 2019, as FBIL reference rate is not available for March 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019 being a Saturday 
and Sunday, respectively.  

http://www.fbil.org.in/
http://www.oanda.com/
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** Exchange Rate as on March 28, 2018, as RBI reference rate is not available for March 29, 2018 and March 30, 2018 being public holidays 

and March 31, 2018 being a Saturday. 

Websites 

The information contained on the website of the Brookfield REIT, our Manager and our Sponsor, the websites of 

the Trustee, the Lead Managers or other websites referenced in this Draft Offer Document or that can be accessed 

through these websites or such other websites, neither constitutes part of this Draft Offer Document, nor is it 

incorporated by reference therein and should not form the basis of any investment decision. For details of the 

websites of the Brookfield REIT, our Manager, the Trustee, our Sponsor and the Lead Managers, see ñGeneral 

Informationò beginning on page 388.  
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This Draft Offer Document contains certain statements that are not statements of historical fact and accordingly, 

constitute ñforward-looking statementsò. These forward looking statements include statements which can 

generally be identified by words or phrases such as ñaimò, ñanticipateò, ñbelieveò, ñcontinueò, ñcanò, ñcouldò, 

ñestimateò, ñexpectò, ñintendò, ñlikely toò, ñmayò, ñobjectiveò, ñplanò, ñpotentialò, ñprojectò, ñproposeò, 

ñpursueò, ñseek toò, ñshallò, ñshouldò, ñwillò, ñwill continueò, ñwouldò, other words or phrases of similar import. 

Similarly, statements that describe the strategies, objectives, plans, prospects or goals of the Brookfield REIT and 

the Projections are also forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include statements as to 

the business strategy, plans, objectives, goals, results of operations, prospects, revenue and profitability (including, 

without limitation, any financial or operating forecasts) and other matters discussed in this Draft Offer Document 

including the Projections that are not historical facts. However, these are not the exclusive means of identifying 

forward-looking statements. 

Further, please note that the Projections included in this Draft Offer Document are based on a number of 

assumptions. For details, see ñProjectionsò beginning on page 272. The Summary Valuation Report, Independent 

Property Consultant Report and Industry Overview included in this Draft Offer Document are also based on 

certain estimates and projections and should be read together with assumptions and notes thereto. For details, see 

ñSummary Valuation Report ï Assumptions, Disclaimers, Limitations & Qualificationsò, ñIndependent Property 

Consultant Reportò and ñIndustry Overviewò beginning on pages 644, 661 and 76, respectively. 

Actual results may materially differ from those suggested by the forward-looking statements or financial 

projections due to certain known or unknown risks or uncertainties associated with our Managerôs expectations 

with respect to, but not limited to, the actual growth in the real estate sector, our Managerôs ability to successfully 

implement the strategy, growth and expansion plans, technological changes, cash flow projections, the outcome 

of any legal or regulatory proceedings and the future impact of new accounting standards, regulatory changes 

pertaining to the real estate sector in India and our Managerôs ability to respond to them, and general economic 

and political conditions in India which have an impact on the Brookfield REITôs business activities or investments, 

changes in competition and our Managerôs ability to operate and maintain our Initial Portfolio. By their nature, 

certain of the market risk disclosures are only estimates and could be materially different from what actually 

occurs in the future. As a result, actual future gains, losses or impact on net interest income and net income could 

materially differ from those that have been estimated. 

Factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements of the Brookfield REIT to differ materially 

include, but are not limited to, those discussed as part of ñRisk Factorsò, ñIndustry Overviewò, ñOur Business and 

Propertiesò and ñManagementôs Discussion and Analysis of Factors Affecting the Financial Condition and 

Results of Operationsò, beginning on pages 30, 76, 120 and 243, respectively. Important factors that could cause 

actual results, performance or achievements of the Brookfield REIT to differ materially include, but are not limited 

to, the following:  

(a) The extent to which the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) may affect our business and operations in the 

future is uncertain and cannot be predicted. 

(b) Our business and profitability is dependent on the performance of the commercial real estate market in 

India. Fluctuations in the general economic, market and other conditions may affect the commercial real 

estate market in India and in turn, our ability to lease office parks to tenants on favorable terms. 

(c) A significant portion of our revenue is derived from a limited number of tenants and sectors, and any 

adverse developments affecting such tenants or sectors may have an adverse effect on our business, 

results of operations and financial condition.  

(d) A significant portion of our revenue is derived from leasing activities at Candor Techspace G2 and any 

adverse development relating to Candor Techspace G2 or in the micro-market in which it is located may 

adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

(e) The ability of our Manager to acquire or dispose of assets or explore new investment opportunities is 

subject to conditions provided in the SEBI REIT Regulations. 

(f) Our Manager may be unable to renew lease agreements or lease vacant area on favorable terms or at all, 

which could adversely affect the business, results of operations and cash flows. 
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(g) Our dependence on rental income may adversely affect our profitability, ability to meet debt and other 

financial obligations and our Managerôs ability to make distributions to Unitholders. 

(h) Our Manager cannot assure you that it will be able to successfully complete future acquisitions or 

efficiently manage the assets that we may acquire in the future. Further, any future acquisitions may be 

subject to acquisition related risks. 

Forward-looking statements and financial projections reflect current views as of the date of this Draft Offer 

Document and are not a guarantee of future performance or returns to prospective investors. There can be no 

assurance that the expectations reflected within the forward-looking statements and financial information will 

prove to be correct. These statements and projections are based on certain beliefs and assumptions, which in turn 

are based on currently available information. In accordance with the REIT Regulations, the calculations and 

assumptions underlying the Projections have been certified by our Manager as well as the Auditor. The Projections 

have specifically been prepared for inclusion in this Draft Offer Document for the purposes of the Offer, using a 

set of assumptions that include hypothetical assumptions about future events and our Managerôs actions that may 

or may not occur, but have been approved by our Board. Consequently, prospective investors are cautioned that 

the Projections may not be appropriate for purposes other than that described above. Given these uncertainties, 

prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements and 

Projections.  

In any event, these statements speak only as of the date of this Draft Offer Document or the respective dates 

indicated in this Draft Offer Document, and the Brookfield REIT, our Manager and the Lead Managers undertake 

no obligation to update or revise any of such statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 

otherwise after the date of this Draft Offer Document. In the event any of these risks and uncertainties materialize, 

or if any of our Managerôs underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, the actual results of operations or 

financial condition of the Brookfield REIT could differ materially from that described herein as anticipated, 

believed, estimated or expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to the Brookfield REIT 

are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference to these cautionary statements.
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SECTION ï II : EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

This summary does not contain nor does it purport to contain all of information that should be considered before 

investing in the Offer or our Units. All prospective investors should read the entire Draft Offer Document carefully 

before taking an investment decision. An investment in our Units involves a high degree of risk and accordingly, 

for a discussion of certain risks with respect to our Units, the Offer and the Brookfield REIT, see ñRisk Factorsò 

beginning on page 30. 

Industry, macro-economic and market data and all other industry related statements in this section have been 

extracted from the report titled ñIndia Commercial Real Estate Overviewò dated September 22, 2020, prepared 

by C&WI (the ñIndustry Reportò) commissioned by our Manager in relation to the Offer. Micro-market 

information used for comparative purposes in this section is for non-strata owned office stock. Valuation data has 

been extracted from the Valuation Report issued by the Valuer.  

Our ñInitial Portfolioò comprises Kensington, Candor Techspace G2, Candor Techspace N1 and Candor 

Techspace K1.  

The ñPro Forma Portfolioò comprises our Initial Portfolio along with Candor Techspace G1 and Candor 

Techspace N2, assuming the completion of the acquisition of these two Call Option Properties by us. Candor 

Techspace G1 and Candor Techspace N2, are referred to as the ñCall Option Propertiesò. 

In addition, we will have a Right of First Offer (ñROFOò) on the acquisition of Powai Business District, Equinox 

Business Park, Units in Godrej BKC and Waterstones, which are collectively referred to as the ñROFO 

Propertiesò.  

Unless otherwise specified in this section, (i) all business and operational information is presented as of March 

31, 2020; (ii) references to area in ómsfô are to Leasable Area; and (iii) references to a specific tenant name also 

includes references to such tenantôs affiliates operating in India. Further, business and operational information 

for our Initial Portfolio and Pro Forma Portfolio for the FY 2016 and FY 2017 do not include Kensington. 

Kensington was acquired by the Brookfield Group in May 2019 but as the Brookfield Group commenced 

managing Kensington from April 2017, information for Kensington has been included from the FY 2018 onwards. 

Business Overview 

The Brookfield REIT is Indiaôs only institutionally managed public commercial real estate vehicle. Sponsored by 

an affiliate of Brookfield Asset Management (ñBAMò), one of the worldôs largest alternative asset managers with 

approximately US$550 billion in assets under management, as of June 30, 2020, our goal is to be the leading 

owner of high quality income producing commercial real estate assets in key gateway Indian markets, which have 

significant barriers to entry.  

Over the last two decades, India has emerged as a leading hub for technology and corporate services due to a 

highly skilled and young workforce and a distinct competitive cost advantage. With approximately 90 million 

people expected to be added to the workforce by 2030, this structural driver will further increase office absorption, 

creating compelling opportunities across the commercial real estate market in India. The COVID-19 pandemic 

has accelerated the structural shift that was already underway prior to the crisis in relation to the usage and 

deployment of technology especially cloud, data analytics, e-commerce and digital transformation. The global 

spending on software and IT services is expected to grow at a robust rate between FY 2020 and FY 2025 and the 

technology industry in India is expected to grow at a CAGR of 13% to US$350 billion by FY 2025 from an 

estimated US$191 billion in FY 2020 due to the large STEM talent pool, competitive cost advantage and favorable 

demographics in the country. (Source: Industry Report) Our strategy is to address this demand by owning and 

operating large ñfully-integratedò, ñcampus-formatò office parks in established locations, and providing a 

complete ecosystem to our tenants and their employees.  

The primary objective of our strategy is to provide attractive risk-adjusted total returns to our Unitholders derived 

from: 

¶ stable yield supported by our Initial Portfolioôs long-term contracted cash flows; 

¶ property level income growth that is embedded in our Initial Portfolio through contractual rent 

escalations, mark-to-market headroom and in-situ development potential; 

¶ acquisitions including those of identified external growth opportunities through the Call Option 

Properties and the ROFO Properties; and  

¶ asset value appreciation, through continuous investment in the properties to upgrade them.  
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We seek to achieve this objective through the performance of our high quality Initial Portfolio, driven by proactive 

portfolio management, maintaining a prudent capital structure, implementing corporate governance framework 

aligned with best market practices, and access to Brookfieldôs global platforms, which provide us a breadth of 

resources, relationships and expertise. Further, to execute our strategy, we believe that our Manager, which is an 

affiliate of Brookfield, has an on-ground professional management team with extensive industry experience, 

domain knowledge and a strong track record of value creation.  

Portfolio Overview 

Our Initial Portfolio comprises 14.0 msf, with call options to acquire a further 8.3 msf and rights of first offer on 

an additional 6.7 msf, both currently owned by members of the Brookfield Group.  

In line with our strategy and business plan, we own an Initial Portfolio of four large campus-format office parks, 

which we believe are ñbusiness-criticalò, located in some of Indiaôs key gateway markets - Mumbai, Gurugram, 

Noida and Kolkata. Our Initial Portfolio totals 14.0 msf, comprising 9.8 msf of Completed Area, 0.6 msf of Under 

Construction Area (occupation certificate for 0.5 msf received on September 22, 2020) and 3.6 msf of Future 

Development Potential.  

Our Initial Portfolioôs Completed Area is 96% occupied and leased to marquee tenants with 75% of Gross 

Contracted Rentals contracted with multi-national corporations such as Barclays, Bank of America Continuum, 

RBS, Accenture, Tata Consultancy Services and Cognizant. While a 6.8 year WALE provides stability to the cash 

flows of our Initial Portfolio, we are well positioned to achieve further organic growth through a combination of 

contractual lease escalations, 38% mark-to-market headroom to in-place rents, lease-up of vacant space and near-

term completion of Under Construction Area to meet tenantsô expansion needs. As of the date of this Draft Offer 

Document, the near-term completion of construction is de-risked as a majority of it has received the occupation 

certificate and the balance has achieved full financial closure with key approvals in place and expected completion 

by September 2021. These factors create a strong foundation for organic cash flow growth, such that our Initial 

Portfolioôs NOI is projected to grow by 24% (net of one-time adjustment) to 8,142 million (including CIOP), 

over the Projections Period ending in FY 2023. These NOI drivers will contribute to an increase in the value of 

the underlying properties and the potential to produce attractive returns for our Unitholders.  

We intend to leverage Brookfield Groupôs real estate holdings in India by entering into agreements that provide 

options to acquire their existing properties in our markets. We have the exclusive right and option at our discretion 

to acquire the Call Option Properties, one office park in each of Gurugram and Noida, similar to the office parks 

in the Initial Portfolio, that are near-stabilization and currently owned by members of the Brookfield Group. The 

Call Option Properties encompass 8.3 msf, comprising of 5.7 msf of Completed Area (96% occupied), 1.7 msf of 

Under Construction Area expected to be completed by September 2021 and 0.8 msf of Future Development 

Potential. Our Initial Portfolio combined with the Call Option Properties forms our ñPro Forma Portfolioò, 

aggregating to 22.3 msf. The Call Option Properties provide visibility of near-term external growth potential for 

us and will also further help us improve our market leadership in Gurugram and Noida. The Call Option Properties 

have the potential to contribute 6,372 million in NOI in FY 2023 (including MIOP), and can further increase the 

NOI for FY 2023 by 78% from 8,142 million to 14,514 million.  

In addition, we will also benefit from rights of first offer on the ROFO Properties - the Brookfield Groupôs 100% 

owned commercial real estate assets in Indiaôs financial capital, Mumbai, comprising 6.7 msf in office space. The 

Pro Forma Portfolio and ROFO Properties combined, creates the potential for us to almost double our Initial 

Portfolioôs Leasable Area to 28.9 msf, while growing consistent with our strategy of owning high quality real 

estate in premier locations.  

We believe the scale and quality of these office parks make us the preferred ñlandlord of choiceò for our tenants, 

which is evident from the historical performance in occupancy and new leasing rents of our properties, and tenant 

consolidation and expansion examples. Further, we believe our strong compliance standards, in-line with 

Brookfieldôs global operating procedures, have enabled us to attract, retain and grow marquee tenants in our office 

parks resulting in high renewal rates from our tenants. We believe that our strategy will allow us to consistently 

attract marquee tenants, while differentiating us significantly from other office landlords and developers. We 

believe our real estate offerings, along with our operations-oriented value-add approach, is very difficult to 

replicate due to challenges associated with long development timelines and dearth of similar large campus-format 

properties in comparable advantaged locations. We are also one of the largest landlords in each of our micro-

markets, allowing our Manager to create significant efficiencies in asset management, operations and tenant 

offerings. For our Initial Portfolio, our Manager has: 

¶ leased 4.3 msf between April 1, 2015 and March 31, 2020;  

¶ achieved 89% tenant retention rate between April 1, 2015 and March 31, 2020;  



 

25 

¶ added 3.1 msf of Completed Area through on-campus development between April 1, 2015 and March 

31, 2020;  

¶ maintained consistently high occupancy and achieved Committed Occupancy of 96% (approximately 

220 bps higher than average occupancy in our micro-markets;  

¶ invested 118.55 million, 410.62 million and 321.14 million in FY 2018, FY 2019 and FY 2020, 

respectively, to renovate our Initial Portfolio including lobby and façade upgrades, elevator 

modernizations, renovations of public areas, landscaping, addition of cafes, food courts and boardwalks, 

modernization of building-wide systems, installing substations and enhancement of other tenant 

amenities; and  

¶ focused on environmental sustainability, and undertaken several energy efficiency initiatives such as 

installing rooftop solar panels and on-campus sub-stations, which resulted in our properties receiving 

several accolades.  

Our Manager has grown our NOI from 5,902.43 million for FY 2018 to 6,763.43 million for FY 2020. In 

addition, post the utilization of the net proceeds from the Offer, our total outstanding indebtedness in principal 

amount is expected to be less than 20% of our initial Market Value, providing us significant financial flexibility 

to grow through economic cycles. We believe that all these factors combined create what we believe to be a unique 

and promising opportunity for Unitholders to own one of the largest, and fully institutionally managed, Class A 

office portfolios in India. 

Our Competitive Strengths 

We believe that the following competitive strengths differentiate us from other public commercial real estate 

companies and REITs in India. 

¶ Global Sponsorship with Local Expertise. We are sponsored by an affiliate of Brookfield Asset 

Management, one of the worldôs largest alternative asset managers and investors, with assets under 

management of approximately US$550 billion across real estate, infrastructure, renewable power, private 

equity and credit, and a global presence of over 150,000 operating employees across more than 30 

countries, as of June 30, 2020. Brookfield Asset Management is listed on the NYSE and TSX and has a 

market capitalization of over US$50.51 billion, as of September 20, 2020.  

As of June 30, 2020, BAM has over US$200 billion of real estate assets under management, and over 

500 msf across multiple real estate asset classes, with strong real estate capabilities in leasing, financing, 

development, design, construction and property management. We also benefit significantly from 

Brookfieldôs rich experience in managing listed vehicles globally, including Brookfield Property Partners 

L.P. (NASDAQ: BPY; TSX: BPY.UN), which is one of the worldôs premier commercial real estate 

companies. Our Manager, which is an affiliate of Brookfield, has a management team with extensive 

industry experience that helps us manage our office parks in India. We believe this provides us an 

informational advantage in our sector, with direct insights to help inform our views on leasing, operations 

and fundamental economic trends.  

We also believe our long-term success in executing our strategy will be supported by Brookfieldôs 

extensive local market and asset knowledge in India. Brookfield has had a decade-long presence in India 

and manages a portfolio of approximately US$16 billion across real estate (US$4.4 billion), 

infrastructure (US$9.9 billion), renewable power (US$0.4 billion) and private equity (US$0.8 billion), 

as of August 31, 2020. This portfolio in India provides valuable real-time, proprietary market data that 

we expect will enable us to identify and act on market conditions and trends more rapidly than our 

competitors.  

Our Unitholders will benefit from our ability to leverage Brookfieldôs extensive network of relationships, 

its deep capital markets experience, operating expertise, a demonstrated track record of managing capital 

and its commitment of resources to our Manager. We also expect to benefit from access to Brookfieldôs 

risk management, accounting, cash management and compliance policies. Further, we have structured 

the fees of our Manager to be simple and low, while closely aligning with the interests of our Unitholders. 

The alignment is further enhanced by Brookfieldôs substantial equity ownership in the Brookfield REIT 

subsequent to the completion of the Offer. 
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¶ Difficult to Replicate, Dominant and Strategically Located Properties. We believe that our office parks 

are among the highest quality office parks in India, distinguished by their size and scale and located in 

the key gateway markets of Mumbai, Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata. Our office parks are modern and 

recently built, with a median age of seven years for our Initial Portfolio, and require limited ongoing 

maintenance capital expenditures. Our properties are strategically located in established micro-markets 

with easy access to mass transportation, high barriers to entry for new supply, limited vacancy and robust 

historical rental growth rates. Many of our office parks command premium rents and have higher 

occupancies than the average rents and occupancies of the broader markets they are located within. Our 

size and scale in key markets of India provide us with extensive market information and enhances our 

ability to respond to market opportunities.  

We believe that our office parks are very difficult to replace today on a cost-competitive basis, if at all. 

Institutionally owned and managed, all of our office parks are among the largest in their respective micro-

markets and are distinguished by their scale and infrastructure. For example, spread across approximately 

28.53 acres and with 4.0 msf, Candor Techspace G2 is the largest office SEZ in Gurugram in terms of 

leasable area, with excellent road and metro connectivity. (Source: Industry Report) Similarly, Candor 

Techspace K1 is spread across 48.38 acres and with 5.7 msf, is eastern Indiaôs largest campus style office 

park with significant outperformance in rental growth as compared to the average rental growth in its 

micro-market. (Source: Industry Report) 

¶ Placemaking Capabilities. Placemaking is ingrained in our Manager and Sponsorôs design, development 

and operating philosophy, enabling us to provide our tenants with a unique ñservice-based experienceò. 

The size and scale of our fully-integrated office parks allows us to deliver an all-encompassing workspace 

ecosystem to our tenants with modern infrastructure and amenities, including daycare facilities, premium 

F&B outlets, convenience shopping kiosks, shuttle services, multi-cuisine food courts and sports and 

fitness facilities, which further create an empowering and vibrant work environment for our tenantsô 

employees and elevates our properties to have a positive impact on our communities. As a result of the 

characteristics of our offerings, several tenants have relocated from other commercial properties to our 

office parks. For example,  

¶ a leading multinational consulting company, which had a small presence at Candor Techspace 

G2, moved out of a competing property and consolidated its presence at our office park;  

¶ a leading financial services company significantly increased the area it occupied at Candor 

Techspace N1; and  

¶ a global technology company consolidated its presence at Candor Techspace K1.  

Our properties are built for institutional tenants who have contemporary workspace requirements. This 

drives tenant retention as relocation by our tenants may result in high switching costs for them and their 

employees. Further, our campus-format large integrated parks provides a unique value proposition to our 

blue chip tenants who have specific needs to house multiple functions and teams out of a single office 

premises, evident from our 3.1 msf expansion examples in Brookfield Groupôs ownership and 

management since April 1, 2015.  

¶ Diversified Blue Chip Tenant Roster and Cash Flow Stability. We believe that our office parks are 

ñbusiness-criticalò to our tenants and their employees. In addition to our diversified base of marquee 

tenants, our Initial Portfolio has a stable, long-term tenancy profile with staggered expirations and a 

WALE of 6.8 years, providing significant cash flow stability to our business. In our Initial Portfolio, 75% 

of Gross Contracted Rentals are contracted with multi-national corporations such as Barclays, Bank of 

America Continuum, RBS, Accenture, Tata Consultancy Services and Cognizant. Our tenants operate in 

a diverse range of industries such as technology, financial services, consulting, analytics and healthcare. 

Our Initial Portfolioôs Committed Occupancy has been above 94% at the end of the last four financial 

years, highlighting the stability of the business. During the period between April 1, 2015 and March 31, 

2020, in-place rents per sf have grown at a CAGR of 4.8%, demonstrating the healthy rental growth 

achieved on the Initial Portfolio. Through its own dedicated property managers and local expertise, our 

Manager has developed deep tenant relationships which combined with Brookfieldôs global institutional 

relationships, has led to 4.3 msf of total leasing and an 89% tenant retention rate since April 1, 2015. 

Further, we do not engage third parties but provide services including property management, facilities 
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management and support services to our Initial Portfolio, either internally or through CIOP, our wholly 

owned subsidiary. 

¶ Significant Identified Internal and External Growth Opportunities. We believe that the value of our 

real estate assets will have two sources of growth. The first is expected through opportunities to increase 

NOI from our Initial Portfolio, and the second is expected to be through acquisition of additional 

properties. Brookfield has extensive local market knowledge and a global network of relationships, and 

we believe our access to Brookfield will provide opportunities for organic growth, as well as growth 

through acquisitions from third parties.  

Internal Growth. As a result of contractual escalation provisions in almost all of our leases, mark-to-

market of in-place rents as long-term leases expire, lease-up of recently completed construction and near-

term ñon-campusò development, we have a strong foundation for organic cash flow growth. In addition, 

we believe our existing tenants will also provide a source of internal growth as they look to consolidate 

and expand in our office parks ï for example, over the last five financial years, over 60% of newly 

developed Completed Area in our Initial Portfolio, was leased to existing customers.  

External Growth. Post the utilization of the net proceeds from the Offer, our total outstanding 

indebtedness in principal amount is expected to be less than 20% of our initial Market Value. We believe 

our conservative and prudent capital structure will enable us to drive additional growth through value 

accretive acquisitions. We expect to significantly benefit from our options to acquire two large campus-

styled office parks owned by members of the Brookfield Group in Gurugram and Noida, and our right to 

acquire the ROFO Properties situated in Mumbai, if and when they are sold by members of the Brookfield 

Group. These acquisition opportunities fit with our overall strategy of owning high quality real estate in 

established locations.  

¶ Experienced, Cycle-Tested Senior Management Team. All properties in our Initial Portfolio, prior to 

the Offering, are owned and managed, directly and indirectly, by affiliates of BAM. As such, our 

Managerôs team has deep domain knowledge and experience in managing these properties and has 

demonstrated a robust track record in delivering value. Since April 1, 2015, our Manager has leased 4.3 

msf and delivered 3.1 msf of ñon-campusò Completed Area within the Initial Portfolio.  

Our Manager is highly regarded in the real estate community and has extensive relationships with a broad 

range of tenants, brokers and lenders. Led by Alok Aggarwal (the Managing Director and CEO of our 

Manager), our Managerôs team consists of 42 dedicated experienced professionals, as of June 30, 2020. 

We believe that the team has in-depth experience in real estate investments, asset management, research 

and property management, with the key managerial personnel and core team having an average of more 

than 25 years of experience in the real estate industry in India. As such, our Manager has operating and 

investing experience through multiple real estate cycles, which we believe provides valuable insight and 

perspective into the portfolio management of our current office parks as well as underwriting new 

investments for us. 

¶ Institutional Corporate Governance Framework and Strong Alignment of Interests. We believe our 

governance structure reflects a rigorous approach to corporate governance, taking into account the 

interests of our Unitholders while leveraging our relationship with Brookfield, which has a strong track 

record of high standards of governance. BAM is listed on the NYSE and TSX and we benefit significantly 

from Brookfieldôs strong corporate governance standards. For further details of our corporate governance 

framework, see ñThe Board and Management of our Managerò on page 204. 

The governance structure is based on the following pillars that enable it to align and commensurately 

represent the interests of all our stakeholders: 

¶ Significant level of Sponsor Group ownership in the Brookfield REIT (on a post-Offer basis) 

creates an alignment with the interests of Unitholders; 

¶ Entirely performance-linked fee structure for our Manager; 

¶ Balanced board composition of our Manager between independent and Brookfield directors; 
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¶ Robust related party transaction policies to facilitate arms-length evaluation of acquisition and 

divestment decisions, in line with global best practices and ñmajority of minorityò approvals 

required; 

¶ Commitment to ESG practices including installation of health infrastructure, focus on 

sustainability initiatives and activities that have a positive impact on the communities in which 

we operate; and 

¶ Anti-bribery and anti-corruption policies in line with international standards. 

Recent Developments  

COVID-19 Pandemic 

COVID-19 spread to a majority of countries across the world, including India, in the calendar year 2020. The 

World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 to be a public health emergency of international 

concern on January 30, 2020, and a global pandemic on March 11, 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic and the 

protective actions that Governments around the world have taken to counter the effects of the pandemic have 

resulted in a period of economic downturn and business disruption in India, as well as in countries where our 

international tenants are domiciled and conduct operations. On March 14, 2020, India declared COVID-19 as a 

ñnotified disasterò and imposed a nationwide lockdown from March 25, 2020. The lockdown has since been lifted 

in areas where our office parks are located.  

Our Manager has undertaken several significant initiatives at the office parks in response to the pandemic and to 

promote the health and safety of tenants and visitors. Such initiatives include the redistribution of standard 

operating procedures to all tenants at the office parks and maintaining frequent communication with them, status 

check through óAarogya Setuô - an application developed by the Government as an additional measure to track 

and combat the pandemic, implementing and enforcing social distancing measures, conducting temperature 

checks with thermal cameras and infrared thermometers, restricting the number of personnel that use elevators 

and common areas at any given time, distributing sanitizers, regulating traffic flow, installing automatic sanitizing 

systems, disinfecting the premises, installing electrostatic filters, monitoring air quality and conducting periodic 

fumigation. Maintenance personnel at the office parks have been equipped with personal protective equipment 

and been trained for maintaining COVID-19 safety protocols. In addition, our Manager is in the process of 

evaluating measures for contactless elevator controls and improving air quality.  

Our Manager is closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on all aspects of our business and operations, 

including its impact on the tenants and the preventative or protective actions of the central, state and local 

Governments on the relevant aspects of the Initial Portfolio. The pandemic has resulted in adverse economic 

conditions globally as well as in India and consequently we may face a slowdown in leasing of vacant area or pre-

leasing of Under Construction Area in the Initial Portfolio. However, potential tenants continue to make enquiries 

and visit and evaluate the office parks. Our Manager is focused on tenant retention and rent collections and 

between April 1, 2020 and September 20, 2020, leased and renewed 0.5 msf at the Initial Portfolio. Certain existing 

tenants have leased additional space at the office parks to de-densify their premises.  

As a result of the impact of COVID-19 on the tenantsô business, the tenants may seek deferrals on their rental 

payments, ask to modify their obligations under their lease agreements or prematurely terminate the lease 

agreements. Our Manager has agreed to defer the commencement date of certain new leases and a limited number 

of lease agreements have been terminated. However, the Leasable Area underlying such terminated lease 

agreements is not material. Further, our Manager has provided rent waivers only to amenity and food and beverage 

tenants. In addition, we have reduced our common area maintenance cost, which has resulted in cost savings for 

our tenants. Our Manager has also focused on maintaining business continuity and operational efficiencies during 

the lockdown and is evaluating various cost reduction measures.  

While the COVID-19 pandemic has affected several industries, certain industries such as aviation, education, 

entertainment and events, food and beverage, co-working and hospitality are among the ones which would be 

severely impacted. (Source: Industry Report) However, we have only one tenant in each of the aviation and 

hospitality sectors and these tenants are not material contributors to our revenues. We did not face significant 

disruptions in our operations due to COVID-19 during the financial year 2020. The following table sets forth 

details of our Gross Contracted Rentals collected for the months indicated: 
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Month  Gross Contracted Rentals collected 

April 2020 97% 

May 2020 98% 

June 2020 98% 

July 2020 98% 

August 2020 97% 
Note: The table above reflects our cumulative collection status as of September 22, 2020.  

During the lockdown, certain tenants at the office parks have limited the number of their operating staff and hours, 

while others announced ñwork-from-homeò measures. Certain essential personnel and support staff of the tenants 

continue to work from the office parks. As of September 20, 2020, the Committed Occupancy and in-place rent 

of the Initial Portfolio was 92.5% and 64 psf/month, respectively. Further, on account of the lockdowns enforced 

and constrained availability of labour, construction activity at on-going projects in the Initial Portfolio was halted 

during the months of April and May 2020, but has since resumed gradually, in light of the eased restrictions 

implemented by state governments.  

In the preparation of our Condensed Combined Financial Statements, we considered the uncertainty relating to 

the COVID-19 pandemic in assessing the recoverability of receivables, investments properties and other assets. 

We have not availed any deferments or moratoriums with respect to any of our financial commitments including 

debt servicing. While COVID-19 has not materially affected our business and operations, there is significant 

uncertainty regarding the duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as possible future responses, 

which makes it impossible to predict the impact that COVID-19 will  have on us and our tenantsô business and 

operations in the future. See ñRisk Factors - Risks Related to our Business and Industry - The extent to which the 

Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) may affect our business and operations in the future is uncertain and cannot 

be predictedò on page 33. 

On September 21, 2020, Candor Kolkata and GIL signed a binding term sheet to enter into a Joint Development 

Agreement (ñJDAò) for developing 0.52 msf of commercial-cum-retail development out of the total Future 

Development Potential of 2.7 msf, wherein GIL shall pay Candor Kolkata a sum of 1,000 million (inclusive of 

GST) which is to be paid in the following manner: (i) 40 million on the execution of the JDA; and (ii) 12 quarterly 

instalments of 80 million each from January 2021 and be entitled to receive 28% of revenue comprising rentals, 

CAM margins, parking and any other revenue. Further, Candor Techspace N1, which had 0.6 msf of Under 

Construction Area, received the occupancy certificate for 0.5 msf of such area on September 22, 2020.  
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SECTION ï III : RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Units involves a high degree of risk. Prospective investors should carefully consider all the 

information in this Draft Offer Document, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making 

an investment in the Units. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, results of operations and 

financial condition could suffer, the price of the Units could decline, and prospective investors may lose all or 

part of their investment. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks that we face or may 

face or not the only ones relevant to us, the Units, or the industry in which we operate. Additional risks and 

uncertainties not presently known to us or our Manager or that they currently believe to be immaterial may also 

have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition and as a result, the returns 

to the Unitholders. Unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk factors below, our Manager is not in a 

position to quantify the financial or other implications of any of the risks described in this section. 

To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business and financial results, it may also have the 

effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this section, such as those relating to our recovery of 

rental income from our tenants, levels of consolidated indebtedness and our ability to comply with the covenants 

contained in the agreements that govern our indebtedness. In making an investment decision, prospective 

investors must rely on their own examination of us and our business, the terms of the Offer and the Formation 

Transactions, including the merits and risks involved. To obtain a complete understanding, this section should be 

read in conjunction with the sections titled ñOur Business and Propertiesò and ñManagementôs Discussion and 

Analysis of Factors Affecting Financial Condition and Results of Operationsò beginning on pages 120 and 243, 

respectively, as well as the financial statements and other financial information included elsewhere in this Draft 

Offer Document. Before investing in the Units, prospective investors should obtain professional advice on 

investing in the Offer.  

This Draft Offer Document also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties and 

assumptions. The actual results could differ significantly from those anticipated in these forward-looking 

statements as a result of certain factors, including considerations described below and in ñForward-Looking 

Statementsò beginning on page 21. 

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, the financial information used in this section is derived 

from the Condensed Combined Financial Statements, included in this Draft Offer Document beginning on page 

411. We have included various operational and financial performance indicators in this Draft Offer Document, 

some of which may not have been derived from the Condensed Combined Financial Statements and may have not 

been subjected to an audit or review by the Auditors. The manner in which such operational and financial 

indicators are calculated and presented, and the assumptions and estimates used in the calculation, may vary 

from that used by other entities in the business similar to ours. You should consult your own advisors and evaluate 

such information in the context of the Condensed Combined Financial Statements and other information relating 

to our business and operations included in this Draft Offer Document before making an investment decision.  

Risks Related to our Organization and Structure  

1. Our Manager does not provide any assurance or guarantee of any distributions to the Unitholders. 

Our Manager may not be able to make distributions to Unitholders in the manner described in this 

Draft Offer Document or at all, and the quantum of distributions may decrease.  

In accordance with the REIT Regulations, distributions to Unitholders will be based on the NDCF 

available for distribution. The REIT Regulations prescribe a pre-determined framework for assessment 

of NDCF, which is also set out in the policy on distribution framed under the REIT Regulations, in 

consultation with financial and tax advisors and the results of which will be reviewed by our statutory 

auditor. For details of the REIT Regulations governing distributions, and details of our distribution 

policy, see ñDistributionò beginning on page 313. 

The ability of our Manager to make distributions to the Unitholders may be affected by several factors 

including among other things:  

¶ the cash flows from operations generated by our Asset SPVs and CIOP; 

¶ the debt service costs and other liabilities of our Asset SPVs, including terms of the financing 

and agreements; 
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¶ the working capital needs of our Asset SPVs and CIOP; 

¶ our ability to access debt financing markets at commercially reasonable interest rates, or at all;  

¶ the extent of lease concessions, rent free periods, and incentives given to tenants to attract new 

tenants and retain existing tenants; 

¶ the terms of and any payments under, any agreements governing land leased or co-developed 

by our Asset SPVs; 

¶ completing the development of the Under Construction Area and Future Development Potential 

within the anticipated timeline and within the forecasted budget; 

¶ business, results of operations and financial condition of our Asset SPVs; 

¶ applicable laws and regulations, which may restrict the payment of dividends by our Asset SPVs 

or distributions by us; 

¶ any redemption or buyback of securities by our Asset SPVs;  

¶ inability to successfully integrate the assets contemplated to be acquired under the Call Option 

Agreements and ROFO Agreements;  

¶ fees payable to our Manager in accordance with the Investment Management Agreement;  

¶ payments of tax and other legal liabilities, including any litigation costs and fines and penalties 

levied by regulatory authorities;  

¶ availability of tax benefits to our Asset SPVs whose assets are located on land notified as SEZs;  

¶ if we are required to make any indemnity payments to the Lead Managers resulting from certain 

liabilities incurred in connection with the Offer under the customary indemnity that we have 

provided to them in the Offer Agreement and may provide any Underwriting Agreement (if and 

when entered into); and 

¶ discharging indemnity or other contractual obligations of our Asset SPVs and CIOP under their 

respective underlying contracts or similar obligations.  

Further, as non-cash expenditure, such as amortization and depreciation, is charged to the profit and 

loss account, our Asset SPVs may have cash surplus but no profit in the profit and loss account, and 

hence may not be able to declare dividends as per applicable regulations. In the event of the inability to 

declare such dividends, our Asset SPVs, our Manager and the Trustee may need to evaluate other 

options to make distributions to the Unitholders and utilize such surplus cash. Our Manager cannot 

assure you that the strategies implemented will be effective in extracting such cash surplus for making 

distributions to the Unitholders.  

2. Our Manager has not executed any binding agreements with respect to the Share Acquisition 

Agreements, Call Option Agreements, ROFO Agreements, the Candor Amended and Restated 

Service Agreement, the Candor Amended and Restated Transition, Operations and Maintenance 

Agreements and the Festus Service Agreement. Our Managerôs inability to consummate transactions 

in relation to these agreements will impact the Offer and its ability to complete the Offer within the 

anticipated time frame or at all.  

Our Manager has not executed binding agreements with respect to (i) the proposed acquisition by us of 

the equity shares and CCDs currently held by or proposed to be held by certain members of our Sponsor 

Group in our Asset SPVs and CIOP, in exchange for the Units; (ii) the Call Option Agreements; (iii) 

the ROFO Agreements; (iv) the Candor Amended and Restated Service Agreement; (v) the Candor 

Amended and Restated Transition, Operations and Maintenance Agreements; and (vi) the Festus 

Service Agreement. These agreements will be executed prior to the filing of the Offer Document, and 

the underlying transactions, will be consummated or become effective, as applicable, after the Bid/Offer 

Closing Date. For example, 
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¶ the Share Acquisition Agreements will be effective from the date of their execution and such 

transactions will be consummated immediately after the Bid/Offer Closing Date and prior to the 

Allotment of Units pursuant to the Offer;  

¶ the Call Option Agreements wherein the shareholders of the Call Option SPVs have granted an 

option to us to buy and have agreed to sell to us their entire shareholding in the Call Option 

SPVs at any time during the period commencing on and from six months after the listing date 

and continuing for one year or on such later date as may be mutually agreed;  

¶ the ROFO Agreements grant a right of first offer to us in the event of any sale (a) by the relevant 

members of Brookfield of their holding in the ROFO Companies; and (b) by Vrihis, a ROFO 

Company, of the identified asset i.e. the units held by it in óJet Airways Godrej BKCô situated 

in Bandra Kurla Complex (one of the ROFO Properties) for a period of five years effective from 

the date of listing of Units on the Stock Exchanges; and  

¶ certain other agreements for the proposed management framework of the Initial Portfolio have 

been entered into by the respective Asset SPVs such as (i) the Candor Amended and Restated 

Service Agreement; (ii) the Candor Amended and Restated Transition, Operations and 

Maintenance Agreements; and (iii) the Festus Service Agreement, which shall come into effect 

from the date of listing of the Units on the Stock Exchanges.  

While the agreed forms of these agreements have been taken on record by our Board, and the broad 

terms of these agreements have been disclosed in this Draft Offer Document, the scope of these 

agreements are indicative in nature and consequently, subject to change. For further details, see ñKey 

Terms of the Formation Transactionsò and ñManagement Frameworkò beginning on pages 174 and 

197, respectively. Further, under the REIT Regulations, a REIT is prohibited from making an initial 

public offer of Units unless the aggregate value of the assets held by the REIT prior to the Allotment of 

Units in the Offer equals or exceeds  5,000 million and the Offer size has to be a minimum of  2,500 

million. If our Manager is unable to complete the Formation Transactions, as contemplated herein, our 

Manager, in consultation with the Selling Unitholders and the Lead Managers, and subject to any 

conditions imposed by SEBI or any other regulatory authority, may decide not to proceed with the Offer 

or to withdraw or reduce the size of the Offer. Any inability to consummate any or all the Formation 

Transactions in the manner described in this Draft Offer Document may adversely impact our 

Managerôs ability to complete the Offer within the anticipated time frame, or at all. Further, our 

Manager cannot assure you that the regulators will not impose transfer charges for consummating the 

Formation Transactions.  

The Formation Transactions are also subject to obtaining various prior regulatory approvals and require 

certain post-facto intimations to be made to regulatory authorities, as applicable. For further details, 

please see ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactionsò, ñFinancial Indebtednessò and ñRegulatory 

Approvalsò beginning on pages 174, 232 and 363, respectively. Candor Kolkata is regulated by the BoA 

under the SEZ Act and Festus is regulated by both, the BoA and the DoI. Hence, the Initial Portfolio is 

subject to regular scrutiny and supervision by statutory authorities. While applications to the relevant 

BoA and DoI to obtain approval for the Formation Transactions have been made, our Manager cannot 

assure you that the requisite approvals will be obtained prior to the filing of the Offer Document, or at 

all, or whether the approval will be provided with stipulations or conditions, which may be onerous or 

impracticable, or which may impact or delay the consummation of the Formation Transactions in the 

manner described in this Draft Offer Document.  

3. The ability of our Manager to acquire or dispose of assets or explore new investment opportunities 

is subject to conditions provided in the REIT Regulations.  

Our business and operations are subject to various conditions prescribed under the REIT Regulations. 

For example, we are required to maintain a specific minimum threshold of investment in completed and 

rent and/or income generating properties and have prescribed limits of debt financing. The REIT 

Regulations also prescribe that not more than 20% of the value of the assets of a REIT may be invested 

in certain permitted forms of investments over and above completed and rent and/or income generating 

properties, therefore, we may be constrained in terms of future investment in under-construction or non-

rent/income generating assets on account of the proposed investment by us in CIOP. Further, as our 

Sponsor and Manager are not Indian owned and controlled, we are also subject to other restrictions. For 

example, any downstream or other investments made by us are subject to conditions under the extant 



 

33 

foreign exchange regulations for investment in real estate, both in terms of investments and divestments. 

Compliance with such conditions may affect the ability of our Manager to make investments, including 

acquisition of assets pursuant to the terms of the Call Option Agreements and ROFO Agreements which 

may consequently affect its ability to make distributions to Unitholders. In addition, the prescribed debt 

financing limits and foreign exchange regulations may also affect our ability to raise additional funds. 

Further, in accordance with Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020, issued by the 

Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, Government of India, investments where the 

beneficial owner of the Equity Shares is situated in or is a citizen of a country which shares a land 

border with India, can only be made through the Government approval route, as prescribed in FDI 

Policy. These investment restrictions shall also apply to subscribers of offshore derivative instruments. 

We cannot assure you that any required approval from the RBI or any other governmental agency can 

be obtained on any acceptable terms or at all. 

Any non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations may have adverse consequences, including 

divestment of certain assets and other penalties that could prevent our Manager from acquiring further 

assets including pursuant to the terms of the Call Option Agreements and ROFO Agreements. Further, 

in extreme circumstances, such as the minimum public unitholding falling below the prescribed limits, 

there being no projects or assets remaining under a REIT for a period exceeding six months, or 

Unitholders applying for a delisting under the REIT Regulations, the Brookfield REIT may be required 

to be delisted.  

4. We will assume certain liabilities of the Portfolio Companies and such liabilities, if realised, may 

adversely affect our results of operations, profitability and cash flows, the trading price of the Units 

and our Managerôs ability to make distributions. 

Pursuant to the Share Acquisition Agreements, we will assume certain financial liabilities of the 

Portfolio Companies. Financial liabilities pertaining to the Portfolio Companies are provided in Notes 

18 to 28 of the Condensed Combined Financial Statements from pages 454 to 456 of this Draft Offer 

Document and contingent liabilities and capital commitments pertaining to the Portfolio Companies are 

provided in Notes 38 and 39 of the Condensed Combined Financial Statements from pages 459 to 460 

of this Draft Offer Document. While our Manager has conducted due diligence on the Portfolio 

Companies with the objective of identifying any material liabilities, it may not have been able to identify 

all such liabilities prior to the consummation of the Formation Transactions. Our Manager has relied 

on independent third parties to conduct a portion of such due diligence (including in relation to title 

verification and valuation of the Initial Portfolio) and to the extent that such third parties miscalculate 

or fail to identify risks and liabilities associated with the Initial Portfolio asset in question, the Initial 

Portfolio may be affected by defects in title, or the valuation of the Initial Portfolio may not be an 

accurate representation of their value. Further, the terms of the Share Acquisition Agreements contain 

limited representations and warranties, some of which are qualified by any disclosure in this Draft Offer 

Document as well as by the respective partiesô knowledge under the respective Share Acquisition 

Agreement. The indemnities under the Share Acquisition Agreements include financial and time 

limitations which may adversely affect the ability of our Manager to recover monetary compensation. 

For further details, see ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactionsò beginning on page 174. Any losses 

or liabilities suffered by us in relation to the Portfolio Companies which we are unable to recover under 

these agreements will adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows, the trading price of the 

Units and the ability of our Manager to make distributions to the Unitholders.  

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry  

5. The extent to which the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) may affect our business and operations in 

the future is uncertain and cannot be predicted. 

COVID-19 spread to a majority of countries across the world, including India, in the calendar year 

2020. The World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 to be a public health 

emergency of international concern on January 30, 2020, and a global pandemic on March 11, 2020. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may continue to have, significant repercussions across local, 

national and global economies and financial and real estate markets. Public health officials and 

governmental authorities have responded by taking measures, including in regions where the assets of 

the Pro Forma Portfolio are located, such as prohibiting people from assembling in large numbers, 

instituting quarantines, restricting travel, issuing ñstay-at-homeò orders and restricting the types of 

businesses that may continue to operate from their premises, among others. On March 14, 2020, India 
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declared COVID-19 as a ñnotified disasterò and imposed a nationwide lockdown from March 25, 2020 

onwards. The lockdown lasted until May 31, 2020, and has been extended periodically by varying 

degrees by state governments and local administrations. For the three-month period ended June 30, 

2020, India's GDP contracted by 23.9% compared to the corresponding quarter in the previous year, 

according to the Department of Economic Affairs of India, primarily on account of the nationwide 

lockdown imposed by the Government to curb the spread of COVID-19. The lifting  of the lockdown 

across various regions has been regulated with limited and progressive relaxations being granted for 

movement of goods and people in other places and calibrated re-opening of businesses and offices.  

Despite the lifting  of the lockdown, there is significant uncertainty regarding the duration and long-term 

impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as possible future responses by the Government, which 

makes it impossible for us to predict with certainty the impact that COVID-19 will  have on us and our 

tenantsô business and operations in the future. The COVID-19 pandemic may affect our ability to make 

distributions to Unitholders in a number of ways such as:  

¶ it may require the office parks in the Pro Forma Portfolio to be shut, partially or completely, as 

a result of lockdowns enforced by the government; 

¶ it may affect the operations of the tenants occupying the assets in the Pro Forma Portfolio and 

their ability to pay rents on time and/or in full;  

¶ it may result in a slowdown in obtaining new lease commitments due to a general economic 

slowdown, or cost pressure faced by potential tenants; 

¶ it may affect our ability to re-lease space that is or that becomes vacant;  

¶ it could adversely impact our ability to service our debt obligations, comply with the covenants 

in our financing agreements and could result in events of default and the acceleration of 

indebtedness;  

¶ the resultant weaker economic conditions could result in an impairment in the value of the assets 

in the Pro Forma Portfolio; 

¶ it could result in tenants overhauling their business models and switching to a work-from-home 

model, which could reduce the overall demand for commercial real estate and the office parks 

in the Pro Forma Portfolio, which may result in vacancies at our office parks; 

¶ tenants may seek deferrals on their rental payments, ask to modify their obligations under the 

lease agreements or prematurely terminate the lease agreements; 

¶ it may result in claims by tenants, including in relation to interpretation of lease terms such as 

force majeure clauses which could result in disputes with tenants; 

¶ it may affect our ability to access capital on commercially acceptable terms, or at all, and any 

further disruption or instability in global financial markets or deterioration in credit and 

financing conditions or downgrade of its or Indiaôs credit rating may affect our access to capital 

and other sources of funding necessary to fund our operations or address maturing liabilities on 

a timely basis;  

¶ it may result in delays in the completion of construction of properties on account of the 

lockdown and work stoppages, disruption in the supply of materials or availability of labour, 

such delays may also result in an increase in the cost of construction and result in return on 

investment to be less than that projected; 

¶ it may require us to implement de-densification measures imposed under applicable regulations, 

or sought by tenants; 

¶ it may affect our ability to execute our growth strategies and identify and complete acquisitions 

or expand into new markets;  
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¶ it may increase vulnerability to cyber-security threats and potential breaches, including phishing 

attacks, malware and impersonation tactics, resulting from the increase in numbers of 

individuals working from home;  

¶ it may result in an increase in operational costs as a result of additional cleaning of premises 

required or hiring of additional support staff; 

¶ it may result in imposition of operational guidelines or other conditions on landlords to protect 

the health and safety of personnel working at office parks, which may result in additional costs;  

¶ it may result in governmental authorities enacting laws or regulations to restrict the ability of 

landlords to collect rent for a certain period of time or enforce remedies for the failure to pay 

rent; and 

¶ the potential negative impact on the health of our personnel, particularly if  a significant number 

of them are affected by COVID-19, could result in a deterioration in our ability to ensure 

business continuity during this disruption. 

On account of COVID-19, our Manager has agreed to defer the commencement date of certain new 

leases and a limited number of lease agreements have been terminated prematurely. Further, our Manager 

has provided rent waivers only to amenity and food and beverage tenants. Tenants have been, and may 

in the future be, required to suspend operations at our properties. The continuation or intensification of 

the COVID-19 pandemic or any future outbreak of another highly infectious or contagious disease may 

adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Further, COVID-19 may also 

have the effect of exacerbating many of the other risks described in this ñRisk Factorsò section. For 

further details, see ñManagementôs Discussion and Analysis of Factors Affecting Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations ï Recent Developments ï COVID-19 Pandemicò and ñIndustry Overview ï 

Impact of COVID-19 on the Indian Office marketsò beginning on pages 245 and 91, respectively.  

6. Our business and profitability is dependent on the performance of the commercial real estate market 

in India. Fluctuations in the general economic, market and other conditions may affect the 

commercial real estate market in India and in turn, our ability to lease office parks to tenants on 

favorable terms.  

The success of the office parks in the Pro Forma Portfolio are highly dependent on the performance of 

the commercial real estate market in India as well as general economic, demographic and political 

conditions. The commercial real estate market in India may particularly be dependent on market prices 

for developable land and the demand for leasing of finished offices, both of which will continue to have 

a significant impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The commercial real estate market may be affected by several factors outside our or our Managerôs 

control, such as prevailing global and local economic conditions, cyclical downturns as well as 

downturns in specific sectors where tenants occupying the assets in the Pro Forma Portfolio are 

concentrated, such as the technology, consulting and financial services sectors. Further, rising interest 

rates, increases in property taxes, changes in development regulations, zoning laws and other applicable 

regulations, political instability, acts of terrorism, natural or man-made disasters, pandemics such as 

COVID-19, reduction in the availability of financing, increases in operating costs and disruptions in 

amenities and public infrastructure may lead to a decline in demand for the Pro Forma Portfolio, which 

may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

7. A significant portion of our revenue is derived from a limited number of tenants and sectors, and 

any adverse developments affecting such tenants or sectors may have an adverse effect on our 

business, results of operations and financial condition.  

We are dependent on a limited number of tenants and sectors for a significant portion of our revenues. 

The revenues of the Initial Portfolio are concentrated, as follows: 

¶ Tenant concentration ï The 10 largest tenants accounted for 74%, 77% and 77% of the leased 

area, as of March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Of these, three tenants, Accenture, 

Tata Consultancy Services and Cognizant accounted for 17% 16% and 13%, respectively, of 

the leased area as of March 31, 2020. These three tenants are present in two of the four assets 
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of the Initial Portfolio. The 10 largest tenants accounted for 75%, 76% and 79% of the Gross 

Contracted Rentals, as of March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Of these, three tenants 

Accenture, Tata Consultancy Services and Cognizant accounted for 19% 16% and 10%, 

respectively, of the Gross Contracted Rentals as of March 31, 2020. 

¶ Sector concentration ï The tenants in the technology sector accounted for 48%, 50% and 49% 

of the leased area of the Initial Portfolio, as of March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Since Kensington is also registered as a private IT Park on SEZ land with the DoI, such 

registration requires that not less than 80% of its leases be to tenants in the technology sector. 

Further, the Ministry of Commerce and Industry and Department of Commerce have issued 

notifications to Candor Gurgaon 2, Candor Kolkata and Festus for setting up a sector-specific 

SEZ for IT and IT enabled services. Additionally, in accordance with the terms of the lease deed 

with NOIDA, SPPL Noida is required to develop Candor Techspace N1 for technology services 

only. Accordingly, the Initial Portfolio will continue to experience concentration from the 

tenants in the technology sector. Such restrictions may limit the ability of our Manager to select 

tenants from sectors outside of technology on terms that may be more favorable. A 

concentration of tenants in the technology sector may also make the Initial Portfolio more 

susceptible to fluctuations in value resulting from adverse economic or business conditions 

affecting the technology industry.  

Accordingly, our business, results of operations and financial condition and our Managerôs ability to 

make distributions to Unitholders may be adversely affected if one or more of these large tenants seek 

to prematurely terminate a majority of their lease agreements for any reason or experience a downturn 

in their business which may weaken their financial condition and result in their failure to make timely 

rental payments or result in such tenants not renewing their lease agreements. Similarly, a downturn in 

any of the sectors in which the tenants of the Initial Portfolio are concentrated and in particular, the 

technology sector may also adversely affect our business and prospects.  

If our Manager is unable to diversify the tenant base to cover new sectors, in light of the constraints 

mentioned above, we may experience significant fluctuations in revenues, which could adversely affect 

our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

8. A significant portion of our revenue is derived from leasing activities at Candor Techspace G2 and 

any adverse development relating to Candor Techspace G2 or the micro-market in which it is located 

may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.  

Our revenue from operations are derived from four assets in four micro-markets. For the financial year 

2020, the revenue from operations of Candor Kolkata (for Candor Techspace G2), SPPL Noida, Candor 

Kolkata (for Candor Techspace K1) and Festus accounted for 42.7%, 13.8%, 23.5% and 16.9% of the 

combined revenue from operations, respectively. As a result, Candor Techspace G2 is a significant 

contributor to our revenue from operations and should there be any adverse development relating to 

Candor Techspace G2 or in Gurugram North, the micro-market in which it is located, our business, 

revenue from operations and cash flows and our Managerôs ability to make distributions to Unitholders 

may be adversely affected. Further, until our Manager is able to further diversify our portfolio by adding 

new assets across various micro-markets, we may continue to experience significant dependence of our 

revenues from operations from leasing activities at Candor Techspace G2. 

9. We have no operating history and may not be able to operate our business successfully, achieve our 

business objectives or generate sufficient cash flows to make or sustain distributions. Further, the 

Condensed Combined Financial Statements included in this Draft Offer Document may not 

accurately reflect our future financial position, results of operation and cash flows.  

The Brookfield REIT was settled as a contributory, irrevocable and determinate trust, under the 

provisions of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, on July 17, 2020 and registered with SEBI as a REIT on 

September 14, 2020. We propose to acquire the Portfolio Companies pursuant to the Formation 

Transactions, and while most of our Asset SPVs and CIOP have been in operation for several years, we 

do not have an operating history by which our performance may be judged. We are subject to business 

risks and uncertainties associated with any new business enterprise formed through a combination of 

existing business enterprises. Accordingly, our Manager cannot assure you that we will be able to operate 

our business successfully or profitably or achieve our investment objectives as described in this Draft 

Offer Document. 
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The Condensed Combined Financial Statements included in this Draft Offer Document are prepared by 

combining the historical financial data of the Portfolio Companies, as required under the REIT 

Regulations and have been prepared on the assumption that the Portfolio Companies will be acquired 

pursuant to the Formation Transactions. For the purpose of this Draft Offer Document, the Condensed 

Combined Financial Statements have been prepared in order to present the financial position, results of 

operations and cash flows of the Portfolio Companies, on a combined historical basis, as of and for the 

financial years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 and do not necessarily represent the financial 

position, results of operations and cash flows had we been in existence and if we had operated under a 

common management during the periods presented. As a result, our Manager cannot assure you that our 

future performance will be consistent with the historical financial performance included elsewhere in this 

Draft Offer Document. For details, see ñAnnexure A ï Proforma Financial Informationò beginning on 

page 490.  

Further, the audit report on the Condensed Combined Financial Statements includes a qualification and 

certain emphasis of matters. For details, see ñFinancial Information of the Brookfield REITò on page 

411. We cannot assure you that our audit reports in the future will not have qualifications or emphasis of 

matters.  

10. The Proforma Financial Statements and operational information about the Pro Forma Portfolio 

included in this Draft Offer Document may not accurately reflect our future financial results of 

operations and business.  

This Draft Offer Document contains the Proforma Financial Statements, which have been prepared to 

reflect the probable impact of the acquisition of either or both of the Call Option SPVs by us. The 

Proforma Financial Statements address a hypothetical situation and do not represent our actual 

consolidated financial results and are not intended to be indicative of its future results of operations. The 

Proforma Financial Statements have been prepared to show retrospectively the main effects of the 

acquisition of either or both of the Call Option SPVs on our balance sheet as at March 31, 2020 and on 

our statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2020 as if such transactions had taken place 

at April 1, 2019.  

In addition, we have presented certain operational information about the Pro Forma Portfolio in this Draft 

Offer Document, which assumes the completion of the acquisition of both the Call Option SPVs. Some 

of this information relates to the period prior to the periods for which financial information has been 

included in this Draft Offer Document and limited reliance should be placed on such information. 

Further, as this proforma financial and operational information is prepared for illustrative purposes only, 

it is, by its nature, subject to change and may not give an accurate picture of the actual financial results 

of operations or operational results that would have occurred had such transactions been effected by us 

on the dates they are assumed to have been effected, and is not intended to be indicative of the future 

financial results of operations or operational information. Further, this proforma financial and operational 

information has been included on the assumption of the acquisition of 100% of the Call Option SPVs 

and does not account for any disposals or divestments which may occur prior in the Call Option SPVs or 

the Call Option Assets to the actual date of acquisition of the Call Option SPVs, as per the terms of the 

Call Option Agreements. In addition, the Proforma Financial Statements have not been prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or U.S. GAAP. 

Further, the rules and regulations related to the preparation of proforma financial information in other 

jurisdictions may vary significantly from the basis of preparation as set out in the Proforma Financial 

Statements included in this Draft Offer Document. Therefore, the Proforma Financial Statements should 

not be relied upon as if it has been prepared in accordance with those standards and practices. If the 

various assumptions underlying the preparation of the Proforma Financial Statements do not come to 

pass, our actual results could be different from those indicated in the Proforma Financial Statements. For 

details, please see ñProforma Financial Informationò beginning on page 479.  

We have also included the Special Purpose Condensed Financial Statements of the Call Option SPVs in 

this Draft Offer Document for the financial years 2020, 2019 and 2018, which have not been restated (to 

retrospectively apply certain Ind AS adjustments) and accordingly cannot be compared with the 

Condensed Combined Financial Statements. For details on the Special Purpose Condensed Financial 

Statements, please see ñAnnexure A ï Proforma Financial Informationò beginning on page 490. 

11. The Call Option Agreements proposed to be entered into by us are subject to various terms and 

conditions and our Manager cannot assure you that we will be able to acquire the Call Option 
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Properties in a timely manner, or at all.  

In this Draft Offer Document, we have included descriptions of the Call Option Properties, Proforma 

Financial Statements showing the effect of the acquisition of either or both of the Call Option SPVs by 

us and certain operational information in relation to the Call Option Properties. We intend to enter into 

the Call Option Agreements whereby the shareholders of the Call Option SPVs propose to grant us an 

option to buy and to require the shareholders of the Call Option SPVs to sell to us 100% of the issued 

and paid up equity share capital and convertible securities of the Call Option SPVs. However, the 

exercise and completion of this call option is subject to various conditions including the Call Option 

SPVs carrying on their business in the ordinary course and not ceasing to be an eligible SPV under the 

REIT Regulations, the purchase consideration and mode of discharge of such purchase consideration 

being determined in accordance with the mechanism set out in the Call Option Agreements.  

The eventual cost of acquisition under the Call Option Agreements will be determined at the time of 

the exercise of the call options and is subject to the thresholds set out under the REIT Regulations. 

Further, our Manager cannot assure you that it could not have achieved more favorable terms if the 

transactions were not entered into with related parties. In the event that the Brookfield REIT offers a 

mode of discharge for purchase consideration either by way of issuance of Units or through a 

combination of issuance of Units and payment of cash, then shareholders of the Call Option SPVs shall 

have the option to reject the proposal. If the shareholders of the Call Option SPVs reject such proposal, 

then the Brookfield REIT shall have the right to offer a revised proposal through payment in cash unless 

agreed upon otherwise between the Brookfield REIT and the shareholders of the Call Option SPVs, 

failing which the respective Call Option Agreements shall stand terminated automatically with 

immediate effect. Consequently, we will cease to have the ability to acquire the relevant Call Option 

SPV or Call Option Property, which may impact our projected growth and income. Further, our 

Manager cannot assure you of the availability of funds required to undertake the proposed acquisitions, 

within the timelines set out under the Call Option Agreements, or at all. 

Additionally, the consummation of the Call Option Agreements may also be subject to us and the Call 

Option SPVs obtaining various prior regulatory approvals, including from authorities such as the BoA 

and CCI, each as applicable. Our Manager cannot assure you that such approvals will be obtained in 

time, or at all, or that the approvals will be provided without the stipulation of conditions, which may 

be onerous in nature. 

In the event the rights granted to us under the Call Option Agreements are not exercised or the 

conditions precedent to exercising such rights are not fulfilled, each within the timeframe stipulated in 

such agreements, then the Call Option Agreements shall stand terminated automatically. Further, the 

Call Option Agreements shall stand automatically terminated due to, among other things, failure to list 

the Brookfield REIT on a recognized stock exchange in India on or prior to September 30, 2021, or the 

Brookfield Group ceasing to control (as defined in the Call Option Agreements) the manager of the 

Brookfield REIT. While this Draft Offer Document includes descriptions of the Call Option Properties 

and proforma financial and operational information in relation to the Call Option Properties, on the 

assumption that the Call Option SPVs, in their current state, shall be successfully acquired by the 

Brookfield REIT within the timelines agreed under the Call Option Agreements, our Manager cannot 

assure you that we will be able to exercise such rights in a timely manner, or at all. For further details 

on the Call Option Agreements, see ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactionsò beginning on page 

174. 

12. The ROFO Agreements to be entered into by us are subject to various terms and conditions and our 

Manager cannot assure you that we will be able to consummate such transactions in a timely manner, 

or at all. 

Under the ROFO Agreements, we have the right to acquire (a) the shareholding of the members of 

Brookfield (ñSellersò) in the ROFO Companies (ñROFO Assetsò); and (b) the identified asset i.e. the 

units held by Vrihis, a ROFO Company, in óJet Airways Godrej BKCô situated in the Bandra Kurla 

Complex (one of the ROFO Properties) (ñIdentified ROFO Assetò) in the event the Seller decides to 

sell or transfer the ROFO Assets or Vrihis decides to sell the Identified ROFO Asset for an amount 

equal to or greater than the threshold consideration set out in the ROFO Agreement with Vrihis to any 

third party during the term of the respective ROFO Agreements. Our Manager cannot assure you that 

the terms of the offer made by us will be acceptable to the Sellers or Vrihis, as applicable, and we will 

be able to successfully acquire the ROFO Assets or the Identified ROFO Asset. Further, there can be 
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no assurance that the ROFO Companies will qualify as eligible SPVs under the REIT Regulations at 

the time of the sale or transfer the ROFO Assets. 

The eventual cost of the acquisition the ROFO Assets will be subject to the thresholds set out under the 

REIT Regulations. Further, our Manager cannot assure you that it could not achieve more favorable 

terms if such transactions were not entered into with related parties.  

Additionally, the consummation of the ROFO Agreements may also be subject to us and the ROFO 

Companies obtaining various prior regulatory approvals. Our Manager cannot assure you that such 

approvals will be obtained in time, or at all, or that the approvals will be provided without the stipulation 

of conditions, which may be onerous in nature. 

The ROFO Agreements shall stand automatically terminated due to, among other things, failure to list 

the Brookfield REIT on a recognized stock exchange in India on or prior to September 30, 2021, or the 

Brookfield Group ceasing to control (as defined in the ROFO Agreements) the manager of the 

Brookfield REIT and failure on part of the Brookfield REIT to complete the acquisition of the ROFO 

Companies or the Identified ROFO Asset in accordance with the timelines specified under the ROFO 

Agreements. Our Manager cannot assure you that we will be able to exercise such rights and that such 

rights will be exercised by us in a timely manner, or at all. For further details on the ROFO Agreements, 

see ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactionsò beginning on page 174. 

13. Our dependence on rental income may adversely affect our profitability, ability to meet debt and 

other financial obligations and our Managerôs ability to make distributions to Unitholders.  

Almost all of our income is rental income from the Initial Portfolio and as a result, our performance and 

business including our ability to service our debt obligations depends on the collection of rent from 

tenants in a timely manner. Our income and cash flows for distributions to Unitholders would be 

adversely affected if a significant number of tenants, or any of the large tenants, among other things, (i) 

fail to make rental payments when due, (ii) fail to renew the letter of approval granted by SEZ authorities, 

where applicable; (iii) decline to extend or renew lease agreements, upon expiration, (iv) prematurely 

terminate the lease agreement, without cause (including termination during the lock-in period), or (v) 

declare bankruptcy. Any of these actions may result in a significant loss of rental income. In such 

circumstances, our Manager cannot assure you that it will be able to rent out such area on commercially 

beneficial terms, or at all. Further, if a significant number of tenants or any of the large tenants seek to 

renegotiate key terms of their lease agreements, especially in relation to rent escalation and maintenance 

costs, it may reduce our income and cash flows for distributions.  

Generally, lease rentals from our Asset SPVs are charged to lenders towards repayment of amounts 

borrowed from such lenders. For further details, see ñFinancial Indebtednessò beginning on page 232. 

In case of termination of the lease agreements, the relevant Asset SPV may be required to make alternate 

arrangements to discharge its payment obligations to the lenders, failing which our Asset SPVs could be 

in breach of the concerned facility agreements.  

Further, under certain lease agreements, our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs may provide an 

exclusive option to the tenants, for a specified period of time, to lease contiguous premises in addition to 

the demised premises. During such period, the tenants are not liable to pay any rent or other consideration 

for the contiguous premises and our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs are required to hold such 

premises in reserve for the tenants and not offer the premises to any third party till the expiry of such 

period. Additionally, our Asset SPVs may grant the right of first refusal to certain tenants, for a limited 

period of time, over additional premises of our Asset SPVs before an opportunity to lease is given to 

third parties. In case these rights are granted to tenants, our Manager cannot assure you that the tenants 

will exercise such rights within the prescribed timelines, which may lead to a loss of revenue for our 

Asset SPVs and/or the Call Option SPVs for such period during which the premises remain vacant. Our 

Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs may also enter into pre-committed lease arrangements with 

potential tenants and any changes to, or delay in the execution of the final lease agreements may 

adversely affect our results of operations.  

In addition, in a few instances, our Asset SPVs enter into lease agreements wherein they are required to 

undertake certain fit out and interior works, or obtain occupancy certificates or rent permissions from the 

concerned authorities for the premises prior to handing over the premises to tenants. In the event of any 

delay in obtaining occupancy certificates or rent permissions or any breakdown or damage to the 
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premises resulting in failure of the tenants to carry out their operations, the concerned Asset SPV is 

required to provide rent-free days or percentage deduction in the rent to the tenants till the cure of such 

delay, which in turn could adversely affect the revenues of the concerned Asset SPV. Additionally, in 

certain cases, the tenants also have a right to terminate the arrangement in case of delay in providing 

critical services such as power back up, air conditioning and lift services exceeds the agreed timelines. 

Any such instances may affect our business, results of operations and cash flows. 

14. Our Manager cannot assure you that it will be able to successfully complete future acquisitions or 

efficiently manage the assets that we may acquire in the future. Further, any future acquisitions may 

be subject to acquisition related risks.  

Our growth strategy in the future may involve strategic acquisitions of commercial properties and other 

assets, including pursuant to the Call Option Agreements and the ROFO Agreements for acquisition of 

entities owned by the members of Brookfield. For details of these Call Option Agreements and ROFO 

Agreements, see ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactionsò beginning on page 174.  

Our Manager will continue to evaluate potential acquisition opportunities which would further our 

strategic objectives. However, our Manager may not be able to identify suitable properties, consummate 

transactions on terms that are commercially acceptable to us, or achieve expected returns and other 

benefits from acquired properties. We may also face active competition in acquiring suitable and 

attractive properties from other investors, including other REITs, property developers, sovereign wealth 

funds and private investment funds which may result in competitive pricing of the target property or 

the inability to acquire the target property. Our Manager cannot assure you that we will be able to 

compete effectively against such entities and the ability of our Manager to make acquisitions in 

accordance with such strategy may be adversely affected. 

Any future acquisitions or investments may require significant capital and may expose us to potential 

risks, including risks associated with undisclosed disputes, non-compliance with applicable laws, 

incurring additional debt, risks that acquired properties will not achieve anticipated profitability and an 

inability of the acquired property to generate sufficient potential revenue in the future to offset the costs 

and expenses of the acquisition. If an acquisition is unsuccessful, we may lose the value of our 

investment, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The REIT Regulations also prescribe minimum holding period requirements in relation to acquisitions 

made by a REIT. Future acquisitions may cause disruptions to our operations and divert our Managerôs 

attention away from day-to-day operations. Newly acquired properties may require significant attention 

of our Manager and resources that would otherwise be devoted to the ongoing business. Also, the 

synergies or efficiencies from such acquisitions may take longer than expected to be achieved or may 

not be achieved at all.  

In addition to compliance with the provisions of the REIT Regulations, due to its Sponsor and Manager 

not being Indian owned and controlled, any future investment by us in holding companies or SPVs may 

also be subject to the investment conditions prescribed under the extant foreign exchange regulations 

for investment in real estate. 

Further, future acquisitions may require various regulatory approvals, including approvals from local 

development and regulatory authorities, prior to undertaking such transactions. Our Manager cannot 

assure you that it will receive the necessary approvals to consummate such transactions in the required 

time period or at all.  

Future acquisitions may also be subject to acquisition related risks of having both known and unknown 

liabilities. In case a liability in relation to the ownership of the acquired property is raised against us, 

we may have to pay amounts to settle such claims, which could adversely affect our cash flows.  

Our Managerôs ability to undertake any future acquisition will depend on our ability to raise further 

funds from investors through a fresh issue of Units and/or to raise debt financing, or through such other 

means of funding as permitted under the REIT Regulations and the extant foreign exchange regulations, 

which will be subject to the leverage ratios prescribed under the REIT Regulations and other applicable 

laws. For risks in relation to restrictions on sources of funding, see ñ- Our Manager may not be able to 

successfully meet working capital or capital expenditure requirements of the Initial Portfolioò 

beginning on page 53. 
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15. There can be no assurance that the Under Construction Area or Future Development Potential will 

be completed in its entirety in accordance with anticipated timelines or cost, or that we will achieve 

the results expected from such projects, which may adversely affect our reputation, business, results 

of operations and financial condition.  

Our Initial Portfolio has Under Construction Area of 0.6 msf and Future Development Potential of 3.6 

msf, as of March 31, 2020. The Pro Forma Portfolio has Under Construction Area of 2.3 msf and Future 

Development Potential of 4.5 msf as of the same date. Completion of such projects involves incurring 

substantial time and costs and is subject to a number of factors. These factors include increases in prices 

and shortages of (i) equipment, technical skills and labor; and (ii) construction materials (which may 

prove defective). Further, such projects may also be affected by adverse changes in the regulatory 

environment, weather conditions and risks associated with third party service providers. There could 

also be a delay in obtaining the requisite approvals and permits from the relevant authorities and other 

unforeseeable problems and circumstances, such as the conditions prevailing on account of the COVID-

19 pandemic. We may also be required to purchase additional FSI or FAR from third parties or make 

applications to governmental authorities for such additional FSI or FAR in order to undertake the 

proposed construction. Any of these factors may lead to delays in, or prevent the completion of, the 

Under Construction Area or Future Development Potential and may result in any of the following: 

¶ costs substantially exceeding those originally budgeted for; 

¶ the projected returns of such project not being met; 

¶ dissatisfaction among the tenants, resulting in potential adverse action by them, or any 

consequent negative publicity or decreased demand; 

¶ key underlying approvals terminating or expiring; 

¶ the incurrence penalties from statutory or governmental authorities for any delay in the 

completion of the proposed property development; or 

¶ liability for penalties under the terms of pre-committed or other agreements with tenants.  

Any of these circumstances could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial 

condition and may result in us not meeting the Projections set out in this Draft Offer Document. 

Continued delays in the completion of the construction of projects will also adversely affect our 

reputation.  

16. Our Manager may be unable to renew lease agreements or lease vacant area on favorable terms or 

at all, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.  

Our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs have entered into lease agreements with their respective 

tenants for terms that generally extend from three to 15 years. Leases and rent agreements with tenants 

of the assets may expire in the near future and may not be renewed by such tenants. Certain tenants with 

presence across multiple assets may also decide to move out of some or all of their leased area including 

due to the COVID-19 pandemic. If any of these events occur, our Manager may face delays in finding 

suitable replacements, which could result in vacant premises and have an adverse effect on our business, 

results of operations and cash flows. 

Under the lease agreements, the tenants are generally required to furnish an interest free, refundable 

security deposit. Upon the expiry or termination of such agreements, the relevant Asset SPVs or Call 

Option SPVs are required to refund such deposits to the tenants, subject to deductions, as applicable. In 

the event of any failure or delay in refunding such security deposits, our Asset SPVs and the Call Option 

SPVs are required to pay additional interest to the tenants that typically range from 12% to 18% on such 

deposits and hence such refunds could temporarily impact the liquidity of such Asset SPVs or Call Option 

SPVs. Further, any default by a tenant prior to the expiry of a lease agreement may result in deductions 

in, or forfeiture of, its security deposit. The quantum of deduction or forfeiture may also be contested by 

the concerned tenants, which may eventually impact the ability of our Asset SPV or the Call Option 

SPVs to take possession of the property in question. Legal disputes, if filed by our Manager on our behalf, 

our Asset SPVs or the Call Option SPVs in this regard, may take time to resolve and involve expenses if 

they become the subject of court proceedings and their outcome may be uncertain.  
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Further, the renewal process of the lease agreements with existing tenants may involve delay in execution 

and registration of such agreements, resulting in the tenants being in possession of units without 

enforceable legal documents for a limited period, which may limit our ability or the ability of our 

Manager to enforce the terms of such agreements in a court of law during such period. We and the Call 

Option SPVs may be subject to dispute or litigation on account of non-compliance by any party of the 

terms of such agreements which may have a negative impact on our reputation and operations.  

Generally, our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs also enter into pre-committed lease arrangements 

for our under-construction properties with prospective tenants and any changes to or delay in execution 

or non-execution of the final lease agreements may adversely affect our business, results of operations 

and cash flows. Further, as per the terms of some of the existing agreements, our Asset SPVs may not be 

permitted to lease floors in the same premises to the competitors of the lessee. As a result, if vacancies 

continue for a longer period than expected, it would have an adverse effect on our results of operations 

and financial condition.  

In the event of a termination of a lease by the lessor, tenants may also seek statutory protection or take 

legal action against eviction. For example, at Kensington, tenants that are private limited companies or 

public limited companies with a paid up share capital of less than 10 million, could claim protection 

from wrongful eviction under the Maharashtra Rent Control Act, 1999 (ñMRC Actò).  

In the past, there has been an instance where tenants have sought legal protection against eviction 

proceedings. For details, see ñ-Majority of the assets in the Pro Forma Portfolio are located on land 

notified as SEZs and a few are registered as private IT parks and the relevant Asset SPVs and Call 

Option SPVs are required to comply with the SEZ Act and the rules made thereunder along with their 

respective conditions of registration as private IT parksò on page 50. In the event there are similar tenant 

claims against eviction including those under the MRC Act or any other statute or court order, it may 

result in legal disputes and the rentals during that period being limited, which in turn could adversely 

affect our results of operations and cash flows. 

17. The actual rent received for the assets may be less than the Leasing Rent or the market rent and we 

may experience a decline in realized rent rates from time to time, which may adversely affect our 

business, results of operations, cash flows and distributions.  

In this Draft Offer Document, our Manager has made certain comparisons between in-place rents, 

Leasing Rent and market rents for the office parks. On account of a variety of factors, including 

competitive pricing pressure in the markets in which the office parks are located, changing market 

dynamics including demand and supply, a general economic downturn, the potential impact of the 

ongoing COVID-19 pandemic resulting in deferred or reduced rent collection and the desirability of the 

office parks compared to other properties in the markets and micro-markets in which the office parks are 

located, our Manager may be unable to realize the estimated market rents across the office parks at the 

time of future leasing. In addition, the degree of discrepancy between the asking rents and the actual rents 

our Manager is able to obtain may vary both from office park to office park and among different tenants 

within a single office park. If our Manager is unable to obtain competitive rent rates across the office 

parks, our ability to grow our cash flows and make distributions to Unitholders could be adversely 

affected. In addition, depending on market rent rates at any given time, rent rates for expiring leases may 

be higher than the starting rent rates for new leases. 

18. Recent disruptions in the financial markets and current economic conditions could adversely affect 

the ability of our Manager to service existing indebtedness. We may also require additional debt 

financing in order to continue to grow our business, which may not be available on acceptable terms, 

or at all. 

The capital and credit markets have been experiencing volatility and disruption. Liquidity in the credit 

markets has been constrained due to market disruptions, including due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 

which may make it costly to obtain new lines of credit or refinance existing debt. As a result of the 

ongoing credit market turmoil, our Manager may not be able to refinance the existing indebtedness or 

obtain additional financing on acceptable terms. As of July 31, 2020, our total outstanding indebtedness 

was 56,289.43 million (excluding CCDs issued to Brookfield). For more information, please see 

ñFinancial Indebtednessò on page 232. Our Manager may also be required to raise additional debt 

financing for acquisitions under the Call Option Agreements and the ROFO Agreements and the ability 

of our Manager to obtain such additional debt financing on acceptable terms is subject to several 
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uncertainties, including:  

¶ investorsô or lendersô perception of, and demand for the office parks;  

¶ our future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows; 

¶ the extant foreign exchange regulations in India, which do not permit leveraging funds from the 

domestic market for undertaking downstream investments; 

¶ the prevailing economic, political and other conditions; and  

¶ governmental policies concerning REITs.  

Any downgrade in our or Indiaôs credit rating could also increase borrowing costs and any such 

downgrade could increase the probability that our lenders may impose additional terms and conditions 

to any financing or refinancing arrangements that are entered into in the future and adversely affect our 

business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

19. The Brookfield REIT, our Asset SPVs, CIOP, our Manager and our Sponsor have entered into 

several related party transactions, which could potentially pose a conflict of interest.  

The Brookfield REIT, our Asset SPVs and CIOP have entered and will enter into transactions either 

inter-se or with related parties, including our Manager, our Sponsor and their respective affiliates and 

our Sponsor Group, pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Call Option Agreements, 

the ROFO Agreements, the Candor Amended and Restated Service Agreement, the Candor Amended 

and Restated Transition, Operations and Maintenance Agreements, Services Agreement, Shareholder 

Debt Documentation, the Trade-mark Sublicense Agreement, Candor Trademark Agreement and the 

Share Acquisition Agreements, the terms of which may be deemed to not be as favorable to us as those 

negotiated between unaffiliated third parties. These transactions relate to, among others, the 

management of our Asset SPVs, maintenance of the assets in the Initial Portfolio, and loans and 

advances to be made by the Brookfield REIT to our Asset SPVs. The transactions with related parties 

that have been entered into may have involved, and any future transactions could potentially involve, 

conflicts of interest, and it may be deemed that we could have achieved more favorable terms had such 

transactions been entered into with unaffiliated third parties. For details, see ñManagement Frameworkò 

and ñRelated Party Transactionsò beginning on pages 197 and 221.  

Certain of our service providers or their affiliates (including accountants, administrators, lenders, 

brokers, attorneys, consultants, title agents, property managers and investment or commercial banking 

firms) may also provide goods or services to or have business or other relationships with Brookfield 

and payments by us to such service providers may indirectly benefit Brookfield. For example, our 

Manager, which is a part of Brookfield, provides real estate operating services to CIOP, which in turn 

carries out property management and facility management for the Initial Portfolio, and our Manager 

receives and will continue to receive fees from CIOP for such services. In certain circumstances, service 

providers, or their affiliates, may charge different rates or have different arrangements for services 

provided to Brookfield entities as compared to services provided to us, which in certain circumstances 

may result in more favorable rates or arrangements than those payable by us. In addition, in instances 

where multiple businesses of Brookfield may be exploring a potential individual investment, certain of 

these service providers may choose to be engaged by other members of Brookfield rather than us. Our 

Manager may also provide property management and facility management services to other members 

of Brookfield. These relationships may influence us and our Manager in deciding whether to select or 

recommend such a service provider to perform such services for us or an Asset SPV (the cost of which 

will generally be borne directly or indirectly by us or such Asset SPV, as applicable).  

Additionally, in determining whether to invest in a particular property on our behalf, our Manager may 

consider the long-term relationships of Brookfield with third parties, which may result in certain 

transactions not being undertaken by our Manager in view of such relationships. Further certain 

properties owned by us may be leased out to tenants that are part of Brookfield, which could give rise 

to a conflict of interest. 

Our Manager may hire employees from Brookfield and such employees may also work on other projects 

of Brookfield, and therefore, conflicts may arise in the allocation of the employees and the employeesô 
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time.  

Also, it is likely that our Manager will enter into additional related party transactions in the ordinary 

course of business. Such transactions, individually or in aggregate, could lead to a further perception of 

conflict of interest. For more information regarding the related party transactions, see ñRelated Party 

Transactionsò beginning on page 221. 

The REIT Regulations specify the procedure to be followed for undertaking related party transactions. 

Our Manager has set in place the policy on related party transactions and conflict of interest to mitigate 

potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements and contractual restrictions 

may, from time to time, reduce the synergies across our Managerôs various businesses that we expect 

to draw on for purposes of pursuing attractive investment opportunities. For details on the policy, see 

ñRelated Party Transactionsò beginning on page 221.  

20. Our actual results may be materially different from the expectations express or implied, or 

Projections included, in this Draft Offer Document.  

In view of the REIT Regulations, this Draft Offer Document includes certain forward-looking statements, 

such as Projections, expectations, plans and analysis of the Projections, as set out in the section 

ñProjectionsò beginning on page 272. Certain assumptions have been made regarding our and the Call 

Option Propertiesô future financial and operating performance, including but not limited to the 

construction costs and completion timelines of Under Construction Area and similarly on renovation and 

maintenance projects. It has been assumed that all projects will be completed and become operational 

and income generating within the timelines described in the Projections and our and the Call Option 

Propertiesô completed and income generating assets will continue to operate at the current or estimated 

levels. The projections report also assumes that upon the consummation of the call option under the Call 

Option Agreements, the entire property management services which are presently being provided by 

MIOP to the Call Option SPVs, shall continue to be provided by CIOP to the Call Option SPVs, under 

the same terms as the existing property management agreements. For further details, please see 

ñManagement Framework - Current Management Framework of the Call Option Propertiesò beginning 

on page 200. In case the assumptions are not satisfied, the associated revenue from operations, profit and 

cash flows would need to be revised accordingly. Hence, the revenue from operations, EBITDA, NOI 

and cash flows are only estimates and there can be no assurance from our Manager on any of these 

parameters. For details, see ñï There can be no assurance that the Under Construction Area or Future 

Development Potential will be completed in its entirety in accordance with anticipated timelines or cost, 

or that we will achieve the results expected from such projects, which may adversely affect our 

reputation, business, results of operations and financial conditionò beginning on page 41. 

There continue to be limitations associated with the Projections even though the calculations are based 

on historical performance metrics and certain other assumptions in the Projections. Also, given that 

EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, NOI, NOI Margin and NDCF are non-GAAP measures and are not defined 

in the Ind AS or IFRS, they are not to be considered as substitutes for the defined operating performance 

metrics such as revenue from operations, net income or cash flow from operations or related margins or 

other measures of operating performance, liquidity or ability to pay dividends.  

In addition, in preparing the Projections, our Manager has assumed the finance costs. Our Manager has, 

inter alia, assumed that net debt of our Asset SPVs as of March 31, 2020 is replaced with shareholder 

debt financed via proceeds from the offer and external debt raised by the Brookfield REIT at the SPV 

level with effect from April 1, 2020 and construction and major upgrade needs have been assumed to be 

financed by additional external debt raised at the SPV level. 

Given that future performance is based on assumptions, there could be uncertainties and contingencies, 

which could adversely affect our Managerôs ability to achieve the Projections. Our Manager cannot 

assure you that the assumptions will be realized and the actual revenue from operations, EBITDA and 

cash flows from operating activities, Market Value, NOI and NDCF will be as projected. The Projections 

for FY2021, FY2022 and FY2023 are derived assuming post Offer capital structure and corporate 

structure as if it were in existence since April 1, 2020. The post Offer capital structure impacts EBITDA, 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities, and NDCF. 

The independent auditors report on the examination of Projections of Revenue from Operations and Cash 

Flow from Operating Activities, contains the following restrictions: ñOur work has not been carried out 
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in accordance with auditing or other standards or practices accepted in jurisdictions outside India, 

including the United States of America, and accordingly should not be relied upon as if it had been carried 

upon in accordance with those standards and practices. US securities regulations do not require profit 

forecast to be reported by a third party. This report should not be relied upon by prospective investors in 

the United States of America, including persons who are qualified institutional buyers as defined under 

Rule 144A under the United States Securities Act of 1933 participating in the Offering. We accept no 

responsibility and deny any liability to any person who seeks to rely on this report and who may seek to 

make claim in connection with any offering of securities on the basis that they had acted in reliance on 

such information under the protections accorded by United States of America law and regulationò. 

21. The Valuation Report on the Pro Forma Portfolio is only indicative in nature as it is based on a set 

of assumptions and may not be representative of the true value of the Pro Forma Portfolio.  

The valuation of the Pro Forma Portfolio is based on certain assumptions relating to the nature of the 

property, its location, lease rental forecasts and valuation methodologies and these assumptions add an 

element of subjectivity to these valuations and hence may not be accurate. Our Manager cannot provide 

assurances on the accuracy of these assumptions. Further, in case a new valuer is appointed subsequent 

to the listing, our Manager cannot assure you that the set of assumptions to be used by the new valuer 

and the end result would be the same. The Valuation Report has been issued as of March 31, 2020 and 

can be accessed by the investors (as a document available for inspection) from the date of the Offer 

Document until the date of listing of the Units and only a summary of material terms of the Valuation 

Report have been included in this Draft Offer Document, which is qualified by the details in the 

Valuation Report. For details on the assumptions, disclaimers and methodology used in the Summary 

Valuation Report, see ñSummary Valuation Reportò beginning on page 633.  

Further, C&WI has provided an Independent Property Consultant Report on the Valuation Report, 

which is included in this Draft Offer Document. The Independent Property Consultant Report confirms 

that the opinions and conclusions contained in the Valuation Report are fair and reasonable. For details 

on the Independent Property Consultant Report, see ñIndependent Property Consultant Reportò 

beginning on page 661. Our Manager cannot assure you that the methodologies adopted and the 

assumptions made for issuing the Summary Valuation Report or the Independent Property Consultant 

Report are accurate, and accordingly, reflect the right valuation of the Pro Forma Portfolio. 

Valuation is an estimate and not a guarantee, and it is dependent upon the accuracy of the assumptions 

as to income, expenses and market conditions. Further, the valuation methodologies used to value the 

Pro Forma Portfolio will involve subjective judgments and projections, which may not be accurate. 

Valuation methodologies will also involve assumptions and opinions about future events (for instance, 

the tenants of the Pro Forma Portfolio will not default on their obligations under their lease agreements), 

which may turn out to be incorrect. In particular, the Summary Valuation Report assumes that 

notwithstanding the impact of COVID-19 on the commercial real estate industry, the long term demand 

for commercial real estate will remain intact, which may turn out to be incorrect. The Summary 

Valuation Report contains forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements that relate to 

future events that involve risks and uncertainties, which may cause the actual results or performance to 

be significantly different from any future results or performance expressed or implied by the forward-

looking statements. For details, see ñSummary Valuation Reportò beginning on page 633. 

The Summary Valuation Report does not purport to contain all the information that may be necessary 

or desirable to fully evaluate us or the Pro Forma Portfolio or an investment in the Units. The Summary 

Valuation Report does not confer rights or remedies upon investors or any other person, and does not 

constitute and should not be construed as any form of assurance as to the financial condition or future 

performance or as to any other forward looking statements included therein, including those relating to 

macro-economic factors, by or on behalf of our Sponsor, our Manager, the Lead Managers or us. The 

Summary Valuation Report has not been updated since the date of its issue, and does not consider any 

subsequent developments and should not be considered as a recommendation by us, our Sponsor, our 

Manager, the Lead Managers or any other party, that any person should take any action based on such 

valuation. Accordingly, investors should not rely on the Summary Valuation Report in making an 

investment decision to subscribe to or purchase Units. 

Further, valuations do not necessarily represent the price at which a real estate asset would sell, since 

market prices of assets can only be determined by negotiation between a willing buyer and seller. As 

such, the value of an asset forming part of the Portfolio may not reflect the price at which such asset 
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could be sold in the market, and the difference between value and the ultimate sales price could be 

material. Additionally, the price at which our Manager may be able to sell any of our assets in the future 

may be different from the acquisition value of such assets.  

22. We, as well as the Call Option SPVs may be subject to certain restrictive covenants under the 

financing agreements that could limit our flexibility in managing our business or to use cash or other 

assets.  

Our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs have entered into and along with the Brookfield REIT may 

enter into financing agreements with lenders, from time to time. These financing agreements generally 

include or could include certain restrictive covenants such as, obtaining prior consent from lenders for, 

among other things:  

¶ change in the capital structure; 

¶ amendment of constitutional documents;  

¶ declaration of dividends or distribution of profits;  

¶ incurring further indebtedness;  

¶ restrictions on the utilization of the loans;  

¶ undertaking any merger, de-merger, consolidation, reorganization, scheme of arrangement or 

compromise with its creditors or shareholders;  

¶ pre-pay any financial indebtedness of any other lender, entity or person; and 

¶ undertake any new project or any substantial expansion of the borrower project. 

The restrictive covenants under the financing agreements may also require the borrowers to directly 

transfer lease rentals received from tenants to a separate escrow account under the lease rental 

discounting facilities, until such time that the loan amounts are not repaid, adhere to the financial ratios, 

such as loan to valuation ratio, or pay a specific amount as penalty for prepayment of the loan. The 

aforesaid limitations may adversely affect the flexibility and ability of our Manager to operate our 

business and in turn to make distributions to the Unitholders. If we or any of our Asset SPVs or the Call 

Option SPVs fail to meet or satisfy any of the restrictive covenants, the lenders could elect to declare 

outstanding amounts due and payable, terminate their commitments, require posting of additional 

collateral and enforce their interests against existing collateral. For further details on indebtedness, see 

ñFinancial Indebtednessò beginning on page 232.  

Any failure to satisfactorily comply with any condition or covenant (including technical defaults) under 

any financing agreements or any new financing agreements that may be entered into in the future may 

lead to an event of default which may result in actions including termination of one or more of the 

financing agreements of our Asset SPVs or the Call Option SPVs or us, as applicable, acceleration of 

amounts due under such agreements, imposition of penalty interest, as well as trigger cross-defaults 

under certain other financing agreements which may result in the recalling of the loans provided under 

those financing agreements. Any of these factors could have an adverse effect on our financial 

condition, cash flows and prospects as well as our Managerôs ability to meet our payment obligations 

under our financing agreements. 

23. We have certain contingent liabilities, which if they materialize, may adversely affect our results of 

operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

As of March 31, 2020, we have certain contingent liabilities, on a combined basis, are as set out in the 

table below:  

(  in million) 

Particulars As of March 31, 2020 

Claims against the special purpose vehicles not acknowledged as debt 

in respect of income tax matters 

785.80 
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Particulars As of March 31, 2020 

Claims against the special purpose vehicles not acknowledged as debt 

in respect of indirect tax 

3.97 

Total 789.77 

 

If a significant portion of these contingent liabilities materialize, it could have an adverse effect on our 

results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. For details, see ñCondensed Combined 

Financial Statements ï Notes to accounts ï 38. Contingent Liabilities and 39. Commitmentsò beginning 

on page 459 and 460, respectively. 

24. Non-compliance with, and changes in, environmental, health and safety laws and regulations could 

adversely affect the development of the Pro Forma Portfolio and our financial condition.  

We are subject to environmental, health and safety regulations in the ordinary course of our business 

including governmental inspections, licenses and approvals of its project plans from state pollution 

control authorities. Further, our Asset SPVs as well as the Call Option SPVs are required to conduct 

environmental assessments and seek environmental clearance for their projects. Any change in 

government regulations or environment concerns that may be introduced during the development of an 

office park may result in completion delays and increased costs. We are also subject to several central 

and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment that may require the owner 

or operator of a property liable to clean-up hazardous or toxic substances at a property. Such laws often 

impose liability  irrespective of whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, any 

environmental damage or pollution and the presence of such substances or materials. The cost of 

investigation, remediation or removal of these substances may be substantial. Failure to comply with 

these laws may result in penalties or other sanctions.  

Further, environmental approvals are generally subject to ongoing compliance in the form of 

monitoring, audit and reporting norms, among others, under central environmental regulations and 

rules. Our Manager cannot assure you that all ongoing compliance or periodic filings which are required 

to be made in relation to the Pro Forma Portfolio have been made in a timely manner. Some of the 

environmental approvals may not be in place or not applied for or may have expired in the ordinary 

course of business, for which our Asset SPVs have either made applications or are in the process of 

making applications with the relevant authorities which are pending. For example, applications have 

been made (i) to obtain environmental clearance for the proposed expansion from the State Environment 

Impact Assessment Authority in relation to the proposed and ongoing construction in Candor Techspace 

K1 and Candor Techspace G1; and (ii) to obtain a single consent to operate order for the entire Candor 

Techspace K1 project from the West Bengal Pollution Control Board. Further, applications to renew 

the consent to establish with respect to Candor Gurgaon 1 and Candor Techspace K1 are yet to be made. 

Our Manager cannot assure you that such approvals will be granted in a timely manner or at all by the 

authorities. For details, see ñRegulatory Approvalsò beginning on page 363.  

Further, our Manager cannot assure you that future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose any 

environmental liability or that the current condition or status relating to the Pro Forma Portfolio will 

not be affected by changes or conditions relating to the land, operations in the vicinity of the assets or 

the activities of unrelated third parties.  

In addition, we may be required to comply with several local, state and central fire, life-safety, health 

and similar regulations. Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could result in fines 

and/or damages, suspension of personnel, civil liability or other sanctions. 

25. Our business and operations are subject to compliance with various laws, and any change in law or 

non-compliance may adversely affect our business and results of operations.  

Our business is governed by various laws and regulations, including Transfer of Property Act, 1882, 

Special Economic Zones Act, 2005, Special Economic Zone Rules, 2006, Haryana Urban Development 

Authority Act, 1977, New Town Kolkata Development Authority Act, 2007, Uttar Pradesh Industrial 

Area Development Act, 1976, Maharashtra Municipal Corporation Act, 1949 and municipal laws of 

various states. Our business could be adversely affected by uncertainty in the applicability, 

interpretation or stricter implementation of, or any amendment to, any existing laws or municipal plans, 

or promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations applicable to us. For example, the recently enacted 

Code on Wages, 2019 may increase our obligations and liabilities and require us to pay additional labor 
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cess. Also, Candor Gurgaon 1 had received demand notices for financial year 2020 from the Municipal 

Corporation, Gurugram which included arrears on the property tax along with interest on such arrears 

for the financial years 2011 to 2019 with respect to certain towers of Candor Techspace G1 owing to 

an alleged change in the classification of the asset from óIT/ ITeSô to ócommercialô and Candor Gurgaon 

1 has contended the claims made by the municipal authorities as being arbitrary. The matter is currently 

pending at the office of the Principal Secretary, Urban Local Bodies, Haryana. 

Our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs are required to comply with certain requirements under the 

MSME Act, including timely payments to the MSME vendors. Non-compliance with these 

requirements could result in imposition of penalties on our Asset SPVs and stoppage of supplies from 

the MSME vendors, which may adversely affect our business and results of operations.  

The Portfolio Companies are also required to comply with anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws 

in India and any inability on their part to detect such activities in a timely manner could subject them 

to regulatory action including imposition of fines and penalties, which may adversely affect our 

business and results of operations. For example, in February 2019, Candor Kolkata received a whistle 

blower complaint against an employee of CIOP in relation to the violation of its anti-bribery and 

corruption policy and code of conduct. Candor Kolkata appointed an independent firm to conduct an 

investigation and terminated the services of the concerned employee of CIOP on the basis of the 

investigation report.  

Additionally, our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs are also required to prepare and implement an 

environmental corporate responsibility plan and spend at least 0.25% of the total project cost or such 

percentage as may be stipulated in the environment approvals or other applicable environment 

regulations or circulars or notifications, towards activities proposed under the environmental corporate 

responsibility plan. Any failure on our part or the respective Asset SPVs or Call Option SPVs to comply 

with the above requirements could result in an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 

Further, pursuant to a judgment by the Supreme Court of India dated February 28, 2019, it was held 

that basic wages, for the purpose of the provident fund, include special allowances which are common 

for all employees (the ñJudgmentò). However, there is uncertainty with respect to the applicability of 

the Judgment and period from which the same applies. Owing to the uncertainty and pending 

clarification from the authorities, we have not recognized any provision in this regard.  

26. The laws governing REITs in India are in their early stages and relatively untested. 

The real estate sector in India including REITs are heavily regulated. The REIT Regulations comprise a 

relatively nascent and evolving set of regulations and their interpretation and enforcement by regulators 

and courts is relatively untested. Such uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or implementation 

of applicable laws and regulations to us, the Units, or debt and other securities issued by us may increase 

our compliance and legal costs in the future, thus adversely affecting our business and results of 

operations and consequently the ability of our Manager to make distributions to the Unitholders. For 

example, the FPI Regulations specify that an offshore derivative instrument may be issued overseas by 

an FPI against ñsecuritiesò held by it that are listed or proposed to be listed on any recognized stock 

exchange in India, or unlisted debt securities or securitized debt instruments. Accordingly, FPIs should 

consult their advisors in connection with the issuance of any offshore derivative instruments with Units 

as their underlying instrument. It is also uncertain whether the entire regulatory framework applicable to 

ñsecuritiesò under Indian law will apply in all cases to the units of a REIT. Further, there may be 

restrictions on the type of investors to whom we may issue debt securities, which may affect the 

marketability of such securities. In addition, the applicability of SEBI Listing Regulations, Insider 

Trading Regulations and the Takeover Regulations and the implementation thereof to REIT structures is 

evolving. Any future changes in regulations, interpretation and enforcement may also make it onerous 

for us to comply with the REIT Regulations and may reduce the attractiveness of the Units to prospective 

investors.  

27. Candor Techspace N1 and Candor Techspace N2 are located on land leased from NOIDA and are 

required to comply with the terms and conditions provided in the lease deeds, failing which NOIDA 

may terminate the lease or take over the premises. Also, our Manager may not be able to renew the 

lease with NOIDA upon its expiry or premature termination.  

Candor Techspace N1 and Candor Techspace N2 are located on land leased from NOIDA and are 
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subject to compliance with the terms and conditions stipulated in the lease deed issued in favour of 

SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida dated March 24, 2006 and May 25, 2006, respectively. SPPL Noida and 

SDPL Noida are required to comply with terms and conditions, such as land use for specific purposes, 

utilization of area as per FAR norms, completion of construction as per the approved business plans 

and milestones. Further, it is also required to obtain certificate for occupancy and permission of NOIDA 

for assignment, sub-letting and transfer of property. Additionally, SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida are 

also required to indemnify NOIDA against claims arising from, among other things, any damage to 

adjacent buildings.  

The lease deeds with NOIDA are valid for a term of 90 years, with no provision for renewal under their 

terms. In the event of termination or expiry of the lease deeds, our Manager cannot assure you that it 

will be able to renew the lease with NOIDA on terms acceptable to it or at all or procure similar premises 

at existing rates and with alike benefits and this may in turn adversely affect our business, financial 

condition and results of operations. 

Our Manager cannot guarantee that SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida will be able to satisfy all or any of 

the conditions stipulated in the lease deeds or whether they are currently in compliance with such 

conditions. While the lease deeds executed by SPPL Noida and SDPL Noida with the tenants 

specifically include the purpose for which the premises can be utilized and other terms that they would 

be required to comply with, our Manager may not regularly monitor the premises to ensure that the 

tenant complies with the terms of the lease deeds executed between them and the tenants. Any non-

compliance of the terms of the lease deeds by the tenants may in turn result in termination of SPPL 

Noida and SDPL Noidaôs lease deed with NOIDA or re-possession of the land by NOIDA or forfeiture 

of amount paid to NOIDA under the lease deed and this in turn could have an adverse impact on SPPL 

Noida and SDPL Noida, respectively, and also adversely affect our business, financial condition and 

results of operations. 

28. Our Manager may not be able to control our operating costs, or the direct expenses may remain 

constant or increase, even if income from the Initial Portfolio decreases, resulting in an adverse 

effect on our business and results of operation.  

Our business is substantially dependent on leasing of the assets in the Initial Portfolio to tenants on 

terms favorable to it. Costs associated with real estate investment, such as property tax, insurance and 

maintenance costs, are typically not reduced even when a property is not fully occupied, if rental rates 

decrease or if there are other circumstances that may cause a reduction in income from the property. 

Property taxes are especially dependent on the tax policies enacted by the Government and any 

withdrawal of tax benefits currently or subsequently enjoyed by us may adversely affect our business 

and results of operation. Generally, while the terms of the leases allow our Manager to charge tenants 

for all or a portion of expenses enumerated above, our Manager may not be able to recover such 

expenses from all tenants. Additionally, new properties that may be acquired or redeveloped may not 

produce significant revenue immediately, and the cash flow from existing operations may be 

insufficient to pay the operating expenses and principal and interest on debt associated with such 

properties until they are fully leased. 

Further, as the assets in the Initial Portfolio age, the costs of maintenance will increase and, without 

significant expenditure on refurbishment, the demand for these assets and their net gross asset value 

may decline. Consequently, the net asset value per Unit may decline unless we incur the requisite 

expenditure to successfully develop the projects under construction, undertake future development or 

acquire new assets such that they maintain our overall cash flows at the desired levels. The quality and 

design of the assets in the Initial Portfolio have a direct influence over the demand for area in, and the 

rental rates of, the Initial Portfolio. In addition, due to the fact that the assets in the Initial Portfolio are 

positioned as Grade-A properties, the costs of maintenance may be higher, and the need for rebuilding 

or refurbishment may arise more frequently in order to maintain their market position as Grade-A 

properties. Our business and operations may suffer some disruption and it may not be possible to collect 

the full or any rental income on area affected by such renovation or redevelopment works, if such works 

are extensive.  

29. This Draft Offer Document contains information from the industry report which have been 

commissioned by our Manager from C&WI in relation to the Offer. Our Manager cannot assure you 

that the statistical, financial and other industry information in the industry report is either complete 

or accurate. 
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The information in the section ñIndustry Overviewò beginning on page 76 and in certain other sections 

in this Draft Offer Document is based on the report titled ñIndia Commercial Real Estate Overviewò, 

dated September 22, 2020, prepared by C&WI. Our Manager commissioned this report for the purpose 

of inclusion of industry information in this Draft Offer Document. Neither we, the Trustee, our Sponsor, 

the Lead Managers, our Manager nor any other person connected with the Offer has verified the 

information in the report. Further, the report has been prepared based on information as of specific dates 

and may no longer be current or reflect current trends. Also, opinions in the report are based on 

estimates, projections, forecasts and assumptions and may prove to be incorrect. In particular, the report 

assumes that notwithstanding the impact of COVID-19 on the commercial real estate industry, the long 

term demand for commercial real estate will remain intact, which may turn out to be incorrect. While 

industry sources take due care and caution while preparing their reports, they do not guarantee the 

accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the data. Accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance 

on, or base their investment decision solely on this information.  

30. In case our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs are unable to obtain, maintain or renew required 

regulatory approvals and permits in a timely manner or at all, our business, results of operations and 

financial condition may be adversely affected. 

In order to operate their respective businesses, our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs require various 

approvals, licenses, registrations and permissions from the government, local bodies and other 

regulators. Regulatory approvals are generally subject to ongoing terms and conditions, and a failure to 

comply with these terms and conditions may result in an interruption of the operations of our Asset 

SPVs and the Call Option SPVs, which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of 

operations, financial condition and trading price of the Units. Our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs 

may also encounter difficulties in fulfilling the conditions precedent and conditions subsequent to the 

existing approvals or any approvals that may be required in the future. With respect to the construction 

and operation of certain buildings forming a part of the Pro Forma Portfolio, our Asset SPVs and the 

Call Option SPVs may not have obtained valid approvals from relevant authorities or there may be 

approvals which have expired and are subject to renewal on an ongoing basis. For example, the consent 

to establish as well as the environment clearance with respect to Candor Techspace K1 had expired 

while there were certain towers under construction in the past. Candor Kolkata has subsequently applied 

for a renewal of the environment clearance and will make an application to renew the consent to 

establish post receipt of the environment clearance. While Candor Kolkata has not received any notice 

from relevant authorities in this regard, regulatory action may be taken against it for undertaking 

construction of towers without a valid environmental clearance and consent to establish Our Manager 

cannot assure you that such approvals will be granted in a timely manner or at all by the authorities. For 

details, see ñRegulatory Approvalsò beginning on page 363.  

Certain of the assets in the Pro Forma Portfolio are also currently under-construction and require 

regulatory approvals before any occupation by tenants and there may be delays on the part of the 

administrative bodies in reviewing applications and granting approvals. Further, certain towers/units in 

the Pro Forma Portfolio, our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs are in the process of obtaining 

complete or partial occupancy certificates and will not be classified as ócompletedô assets under the 

REIT Regulations unless such occupancy certificates are obtained. In addition, there may be certain 

approvals such as fire NOCs which are required to be renewed on an ongoing basis by our Asset SPVs 

and the Call Option SPVs. If our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs fail to obtain or renew, or 

experience delays in obtaining or renewing, the requisite governmental approvals, or if any approvals 

are suspended or revoked, the schedule of development and consequently the potential income from the 

resultant assets, could be disrupted or impeded. For details, see ñRegulatory Approvalsò beginning on 

page 363.  

The approvals issued to our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs may be suspended or revoked in the 

event of non-compliance or alleged non-compliance with any terms or conditions thereof, or pursuant 

to any regulatory action, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and 

financial condition. 

31. Majority of the assets in the Pro Forma Portfolio are located on land notified as SEZs and a few are 

registered as private IT parks and the relevant Asset SPVs and Call Option SPVs are required to 

comply with the SEZ Act and the rules made thereunder along with their respective conditions of 

registration as private IT parks.  
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Kensington, Candor Techspace G2, a significant portion of the land on which Candor Techspace K1 is 

located, as well as Candor Techspace G1 and Candor Techspace N2 are located on land notified as 

SEZs and are required to comply with SEZ related rules and regulations. The developers and tenants in 

SEZ areas are granted several fiscal incentives including a relaxation from income tax and indirect taxes 

for a specified period of time. If such benefits are not available in the future, our business and results 

of operations may be adversely affected. For instance, under the Income Tax Act, 1961, a developer of 

a SEZ can a claim tax deduction of 100% of the profits and gains derived from such business, subject 

to certain specified conditions, for a consecutive 10 year period out of 15 years beginning from the year 

in which the SEZ is notified by the GoI. However, post the amendment introduced by way of the 

Finance Act, 2016, this tax deduction is no longer available to a developer of a SEZ if the development 

of the SEZ commences on or after 1 April 2017. 

The SEZ Act and rules require Asset SPVs and Call Option SPVs to lease units to tenants possessing a 

valid letter of approval from the SEZ authorities. Our Manager cannot assure you that letters of approval 

for all existing tenants will be renewed from time to time as required under the SEZ Act in the future. 

For example, Candor Gurgaon 2 (subsequently merged into Candor Techspace Kolkata with effect from 

May 4, 2020) filed a civil suit against one of its tenants, along with another party, alleging operation of 

business on the leased premises at Candor Techspace G2 without the letter of approval due to its 

cancellation and sought, among other things, permanent injunction against the tenants from carrying 

out any business at the leased premises, repossession of the leased premises and recovery of outstanding 

rent. However, the tenant was granted temporary injunctive relief and allowed to operate its business 

from the leased premises, subject to payment of utility bills, which were not adhered to by the tenant. 

The premises are currently lying unused. 

Additionally, we have filed applications to the Ministry of Commerce and Industry seeking approval 

for setting up special economic zones over certain additional land parcels on Candor Techspace G1 and 

Candor Techspace G2. For details on such applications, see ñRegulatory Approvalsò beginning on page 

363. Our Manager cannot assure you that the requisite approval will be granted in a timely manner or 

at all by the concerned authority. 

Further, such letters of approvals expire in the ordinary course of business and are subject to periodic 

renewals. Our Manager cannot assure you that such letters of approvals will be renewed by the tenants 

in a timely manner or at all. Our Asset SPVs or Call Option SPVs could be deemed to be in breach of 

terms of the SEZ approvals for leasing units to tenants who do not have a valid approval.  

Further, from time to time, the Ministry of Commerce and Industry prescribes certain restrictions and 

conditions for SEZs, including restrictions on transfers of land and changes in shareholding. Failure to 

comply with the relevant restrictions and conditions could result in de-notification of the SEZ status of 

the underlying land or imposition of penalties, which could adversely affect our business, results of 

operations and cash flows. 

Additionally, the permanent registration obtained by Festus from the DoI for a private IT Park at 

Kensington requires Festus to intimate and obtain an approval from the DoI for any change in its 

management. Failure to comply with such restriction could result in cancellation of the registration and 

imposition of penalties on Festus, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and 

cash flows.  

32. Our Manager and the Operational Services Provider utilize the services of certain third party 

operators to manage and operate the Initial Portfolio. Any deficiency or interruption in their services 

may adversely affect our business. 

Our Manager and the Operational Services Provider utilize and depend on the services of certain third 

party operators for the operation of the Initial Portfolio. These include services provided by accountants, 

facilities managers, architects, technical consultants and contractors. These service providers may 

further sub-contract some of the tasks assigned to them and although our Manager and the Operational 

Services Provider are required to assist and oversee the work done by such consultants and contractors, 

they have limited or no control over the services provided by such third parties. For details, see 

ñManagement Frameworkò beginning on page 197.  

Our Manager also relies on third-party service providers for certain aspects of our business, including 

for certain information systems and technology. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance 
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of these third parties, failures of their information systems and technology, or termination of these 

arrangements or other problems in the relationship with these third parties, could impair the quality of 

operations and adversely affect our reputation, operations and business.  

33. The title and development rights or other interests over land on which the Pro Forma Portfolio are 

located may be subject to legal uncertainties and defects which may have an adverse effect on our 

ability to own the assets and result in us incurring costs to remedy and cure such defects.  

The Asset SPVôs and Call Option SPVôs have been acquired by the Brookfield Group from third parties 

and the rights or title in respect of these lands may be adversely affected by improperly executed, 

unregistered or insufficiently stamped conveyance instruments in the propertyôs chain of title, 

unregistered encumbrances in favor of third parties, irregularities in the process followed by the land 

development authorities and other third parties who acquired the land or conveyed the land in favor of 

Asset SPVs or the Call Option SPVs or irregularities in the process of mutation of the land records in 

favor of our Asset SPVs or the Call Option SPVs, rights of adverse possessors, ownership claims of 

successors of prior owners, and irregularities or mismatches in record-keeping, non-issuance of public 

notice prior to acquisition, the absence of conveyance by all right holders, ownership claims of family 

members or co-owners or prior owners or other defects that our Manager may not be aware of. For 

example, Candor Techspace G2 is situated on land owned by a third party and the development and 

construction of buildings on Candor Techspace G2ôs land is governed by the G2 Co-Development 

Agreement. For further details in relation to the key terms of the joint development arrangement, see 

ñOur Business and Propertiesò. For details on risks relating to such association, please see ñ- Risks 

Related to Our Business and Industry - If our Manager is unable to maintain relationships with other 

stakeholders in the Initial Portfolio, our results of operation and financial condition may be adversely 

affectedò on page 56. While our Manager conducts due diligence and assesses land prior to acquisition 

of such land or interest in such land, obtaining title guarantees in India is challenging as title records 

provide only for presumptive rather than guaranteed title of the land. As such, these defects or 

irregularities may not be fully identified or assessed. 

Additionally, property records in India have not been fully computerized and are generally maintained 

manually with physical records of all land related documents, which are also manually updated. This 

updating process can take a significant amount of time and can result in inaccuracies or errors and 

increase the difficulty of obtaining property records and/or materially impact the ability to rely on them. 

For instance, some of the land parcels on which Candor Techspace G1 is situated have not been mutated 

in the name of Candor Gurgaon 1, and continue to be in the erstwhile name of Candor Gurgaon 1 in the 

revenue records. Further, certain original title documents with respect to Kensington are not available with 

Festus and we have relied on the copies of such documents for our review and diligence. As a result, our 

Asset SPVsô and the Call Option SPVôs title over the land that is part of the Pro Forma Portfolio in which 

we may invest may not be clear or may be in doubt. 

Candor Techspace N1 and Candor Techspace N2 are located on land leased from NOIDA. While they 

may have validly obtained such land on lease from NOIDA, our Manager cannot assure you that the prior 

acquisition of land by NOIDA will not be questioned.  

Legal disputes in respect of land title in India can take several years and can entail considerable expense 

to resolve if they become the subject of court proceedings and their outcome can be uncertain. If such 

disputes are not resolved between our Asset SPVs and the claimants and an adverse order is passed in 

respect thereof, our Asset SPVs may either lose their interest in the disputed land or may be restricted 

from further development thereon.  

Further, we have not obtained title insurance to guarantee our title rights in respect of land forming part 

of our Pro Forma Portfolio. The absence of title insurance, together with the challenges involved in 

verifying title to land, may increase our exposure to third-party claims to such land. As a result, the 

uncertainty of title to land makes acquisition and development projects more complex and may impede 

the transfer of title, expose us to legal disputes and adversely affect the valuation of the land involved. 

In addition, our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs may also face the risk of illegal encroachments 

on the land parcels owned by it or over which it has development rights. We may be required to incur 

additional costs and face delays in its project development schedule in order to clear such encroachments.  

34. We are exposed to a variety of risks associated with safety, security and crisis management.  
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We and our Manager are committed to ensuring the safety and security of our employees and assets, as 

well as those of our tenants. However, extreme weather, civil or political unrest, violence and terrorism, 

serious and organized crime, fraud, pandemics, fire and day-to-day accidents, sexual harassment at the 

workplace and petty crimes could affect the tenants in the Initial Portfolio, cause loss of life, sickness, 

injury, substantial damage to or destruction of property and equipment resulting in the suspension of 

tenant operations and result in compensation claims, fines from regulatory bodies, litigation and affect 

our reputation. In addition, physical damage to any of the assets in the Initial Portfolio resulting from 

any of the foregoing may impose unbudgeted costs on us and have an adverse impact on our results of 

operations and financial condition and ability of our Manager to make distributions to the Unitholders.  

We may also rely upon contract labor in relation to the development work undertaken at the under-

construction properties. Our Asset SPVs or our Manager may (as principal employers) become liable 

to persons working at the premises in case of any accidental death or grievous injury. Any of the 

foregoing could subject us to litigation, which may increase the expenses, if found liable, and could 

adversely affect our reputation and cause a loss of consumer confidence in our business. 

35. Our Manager may not be able to successfully meet working capital or capital expenditure 

requirements of the Initial Portfolio.  

Under the REIT Regulations, our Manager is required to distribute at least 90% of the NDCF to the 

Unitholders and such distributions are required to be declared not less than once every quarter in every 

financial year. Due to these distribution requirements, our Manager may not be able to fund future 

capital needs, including any necessary acquisition financing, from our operating cash flows.  

The Initial Portfolio may periodically require capital expenditure for refurbishments, renovations and 

improvements which may exceed current estimates and our Manager may not be able to secure 

financing for such capital expenditure, in a timely manner, or at all. In addition, our Manager also 

requires financing for completion of the Under Construction Area and Future Development Potential. 

For example, our planned capital expenditure as of March 31, 2020 was 10,028 million, primarily 

towards upgrade and construction activities for Candor Kolkata (for Candor Techspace G2 and Candor 

Techspace K1) and SPPL Noida (for Candor Techspace N1). The ability of our Manager to raise 

financing is dependent on its ability to raise capital through fresh issue of Units, raise debt on acceptable 

terms or through other means of funding permitted under the REIT Regulations and the extant foreign 

exchange regulations. The availability of funding for real estate development is influenced by several 

factors including general macroeconomic conditions, lending policies of financial institutions, demand 

for commercial real estate and rental and occupancy rates in the relevant markets. If we are unable to 

obtain adequate funding, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.  

Further, the ability of our Manager to raise additional debt is subject to the our aggregate consolidated 

borrowings and deferred payments and the Portfolio Companies not exceeding 49% of the value of our 

assets, as required under the REIT Regulations and also set out in the policy on borrowings framed 

under the REIT Regulations. For details on our borrowing policy, see ñThe Board and Management of 

our Managerò beginning on page 204. In addition, the financing of real estate projects and real estate 

business is subject to extensive regulation and supervision resulting in limited fund-raising options 

available to us.  

We may also be constrained in our ability to grant security over its land parcels and over the shares of 

our Asset SPVs in favor of our creditors. For example, in order to create a mortgage over land leased 

for SPPL Noida, we require consent of NOIDA. Further, Candor Kolkata will not be able to create 

security over the land parcel on which Candor Techspace G2 is situated, as it is owned by a third-party. 

Similarly, prior consent of NOIDA and the BoA, as applicable, will be required upon exercise of a 

security interest over shares in our Asset SPVs if invocation of such security interest will result in a 

change of control. Consequently, this may adversely affect our ability to raise debt financing which 

may in turn adversely affect our business and results of operations.  

Further, debt raised by us may not be invested in our Asset SPVs owing to regulatory restrictions. For 

example, as we would be considered a foreign owned and controlled entity under the extant foreign 

exchange regulations, we will not be permitted to leverage funds from the domestic market in order to 

make downstream investments.  

36. We do not own the trademark or logo for the ñBrookfield India Real Estate Trustò or ñBrookfield 
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India REITò and hence our inability to use or protect these intellectual property rights may have an 

adverse effect on our business and results of operations.  

We do not own the trademark or logo for the ñBrookfield India Real Estate Trustò or ñBrookfield India 

REITò. Brookfield Office Properties Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of Canada and part of 

the Brookfield Group, has pursuant to the Trade-mark Sublicense Agreement, granted a worldwide, 

non-exclusive, non-transferable and royalty-free right to the Brookfield REIT, our Manager (its 

capacity as the manager of the Brookfield REIT), the Portfolio Companies as well as any other ñspecial 

purpose vehicleò or ñholdco/ holding companyò as defined under the REIT Regulations or investment 

made by the Brookfield REIT under Regulation 18(5) of the REIT Regulations, to the licensed use of 

these trademarks and logos, amongst others. Applications for registration of the trademark and logo 

have been made by Brookfield Office Properties Inc. with the Registrar of Trademarks, the Office of 

the Trade Marks Registry. Under the Trade-mark Sublicense Agreement, this right can be terminated 

under certain circumstances, including (i) failure of the Brookfield REIT to list its Units on the 

recognised stock exchange(s) in India on or before September 30, 2021; or (ii) the Brookfield Group 

ceasing to control our Manager; or (iii) termination of the Investment Management Agreement. For 

further details on the Trade-mark Sublicense Agreement, see ñManagement Frameworkò beginning on 

page 197. 

Our Manager cannot assure you that we will continue to have uninterrupted use of these trademarks 

and logos. Upon termination of the Trade-mark Sublicense Agreement, we will be required to 

discontinue the use of the trademarks and logos. Loss of the rights to use the trademarks and the logos 

may affect our business and operations. 

Further, as the trademark and logo for ñBrookfield India Real Estate Trustò and ñBrookfield India 

REITò is pending registration, our Manager may not be able to prevent infringement of the trademark, 

and a passing off action may not provide sufficient protection. Accordingly, we may be required to 

litigate to protect the trademark and logo, which could be time consuming and expensive and may 

adversely affect our business and results of operations. 

37. We operate in a competitive environment and increased competitive pressure could adversely affect 

our business and the ability of our Manager to execute our growth strategy.  

We operate in competitive markets and competition in these markets is based primarily on the 

availability of Grade-A office premises. The principal means of competition are rent charged, location, 

services and amenities provided and the nature and condition of the premises to be leased. Competition 

from other developers in India could result in price and supply volatility which may adversely affect 

the ability of our Manager to lease the buildings in the Initial Portfolio and continued development by 

other market participants could result in saturation of the real estate market which could adversely affect 

our revenues from commercial operations, business, results of operations and financial condition. 

38. CIOP is not an Asset SPV under the REIT Regulations and as such it is not required to comply with 

the mandatory distribution requirements under the REIT Regulations.  

We will own 100% of the equity shares of CIOP and this investment will be classified as a portfolio 

investment in unlisted equity shares of a company under Regulation 18(5)(da) of the REIT Regulations. 

CIOP is not a special purpose vehicle as defined under the REIT Regulations, and accordingly the 

distribution conditions, or any other compliance requirements which are applicable to Asset SPVs under 

the REIT Regulations, shall not mandatorily be applicable to CIOP.  

39. There are outstanding litigation proceedings involving our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs, 

which may adversely affect our financial condition. 

Our Asset SPVs and the Call Option SPVs are currently involved in certain legal proceedings that are 

pending at different levels of adjudication before various courts, tribunals and appellate authorities in 

India. If any new developments arise, for example, a change in Indian law or rulings against our Asset 

SPVs or the Call Option SPVs by the courts, tribunals or appellate authorities, we may face losses and 

may have to make provisions in our financial statements, which could increase our expenses and 

liabilities. Adverse decisions in such proceedings may have an adverse effect on our business and 

financial condition. Details of these legal proceedings are set out below:  
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Name  Number  Amount involved (in  million) to 

the extent quantifiable 

Litigation against our Asset SPVs 

Tax proceedings 32 1,190.49 

Litigation against the Call Option SPVs   

Tax Proceedings 23 1,462.17 

Total 55 2,652.66 

  

For further details of these legal proceedings, see ñLegal Proceedingsò beginning on page 367. 

40. We may be subject to the Competition Act, which may require us to receive approvals from the CCI 

prior to undertaking certain transactions in the future. 

The Competition Act, 2002, as amended (ñCompetition Actò), regulates practices having an 

appreciable adverse effect on competition in the relevant market in India. The Competition Act aims 

to, among other things, prohibit all agreements and transactions which may have an appreciable adverse 

effect on competition in India. Further, the CCI has extra-territorial powers and can investigate any 

agreements, abusive conduct or combination occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or 

combination has an appreciable adverse effect on competition in India. In the event that that any of the 

assets proposed to be acquired by us in the future cross the prescribed thresholds, our Manager cannot 

assure you that we will receive the necessary approvals from the CCI to consummate such transactions. 

Any prohibition or substantial penalties levied under the Competition Act could adversely affect our 

results of operations and financial condition, which in turn may affect the ability of our Manager to 

make distributions to the Unitholders. 

41. Our Manager may not be able to maintain adequate insurance to cover all losses that we may incur.  

As of June 30, 2020, the aggregate coverage under insurance policies obtained by us were  42,721.87 

million. Our Manager maintains insurance cover on the properties and equipment in the Initial Portfolio 

in amounts believed to be consistent with the industry practice. Our insurance policies cover physical 

loss or damage to the property arising from a number of specified risks including burglary, 

housebreaking, loss or damage due to riot, fire, earthquakes and other perils. Directors and officers 

liability insurance is also maintained for all directors and officers of our Portfolio Companies. Despite 

the insurance coverage, we may not be fully insured against some business risks and the occurrence of 

accidents that cause losses in excess of limits specified under the concerned policies, or losses arising 

from events not covered by the insurance policies, which could adversely affect our business and results 

of operations. For example, we may incur a loss of revenue on account of pandemics such as COVID-

19 and such loss may not be covered by our insurance policies. Further, if a fire or natural disaster 

substantially damages or destroys some or all of the assets in the Initial Portfolio, the proceeds of any 

insurance claim may be insufficient to cover any expenses faced by us, including rebuilding costs.  

In addition, in some of the insurance policies, our Manager may not have added a third-party as 

beneficiary or taken the approval of such third parties for availing such insurance as required by 

regulations or contractual obligations, which may have an effect on the amount of insurance claim to 

be paid out. 

42. Lease agreements with some of the tenants in the Pro Forma Portfolio may not be adequately 

stamped or registered, and consequently, our Manager may be unable to successfully litigate over 

such deeds in the future and penalties may be imposed on us.  

Certain lease agreements of our Asset SPVs or the Call Option SPVs, may not be adequately stamped 

or registered. In respect of certain other lease agreements which expire in the ordinary course, our 

Manager is in the process of renewing, stamping or registering them. While failure to adequately stamp 

a document may not affect the validity of the underlying transaction, it may render the document 

inadmissible as evidence in India (unless stamped prior to enforcement with payment of requisite 

penalties, which may be up to 10 times the stamp duty payable, and other such fees that may be levied 

by the authorities). Further, documents which are insufficiently stamped are capable of being 

impounded by a public officer. Consequently, should any dispute arise in relation to the use of the 

relevant properties, we may be unable to, or may incur additional expenses to, enforce our rights in 

relation to such properties. 
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43. Our business may be adversely affected by the illiquidity of real estate investments.  

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid and such illiquidity may affect the ability of our Manager 

to alter our investment portfolio or liquidate part of our Asset SPVs. Further, under the REIT 

Regulations, a REIT is required to hold assets acquired by it for a period of three years from the date of 

purchase and in case of under-construction properties or under-construction portions of existing 

properties acquired by it, three years from the date of their completion. Further, any sale of property or 

shares of our Asset SPVs exceeding 10% of the value of our assets will require prior approval of the 

Unitholders which may affect the ability of our Manager to vary the investment portfolio or liquidate 

part of the Initial Portfolio in response to changes in economic, real estate market or other conditions. 

Further, investments made by a REIT, whose sponsor or manager is not Indian owned and controlled, 

such as ours, in the construction and development sector are subject to certain conditions, under the 

extant foreign exchange regulations. 

We may also face difficulties in securing timely and commercially favorable financing in asset-based 

lending transactions secured by real estate due to the illiquid nature of real estate assets. These factors 

could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition, with a consequential 

adverse effect on the ability of our Manager to deliver expected distributions to Unitholders. 

44. Security and IT risks may disrupt our business, result in losses or limit our growth.  

IT systems are an important part of our business and these are utilized to support business processes 

including property management, financial, accounting, communications and other data processing 

systems of our Manager, our Asset SPVs and the service providers from whom our Asset SPVs or 

Manager avail such services. Such systems may fail to operate properly or become disabled as a result 

of tampering or a breach of the network security systems or otherwise. In addition, such systems are, 

from time to time, subject to cyberattacks and security breaches, which may continue to increase in 

frequency in the future. Breaches of the network security systems could involve attacks that are intended 

to obtain unauthorized access to our proprietary information, including the data pertaining to the tenants 

or employees or destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage the systems and could originate from a 

wide variety of sources, including unknown third parties outside the firm. If such systems are 

compromised, do not operate properly or are disabled, we could suffer a financial loss, disruption in 

business and reputational damage. Additionally, we may also face penalties and/or loss of concession 

in case of non-compliance with the IT policy, of the relevant state, by the tenants occupying the 

premises in the office parks. 

In addition, our Manager is dependent on information systems and technology. The information systems 

and technology may not continue to be able to accommodate the growth in our business and the cost of 

maintaining such systems may increase in the future, including on account of the prolonged impact of 

the COVID-19 pandemic. Failure to accommodate growth, or an increase in costs related to such 

systems, could have an adverse effect on our business.  

45. If our Manager is unable to maintain relationships with other stakeholders in the Initial Portfolio, 

our results of operation and financial condition may be adversely affected.  

The operations of certain Initial Portfolio assets depend on the relationships with other partners, 

shareholders and stakeholders. For example, Candor Techspace G2 is situated on land owned by a third 

party (ñG2 Co-Developerò) and governed by the G2 Co-development Agreement. The G2 Co-

development Agreement provides that Candor Kolkata and the G2 Co-Developer have indivisible rights 

in the complex for the purposes of marketing, leasing, licensing, as well as development and operation. 

The rent, deposits, advances and other receivables are shared between Candor Kolkata and the G2 Co-

Developer as per a pre-agreed arrangement. Further, some of the approvals in relation to Candor 

Techspace G2, including the occupancy certificates, consent to establish and environmental clearances, 

are in the name of the G2 Co-Developer. Further, Candor Kolkata has entered into a binding term sheet 

dated September 21, 2020 with the G2 Co-Developer to enter into a joint development agreement 

(ñJDAò) for undertaking commercial-cum-retail development at Candor Techspace K1. The payments 

received by Candor Kolkata from GIL against this JDA are treated as non-refundable advances in the 

Projections. In the binding term sheet, the advances have been agreed to be non-refundable provided the 

development is commenced within 24 months of execution of the JDA. The execution of the JDA is 

subject to, among other matters, the completion of due diligence by the G2 Co-Developer to its 



 

57 

satisfaction, and our Manager cannot assure you that the JDA will be executed within the timelines 

contemplated under the term sheet, or at all. 

While, historically, our Asset SPVs have had good relationships with partners and other stakeholders, 

our Manager cannot assure you that the same level of relationship will be maintained in the future. Any 

deterioration of the relationship could have an adverse impact on the management of the concerned 

asset, which could adversely affect our results of operation and financial condition.  

46. We may be required to record significant charges to earnings in the future upon review of the Initial 

Portfolio for potential impairment. 

As per the Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 36: Impairment of Assets, we are required to assess 

(at the end of each reporting period) whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If 

any such indication exists, we are required to estimate the recoverable amount of the asset and record 

impairment loss when the recoverable amount is higher than the carrying value of the asset to ensure 

that the assets are carried at no more than their recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of an asset 

exceeds the amount to be recovered through the use or sale of the asset, the asset is described as impaired 

and an impairment loss is recognized. Various uncertainties, including deterioration in global economic 

conditions that result in upward changes in cost of capital, increases in cost of completion of such assets 

and the occurrence of natural disasters that impact our assets, could impact expected cash flows to be 

generated by such assets, and may result in impairment of these assets in the future. 

47. Land is subject to compulsory acquisition by the Government and compensation in lieu of such 

acquisition may be inadequate.  

The right to own a property in India is subject to restrictions that may be imposed by the Government. 

In particular, the Government, under the provisions of the Land Acquisition Act, has the right to 

compulsorily acquire any land if such acquisition is for a ñpublic purposeò in lieu of compensation to 

the owner. However, the compensation paid pursuant to such acquisition may not be adequate to 

compensate the owner for the loss of such property. The likelihood of such acquisitions may increase 

as central and state Governments seek to acquire land for the development of infrastructure projects 

such as roads, metros, railways, airports and townships. Additionally, our Manager may face difficulties 

in interpreting and complying with the provisions of the Land Acquisition Act due to limited 

jurisprudence on them or if the interpretation of our Manager differs from or contradicts any judicial 

pronouncements or clarifications issued by the Government. In the future, we may face regulatory 

actions or may be required to undertake remedial steps. Any such action in respect of any of the projects 

in which it is investing or may invest in the future may adversely affect our business, financial condition 

and results of operations.  

48. There may be conflict of interests between the Lead Managers, their respective associates or affiliates 

and our Asset SPVs, our Manager, the Trustee, Sponsor, Sponsor Group, or their respective 

associates or affiliates.  

Certain Lead Managers, their associates or affiliates are currently tenants, or may have been tenants in 

the past of our Asset SPVs and may continue to provide investment banking, financial, advisory or other 

services to our Asset SPVs, our Manager, Sponsor, Sponsor Group, their associates or affiliates. The 

Lead Managers, their associates or affiliates may also participate (including as arrangers) in financing 

arrangements by us including any debt offering after the listing of the Units. In addition, in the ordinary 

course of their commercial banking and investment banking activities, the Lead Managers, their 

respective associates or affiliates may at any time hold long or short positions, and may trade or otherwise 

effect transactions, for their own account or the accounts of their customers, in debt or equity securities 

or Units, or related derivative instruments, of the Brookfield REIT, our Asset SPVs, our Manager, 

Sponsor, Sponsor Group, any of their respective group companies, associates or affiliates. The Trustee, 

Axis Trustee Services Limited, is also an associate of Axis Capital Limited, one of the Lead Managers. 

The transactions referred to above, may influence our Managerôs decisions regarding whether to 

undertake certain transactions with the Lead Managers, their associates or affiliates. 

Risks Related to the Relationships with our Sponsor and our Manager 

49. Our Sponsor may cease to act as our sponsor in the future.  
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Our Sponsor holds [ǒ]% of the total issued and outstanding Units of the Trust, and is our sole sponsor. 

Under the REIT Regulations, the sponsor and sponsor group of a REIT are required to hold 25% of the 

units of the REIT, on a post-issue basis, for a period of three years from listing. In the event that the 

Sponsor is not able to comply with the unitholding requirements prescribed under the REIT Regulations 

for reasons including, among others, any future dilutive events such as issuance of fresh units pursuant 

to an institutional placement or preferential allotment, invocation of encumbrance over the units of the 

Sponsor and Sponsor Group, or on account of issuance of Units to a third party contributing assets to 

us in lieu of Units, we will be required to designate such additional entities to act as our sponsor or 

sponsor group, in order to ensure compliance with the lock-in Unitholding requirements prescribed 

under the REIT Regulations. Our Manager cannot assure you that we will be able to identify and 

designate an eligible sponsor group entity for the Brookfield REIT in the manner set out above, which 

may result in regulatory action against our Sponsor, our Manager or us under the REIT Regulations. 

50. We and parties associated with us are required to adhere to the eligibility conditions specified under 

Regulation 4 of the REIT Regulations as well as the certificate of registration on an ongoing basis. 

We may not be able to ensure such ongoing compliance by our Sponsor, our Manager and the 

Trustee, which could result in the cancellation of our registration. 

We are required to adhere to the eligibility conditions specified under Regulation 4 of the REIT 

Regulations on an ongoing basis. These eligibility conditions include, among other things, that (a) the 

Sponsor, Manager and the Trustee must be separate entities, (b) the Sponsor is required to have a net 

worth of not less than 1,000 million. Our Manager must have net worth of value of not less than 100 

million (d) the Trustee must be registered with SEBI under SEBI Debenture Trustee Regulations and 

must not be an associate of the Sponsor or Manager, and (e) each of the Sponsor and the Sponsor Group, 

Manager, and the Trustee must be ñfit and proper personsò as defined under Schedule II of the Securities 

and Exchange Board of India (Intermediaries) Regulations 2008 on an ongoing basis. As per the 

provisions of the REIT Regulations, the sponsor and the manager either directly or through their 

respective associate(s) are required to have not less than five years of experience in providing certain 

services such as development of real estate or fund management. The Sponsor and Manager have both 

relied on BAM to meet their respective eligibility requirements of having not less than five years 

experience in fund management in the real estate industry, and in the event of their inability to rely on 

the experience of BAM for any reason, the Sponsor and our Manager may not continue to be eligible to 

act as a sponsor and a manager, respectively. The Brookfield Property Group carries out investments, 

directly and indirectly, through Brookfield Property Partners L.P. and private funds, including its flagship 

real estate funds in the Brookfield Strategic Real Estate Partners series. BAM acts, directly or indirectly, 

as the asset manager to all the public listed vehicles and private funds in the Brookfield Group. For 

further details on the past experience of BAM, please see ñBackground of the Brookfield REIT ï Parties 

to the Brookfield REITò beginning on page 72. We may not be able to ensure such ongoing compliance 

by our Sponsor, Sponsor Group, our Manager and the Trustee, which could result in the cancellation of 

its registration.  

51. Our Sponsor and Sponsor Group will be able to exercise significant influence over certain of our 

activities and the interests of our Sponsor and Sponsor Group may conflict with the interests of other 

Unitholders. 

After the completion of the Offer, our Sponsor and Sponsor Group will own a majority of the issued 

and outstanding Units and each of them will be entitled to vote severally as Unitholders on all matters 

other than matters where there are related party restrictions (in respect of which such parties are not 

permitted to vote under the REIT Regulations). Further, members of Brookfield will hold 100% of the 

share capital of our Manager and will therefore exercise control over our Manager. Our Manager will 

also rely on our Sponsor, Sponsor Group and members of Brookfield to comply with their obligations 

under various agreements with us, including the Share Acquisition Agreements, the Call Option 

Agreements and the ROFO Agreements. In addition, our Manager expects to rely on our Sponsor 

Groupôs expertise in developing and constructing real estate projects in case of any additional work 

which may be required to be carried out for any of our Asset SPVs or other assets. The interests of our 

Sponsor and Sponsor Group may conflict with the interests of other Unitholders or with each other. See 

ñ- Conflicts of interest may arise out of common business objectives shared by our Manager, our 

Sponsor, our Sponsor Group and usò below.  

52. Conflicts of interest may arise out of common business objectives shared by our Manager, our 

Sponsor, our Sponsor Group and us. 
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Our Manager is owned and controlled by Brookfield. The Sponsor Group and their affiliates are 

engaged in a number of activities including development of commercial real estate and, therefore, may 

be interested in businesses, which directly compete with our activities and the Call Option SPVs. If 

these conflicts of interest are managed to our detriment, they could adversely affect our performance. 

In particular, we may compete with existing and future private and public investment vehicles 

established and/or managed by Brookfield, which may create differing or competing interests to ours, 

the Call Option SPVs or the Unitholders. Certain of these divisions and entities have or may have an 

investment strategy similar to our investment strategy and therefore may compete with it. In particular, 

various real estate funds and other investment vehicles of Brookfield seek to invest in a broad range of 

real estate investments. Brookfield may also receive fees as compensation for other advisory services, 

including the underwriting, syndication or refinancing of an investment or other additional fees, 

including loan servicing fees, special servicing fees, acquisition fees and administration fees. As a 

result, conflicts of interest may arise in allocating or addressing business opportunities and strategies 

among our Manager, Brookfield and us, in circumstances where our interests differs from those of our 

Manager and/or Brookfield.  

Our Manager provides property management services to other assets held by Brookfield, which are of 

a similar type as the Initial Portfolio. These assets may compete with the Initial Portfolio to attract 

tenants and/ or secure financing. Our Manager has adopted the policy on related party transactions and 

conflict of interest to mitigate such potential conflict of interest instances. For details on the policy, see 

ñRelated Party Transactionsò beginning on page 221. Consequently, there can be no assurance that all 

potentially suitable investment opportunities that come to the attention of Brookfield will be made 

available to us. Our Manager may, and may be required, by contract or otherwise, to market these other 

assets in competition with the Initial Portfolio, which may have an adverse effect on our business, 

results of operations and financial condition and our Managerôs ability to make cash distributions to 

Unitholders. 

In addition, the Trustee and/or Unitholders may not be aware of any such conflict, and even if made so 

aware, the Trustee and the Unitholdersô ability to recover claims against our Manager are limited. As a 

result, we could experience poor performance or losses for which our Manager would not be liable. See 

ñOur rights and the rights of our Unitholders to recover claims against our Manager or the Trustee are 

limitedò beginning on page 67. 

We may also from time to time dispose of all or a portion of an investment by way of a third-party 

purchaserôs bid where member(s) of Brookfield are providing financing as part of such bid or 

acquisition of the investment or underlying assets thereof. Such involvement of Brookfield thereof as 

such a provider of debt financing in connection with the potential acquisition of assets by third parties 

by us may give rise to potential or actual conflicts of interest.  

Further, we may be subject to potential conflicts of interest arising out of its relationship with our 

Sponsor, Sponsor Group and their affiliates and our Manager, and may enter into transactions with 

related parties in the future. While our Manager has implemented policies for dealing with related party 

transactions, there can be no assurance that such policies will succeed in eliminating the influence of 

any potential conflicts of interest. Also, certain employees of our Manager may be subject to conflicts 

of interest relating to their responsibilities to us and the management of its real estate portfolio. Such 

individuals may also serve other real estate investments, projects and businesses of Brookfield, which 

could create a conflict between the services and advice provided to such entities and the responsibilities 

owed to us. For the details in relating to policy in place for dealing with related party transactions and 

conflict of interest, see ñRelated Party Transactionsò beginning on page 221. We are also likely to enter 

into other related party transactions in the ordinary course of business, including any acquisitions 

pursuant to the terms of the Call Option Agreements and ROFO Agreements. For more information 

regarding related party transactions, see ñRelated Party Transactionsò beginning on page 221. 

Further, properties owned by us may be leased out to tenants that are members of Brookfield. Our 

Manager cannot assure you that it could not achieve more favorable terms if such transactions were not 

entered into with related parties. Our Manager cannot assure you that such transactions, individually or 

in the aggregate, will not have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 

53. We depend on our Manager and its personnel for its success. We may not find a suitable replacement 

for our Manager if the Investment Management Agreement is terminated or if key personnel cease 
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to be employed by our Manager or otherwise become unavailable.  

We are managed and advised by our Manager, pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management 

Agreement. For details, see ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactions - Key terms of the Investment 

Management Agreementò beginning on page 178. We cannot assure you that our Manager will remain 

our manager or that it will continue to retain Managerôs key personnel. If the Investment Management 

Agreement is terminated or if our Manager defaults in the performance of its obligations thereunder, 

we may be unable to contract with a substitute service provider on similar terms or at all, and the costs 

of substituting service providers may be substantial. In addition, our Manager is familiar with the Initial 

Portfolio and, as a result, our Manager has certain synergies with us. Substitute service providers may 

lack such synergies and may not be able to provide the same level of service. If we cannot locate a 

service provider that is able to provide us with substantially similar services as our Manager provides 

under the Investment Management Agreement on similar terms, it could have an adverse effect on our 

business, results of operations and financial condition.  

We rely on a small number of key personnel and core team, to carry out our business and investment 

strategies, and the loss of the services of any of these key personnel, or the inability of our Manager to 

recruit and retain qualified personnel in the future, could have an adverse effect on our business and 

results of operations. For further details, please see ñOur Business and Properties ï Experienced, Cycle-

Tested Senior Management Teamò, ñBrief profiles of the key personnel of our Managerò and ñBrief 

profiles of other members of the core team of our Managerò beginning on pages 127 and 219, 

respectively. 

In addition, the implementation of our business plan may require that we employ additional qualified 

personnel. Competition for highly skilled managerial, investment, financial and operational personnel 

is intense. We cannot assure you that we or our Manager will be successful in attracting and retaining 

such skilled personnel. If we or our Manager are unable to hire and retain qualified personnel as 

required, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

54. We depend on our Manager to manage our business and assets, and our business, results of 

operations and financial condition could be adversely affected if our Manager fails to perform 

satisfactorily. 

Our Manager is required to make investment decisions in respect of the underlying assets including any 

further investment or divestment of assets. For further details, see ñKey Terms of the Formation 

Transactions - Key Terms of the Investment Management Agreementò beginning on page 178. 

We cannot assure you that our Manager will be able to implement our investment decisions successfully 

or that we will be able to expand the Initial Portfolio at any specified rate or to any specified size or to 

maintain distributions at projected levels. Our Manager may not be able to make acquisitions or 

investments on favorable terms or within a desired time frame, and it may not be able to manage the 

operations of the underlying assets in a profitable manner. Factors that may affect this risk may include, 

competition for assets, changes in the Indian regulatory or legal environment or macro-economic 

conditions. Even if our Manager is able to successfully grow the business of the underlying assets and 

acquire further assets as desired, we cannot assure you that our Manager will be able to achieve the 

intended return on such acquisitions or capital investments. Also, past performance of other investments 

managed or advised by our Manager or the key personnel of our Manager cannot be relied upon as an 

indicator of our future performance.  

Additionally, there exists the risk that the REIT Management Fees payable to our Manager may not 

create proper incentives or may induce our Manager to make certain investments, including speculative 

investments that increase the risk of the Initial Portfolio. 

Our Manager may delegate certain functions to third parties. Should our Manager, or any third party to 

whom our Manager has delegated its functions, fail to perform its services, the value of our assets might 

be adversely affected and this may result in a loss of tenants, which could adversely affect our business, 

results of operations and financial condition. 

Risks Related to India 

55. Our business is dependent on economic growth in India and financial stability in Indian markets, 
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and any slowdown in the Indian economy or in Indian financial markets could have an adverse effect 

on our business, results of operations, financial condition and the price of our Units. 

Our Manager and we are registered in India, and the Initial Portfolio, as well as the Call Option 

Properties are located in India. As a result, they are highly dependent on the prevailing economic 

conditions in India and our results of operations are significantly affected by factors influencing the 

Indian economy. Factors that may adversely affect the Indian economy, and hence our results of 

operations, may include: 

¶ any increase in interest rates or inflation in India; 

¶ any exchange rate fluctuations; 

¶ any scarcity of credit or other financing in India; 

¶ any downgrading of Indiaôs sovereign debt; 

¶ prevailing income, consumption and savings conditions among consumers and corporations in 

India; 

¶ the intensification of the adverse effects of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic or the occurrence 

or other epidemics or pandemics; 

¶ volatility in, and actual or perceived trends in trading activity on, Indiaôs principal stock 

exchanges; 

¶ changes in Indiaôs tax, trade, fiscal or monetary policies; 

¶ political instability, terrorism or military conflict in India, including increased tensions on the 

Indian borders, or in countries in the region or globally, including in Indiaôs various neighboring 

countries; 

¶ the occurrence of force majeure events under the contractual arrangements; 

¶ the occurrence of natural or man-made disasters; 

¶ prevailing regional or global economic conditions; 

¶ balance of trade movements, including export demand and movements in key imports, including 

oil and oil products; and 

¶ other significant regulatory, policy or economic developments in or affecting India or its real 

estate sector. 

Any slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy, or in specific sectors of the Indian 

economy, could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and 

the price of our Units. 

Furthermore, the Indian economy and Indian financial markets are influenced by economic and market 

conditions in other countries. Financial turmoil in Asia, Europe, the United States and elsewhere in the 

world in past years has affected the Indian economy. Although economic conditions are different in 

each country, investorsô reactions to developments in one country can have an adverse effect on the 

securities of entities in other countries, including India. A loss in investor confidence in the financial 

systems of other emerging markets may cause increased volatility in Indian financial markets and, 

indirectly, in the Indian economy in general. Any global financial instability could also have a negative 

impact on the Indian economy. Financial disruptions may occur and could harm our results of 

operations and financial condition. 

56. Significant differences exist between Ind AS and other accounting principles, such as IFRS and U.S. 

GAAP, which may be material to your assessment of our results of operations, financial condition 

and cash flows. 
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The Condensed Combined Financial Statements included in this Draft Offer Document are prepared 

and presented in conformity with Ind AS, consistently applied during the periods stated in those reports. 

We have also included the Special Purpose Condensed Financial Statements of the Call Option SPVs, 

which are prepared and presented in conformity with Ind AS for the financial years 2020, 2019 and 

2018, which have not been restated (to retrospectively apply certain Ind AS adjustments). Ind AS differs 

from accounting principles with which persons from other countries may be familiar, such as IFRS and 

U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, the degree to which the Condensed Combined Financial Statements included 

in this Draft Offer Document provide meaningful information is entirely dependent on your level of 

familiarity with Indian accounting practices. 

Ind AS has certain differences with IFRS and U.S. GAAP. In addition, as the transition to Ind AS is 

recent, there is no significant body of established practice that we can draw on, in forming judgments 

regarding the implementation and application of Ind AS, as compared to other established principles 

generally, or in respect of specific industries, such as the industry in which we operate. 

57. Any downgrading of Indiaôs sovereign debt rating by a domestic or international rating agency could 

adversely affect our ability to obtain financing and, in turn, adversely affect our business.  

Indiaôs sovereign debt rating was recently downgraded. It could be downgraded further in the future 

due to various factors, including changes in tax or fiscal policy or a decline in Indiaôs foreign exchange 

reserves, which are outside our control. Any adverse revisions to Indiaôs credit ratings for domestic and 

international debt by domestic or international rating agencies may adversely affect the ability for us to 

raise additional financing, and the interest rates and other commercial terms at which any such 

additional financing is available. This could have an adverse effect on our business and ability to obtain 

financing and the price of the Units. 

58. It may not be possible for Unitholders to enforce foreign judgments. 

The Brookfield REIT is settled and registered in India. The Trustee and Manager are incorporated in 

India. All of the Initial Portfolio are located in India and we may, from time to time, invest in assets in 

India. Where investors wish to enforce foreign judgments in India, where the assets are or will be 

located, they may face difficulties in enforcing such judgments. India is not a party to any international 

treaty in relation to the recognition or enforcement of foreign judgments. India exercises reciprocal 

recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters with a limited number of 

jurisdictions, including Singapore. In order to be enforceable, a judgment obtained in a jurisdiction 

which India recognizes as a reciprocating territory must meet certain requirements of the Code of Civil 

Procedure, 1908 (ñCivil Codeò).  

Furthermore, the Civil Code only permits enforcement of monetary decrees not being in the nature of 

any amounts payable in respect of taxes, or other charges of a like nature or in respect of a fine or other 

penalty and does not provide for the enforcement of arbitration awards even if such awards are 

enforceable as a decree or judgment. Judgments or decrees from jurisdictions not recognized as a 

reciprocating territory by India cannot be enforced or executed in India except through a fresh suit upon 

judgment. Even if a party were to obtain a judgment in such a jurisdiction, it would be required to 

institute a fresh suit upon the judgment and would not be able to enforce such judgment by proceedings 

in execution. In addition, the party which has obtained such judgment must institute the new 

proceedings within three years of obtaining the judgment. As a result, such party may be unable to: (i) 

effect service of process outside of India upon us and such other persons or entities; or (ii) enforce in 

courts outside of India judgments obtained in such courts against us and such other persons or entities. 

It is unlikely that an Indian court would award damages on the same basis or to the same extent as was 

awarded in a judgment rendered by a foreign court if the Indian court believed that the amount of 

damages awarded was excessive or inconsistent with public policy in India. Any judgment or award in 

a foreign currency would be converted into rupees on the date of such judgment or award and not on 

the date of payment and any such amount may be subject to income tax in accordance with the 

applicable laws. In addition, any person seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to 

obtain prior approval of the RBI to repatriate outside India any amount recovered pursuant to the 

execution of the judgment. Consequently, it may not be possible to enforce in an Indian court any 

judgment obtained in a foreign court, or effect service of process outside of India, against Indian trusts 

or companies, their directors and executive officers, and any other parties residing in India. 

Additionally, we cannot assure you that a suit brought in an Indian court in relation to a foreign 

judgment will be disposed of in a timely manner. 
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59. Tax laws are subject to changes and differing interpretations, which may adversely affect our 

operations and growth prospects.  

The current tax laws and regulations in India provide certain exemptions to certain distributions 

received by business trusts from a SPV as a result of which the business trust and subsequently the 

Unitholders would be subject to relatively lower tax liabilities. These exemptions could be modified or 

removed at any time or clarified in a manner adverse to the Unitholders, which could adversely affect 

our profitability and the amount available for distribution to the Unitholders.  

Tax laws and regulations are subject to differing interpretations by tax authorities. Differing 

interpretations of tax and other fiscal laws and regulations may exist within governmental ministries, 

including tax administrations and appellate authorities, thus creating uncertainty and potential 

unexpected results. The degree of uncertainty in tax laws and regulations, combined with significant 

penalties for default and a risk of aggressive action, including by retrospective legislation, by the 

governmental or tax authorities, may result in tax risks in the jurisdictions in which we operate being 

significantly higher than expected. For example, while our Manager intends to take measures to ensure 

that it is in compliance with all relevant tax laws, we cannot assure you that the tax authorities will not 

take a position that differs from the position taken by our Manager with regard to tax treatment of 

various items. Any of the above events may result in an adverse effect on our business, financial 

condition, results of operations and/or prospects and ability to make distributions to the Unitholders. 

Tax authorities in India may also introduce additional or new regulations applicable to our business, 

which could adversely affect our business and profitability. 

Further, while the current tax framework for REITs is expected to result in a relatively lower tax on the 

overall distributions made by the REIT, this framework could be modified or clarified in a manner 

which could adversely affect our profitability or the amount available for distribution to the Unitholders 

or the ultimate post-tax returns to the Unitholders. For example, the recent amendment to the Indian tax 

laws by way of the Finance Act, 2020 (ñFinance Actò) allows distribution of dividend income to be 

exempt in the hands of the unitholders only if the SPV distributing the dividends has not exercised the 

option to discharge their income tax liability at a concessional rate of 25.17% (including cess and 

surcharge) and not be subject to Minimum Alternate Tax (ñMATò) (ñNew Tax Regimeò). This option 

is available provided an SPV fulfils certain stipulated conditions which, among others, include opting 

out of other applicable tax holiday claims, incentives and tax exemptions and utilizing MAT credit. 

However, the tax exemption in the hands of the unitholders with respect to distributions of dividends 

received or receivable by a REIT from an SPV that has opted for the New Tax Regime would not be 

available.  

The Government has implemented two major reforms in Indian tax laws, namely the goods and services 

tax and provisions relating to General Anti-Avoidance Rules (ñGAARò). Given the recent 

implementation of these laws, there can be no assurances as to the manner in which this tax regime will 

be implemented, which could create uncertainty. 

We may incur increased costs relating to compliance with any new requirements, which may also 

require management time and other resources, and any failure to comply may adversely affect our 

business, results of operations and prospects. Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or 

implementation of any amendment to, or change in, governing law, regulation or policy, including by 

reason of an absence, or a limited body, of administrative or judicial precedent may be time consuming 

as well as costly for us to resolve and may affect the viability of the current business or restrict our 

ability to grow our business in the future. 

60. Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains on the sale of Units. 

Any gain exceeding  0.1 million realized on the sale of Units held for more than 36 months will be 

subject to capital gains tax in India at 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess) if STT has been paid 

on the transaction. Further, gains realized on the sale of Units held for 36 months or less will be subject 

to capital gains tax in India at 15% (plus applicable surcharge and cess) if STT is paid on the transaction. 

STT will be levied on and collected by a domestic stock exchange on which the Units are sold. Any 

gain realized on the sale of the Units held for more than 36 months to an Indian resident, on which no 

STT has been paid, will be subject to long-term capital gains tax in India at 20% (plus applicable 

surcharge and cess). Further, any gain realized on the sale of Units held for a period of 36 months or 

less and on which STT is not paid will be subject to short-term capital gains tax in India at normal rates 
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at which the unitholder would be subject to tax on his other incomes. Capital gains arising from the sale 

of the Units will be exempt from taxation in India in cases where the exemption from taxation in India 

is provided under a treaty between India and the country of which the seller is resident. The above 

statements are based on the current tax laws and subject to change as a result of the introduction of new 

laws or amendments to existing laws.  

Risks Related to the Ownership of the Units 

61. The Units proposed to be sold in the Offer for Sale do not exist and the price at which the Units are 

sold in the Offer may be higher than the acquisition value of such Units to the Selling Unitholders. 

The Selling Unitholders do not currently own the Units that are proposed to be offered in the Offer as 

part of the Offer for Sale. These Units will be issued to the Selling Unitholders after the Bid/Offer 

Closing Date and prior to the Allotment of the Units in the Offer, in exchange for the equity shares held 

by the Selling Unitholders in the relevant Asset SPVs. The Selling Unitholders as part of the Offer will 

sell some of these Units. The Summary Valuation Report has specified the value of the Initial Portfolio 

as of March 31, 2020. The acquisition cost of the Initial Portfolio will be determined after taking into 

consideration various factors, including the valuation of such assets in the Summary Valuation Report 

and terms agreed to under the Share Acquisition Agreements. As a result, the price at which the Units 

are sold in the Offer, which will be determined in accordance with the book-building process, may be 

higher than the acquisition value of such Units to the Selling Unitholders. 

62. Trusts such as the Brookfield REIT may be dissolved, and the proceeds from the dissolution thereof 

may be less than the amount invested by the Unitholders.  

The Brookfield REIT has been set up as an irrevocable trust registered under the Registration Act and 

it may only be extinguished (i) upon the liquidation of the REIT assets; (ii) in the event SEBI cancels, 

revokes or suspends the certificate of registration that has been granted to the REIT; or (iii) in the event 

the REIT becomes illegal. In the event of dissolution, the net assets remaining after settlement of all 

liabilities, and the retention of any reserves which the Trustee deems to be necessary to discharge 

contingent or unforeseen liabilities, shall be paid to the Unitholders. Should we be dissolved, depending 

on the circumstances and the terms upon which our assets are disposed of, there is no assurance that a 

Unitholder will recover all or any part of his investment. There may also be uncertainty around the 

interpretation and implementation of certain provisions in relation to insolvency of a trust under the 

Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016.  

63. The reporting requirements and other obligations of REITs post-listing are still evolving. 

Accordingly, the level of ongoing disclosures made to and the protections granted to the Unitholders 

may be more limited than those made to or available to the shareholders of a company that has listed 

its equity shares upon a recognized stock exchange in India. 

The REIT Regulations, along with the SEBI Guidelines, govern the affairs of REITs in India. However, 

as compared to the statutory and regulatory framework governing companies that have listed their 

equity shares or identified debt securities upon a recognized stock exchanges in India, the regulatory 

framework applicable to REITs is relatively nascent and thus, still evolving. While the REIT 

Regulations were notified with effect from September 26, 2014, the guidelines and procedures in 

relation to a public issue of units by a real estate investment trust were notified by SEBI on December 

19, 2016, and amended on January 15, 2019. SEBI has also recently issued a variety of other circulars 

in relation to the issue and listing of units and debt securities by REITs including rights issues, 

institutional placements, preferential allotments by REITs and creation of encumbrance over units held 

by the sponsor group of a REIT.  

Accordingly, the ongoing disclosures made to Unitholders under the REIT Regulations and the SEBI 

Guidelines may differ from those made to the shareholders of a company that has listed its equity shares 

or identified debt securities on a recognized stock exchange in India in accordance with the SEBI Listing 

Regulations. For example, listed companies are required to report changes in directors and key 

management personnel, amendments to the constitutional documents and schedules of analysts or 

institutional investor meetings and presentations to the stock exchanges within prescribed timelines. 

There is no corresponding obligation on us to disclose such information. Further, listed companies are 

required to disclose the outcome of meetings of their board of directors (including a prior notification 

requirement in certain cases). The current regulatory regime applicable to REITs in India, does not 
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require us to make similar disclosures in respect of meetings of the Governing Board or committees of 

our Manager. The regulatory framework for REITs also does not prescribe timelines within which 

certain specific types of material information is required to be disclosed. Further, the applicability of 

other regulations such as the SEBI Insider Trading Regulations, the Securities and Exchange Board of 

India (Prohibition of Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices relating to Securities Markets) Regulations, 

2003, SEBI Intermediaries Regulations and the SEBI Takeover Regulations to the Issuer and the Units 

is unclear, since real estate investment trust units have not specifically been categorized as ñsecuritiesò 

under the Securities Contract Regulation Act, 1956, and REITS are not ñcompaniesò or ñbodies 

corporateò within the meaning of various regulations issued by SEBI.  

The Trust Deed and various provisions of Indian law govern our operations. Legal principles relating 

to these matters and the validity of corporate procedures, fiduciary duties and liabilities, and the rights 

of the Unitholders may not be as extensive as the rights of the shareholders of a company that has listed 

its equity shares upon a recognized stock exchange in India or a trust in another jurisdiction, and 

accordingly, the protection available to the Unitholders may be more limited than those available to 

such shareholders. For example, shareholders of listed companies are entitled to an exit in case of any 

variation in the objects of a public issue. Unitholders of a REIT do not have such a right. Additionally, 

extensive corporate governance norms have been prescribed for listed companies and their material 

subsidiaries in terms of constitution of specific board committees and board policies, which are not 

mandated for REITs. Further, given the nascent stage of the regulatory regime for REITs in India, 

safeguards available to shareholders of listed companies in respect of insider trading, takeovers and 

fraudulent and unfair trade practices are not available to Unitholders. Unitholdersô rights and disclosure 

standards under Indian law may also differ from the laws of other countries or jurisdictions.  

64. Given the requirements under the REIT Regulations, it may be difficult for public Unitholders to 

remove the Trustee as our Sponsor Group will hold a majority of the Units.  

Under the REIT Regulations, the Trustee cannot be removed without the approval of the Unitholders 

where the votes cast in favor of such resolution to remove the Trustee shall not be less than one and a 

half times of the votes cast against such resolution. Since our Sponsor Group will hold a majority of the 

outstanding Units after the completion of the Offer, it may be difficult for the Unitholders to remove 

the Trustee without the concurrence of our Sponsor Group.  

65. Fluctuations in the exchange rate of the Indian Rupee with respect to other currencies will affect the 

foreign currency equivalent of the value of the Units and any distributions. 

Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the Indian Rupee and other currencies will affect the foreign 

currency equivalent of the Indian Rupee price of the Units. Such fluctuations will also affect the amount 

that holders of the Units will receive in foreign currency upon conversion of any cash distributions or 

other distributions paid in Indian Rupees by us on the Units, and any proceeds paid in Indian Rupees 

from any sale of the Units in the secondary trading market. 

66. Unitholders will not have the right to redeem their Units. 

Unitholders will not have the right to redeem their Units or request or require the redemption of Units 

while the Units are listed on the Stock Exchanges, although the Trust Deed provides that the Trustee 

may, on the recommendation of our Manager, redeem the Units or return capital to the Unitholders in 

any manner provided such redemption or return of capital is subject to the requirements of the relevant 

laws, regulations and guidelines imposed by authorities in India.  

67. The price of the Units may decline after the Offer. 

The Offer Price shall be determined by our Manager in consultation with the Lead Managers. The Offer 

Price may not be indicative of the market price of the Units upon completion of the Offer.  

The market price of the Units may also be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. If 

the market price of the Units declines significantly, investors may be unable to resell their Units at or 

above their purchase price, or at all. Our Manager cannot assure you that the market price of the Units 

will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. The market price of the Units will depend on 

many factors, including those set forth below and others such as: 
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¶ the perceived prospects of our business and investments and the Indian real estate market; 

¶ the differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by 

investors and analysts; 

¶ changes in research analystsô recommendations or projections; 

¶ the market value of our assets; 

¶ the perceived attractiveness of the Units against those of other business trusts, equity or debt 

securities; 

¶ the balance of buyers and sellers of the Units; 

¶ the size and liquidity of the Indian REIT market; 

¶ the ability of our Manager to implement successfully its investment, acquisition and growth 

strategies; 

¶ publication of research reports about our business, other businesses, the industry in general or 

other relevant sectors, or the failure of securities analysts to cover the Units after the Offer; 

¶ changes in the amounts of our distributions, if any, and changes in the distribution policy or 

failure to execute the existing distribution policy; 

¶ actions by the Unitholders; 

¶ speculation in the press or investment community; 

¶ foreign exchange rates; and 

¶ market fluctuations, including increases in interest rates and weakness of the equity and debt 

markets. 

To the extent that we retain cash flow for investment purposes, working capital reserves or other 

purposes, these retained funds, while increasing the value of the underlying assets, may not 

correspondingly increase the market price of the Units. Our failure to meet market expectations with 

regard to future earnings and cash distributions may adversely affect the market price of the Units.  

Where new Units are issued at less than the market price of the Units, the value of an investment in the 

Units may be affected. In addition, Unitholders who do not, or are not able to, participate in the new 

issuance of Units may experience a dilution of their interest in us.  

In addition, the Units are not capital-safe products and there is no guarantee that Unitholders can regain 

the amount invested, in full or in part. Further, if we are extinguished or dissolved, the investors may 

lose a part or all of their investment in the Units. For details, see, ñInformation About our Unitsò 

beginning on page 352. 

68. The Units have not been listed or traded prior to the Offer and may not have a liquid market after 

the Offer. The Units may also experience price and volume fluctuations. 

The Units have not been listed or traded prior to the Offer and may not have a liquid market after the 

Offer. Listing and quotation does not guarantee that a trading market for the Units will develop or, if a 

market does develop, that there will be liquidity of that market for the Units. If an active trading market 

does not develop, you may have difficulty selling your Units, and the value of your Units may be 

impaired. For example, it is unclear whether Units may be sold or purchased in an off-market 

transaction, or whether the operating guidelines of the stock exchanges in relation to bulk or block deals 

shall be applicable to Units. The trading of Units will also be constrained by the minimum trading lot 

prescribed by SEBI from time to time. Accordingly, prospective Unitholders should view the Units as 

illiquid and must be prepared to hold their Units for an indefinite length of time. 
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The Offer Price may not be indicative of the market price of the Units upon listing. The price of the 

Units may fluctuate after the Offer as a result of several factors, including those set forth above. The 

trading price of the Units might also decline in reaction to events that affect the entire market or other 

companies in the Indian REIT industry even if these events do not directly affect or are unrelated to our 

business, financial condition, cash flows or results of operations. If the market price of the Units 

declines significantly, investors may be unable to resell their Units at or above their purchase price, if 

at all. There can be no assurance that the market price of the Units will not fluctuate or decline 

significantly in the future. 

To the extent that our Manager retains operating cash flow for investment purposes, working capital 

reserves or other purposes, these retained funds, while increasing the value of the underlying assets, 

may not correspondingly increase the market price of the Units. Our failure to meet market expectations 

with regard to future earnings and cash distributions may adversely affect the market price of the Units. 

In addition, the Units are not capital-safe products and there is no guarantee that Unitholders can regain 

the amount invested, in full or in part. 

69. Investors are not permitted to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of Units or the Bid 

Amount) at any stage after submitting a Bid. 

Pursuant to the REIT Regulations and the SEBI Guidelines, investors are not permitted to withdraw or 

lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of Units or the Bid Amount) at any stage after submitting a Bid. 

While our Manager is required to complete the Allotment pursuant to the Offer within twelve Working 

Days from the Bid/Offer Closing Date, events affecting the Biddersô decision to invest in the Units, 

including adverse developments in international or national monetary policy, financial, political or 

economic conditions, our business and results of operations, or otherwise, may arise between the date 

of submission of the Bid and Allotment. Our Manager may complete the Allotment of the Units even 

if such events occur, and such events may cause the trading price of the Units to decline on listing.  

70. NAV per Unit may be diluted if further issues are priced below the current NAV per Unit. 

We may make fresh issuances of Units in the future, the offering price for which may be above, at or 

below the then current NAV per Unit. The distribution per Unit may be diluted if new Units are issued 

and the use of proceeds from such issue of Units generates insufficient cash flow to cover the dilution. 

Where new Units are issued at less than the NAV per Unit, the then current NAV of each existing Unit 

may also be diluted. 

71. Any future issuance of Units by us or sales of Units by our Sponsor Group or any of other significant 

Unitholders may adversely affect the trading price of the Units. 

Any future issuance of Units by us could dilute the investorsô holdings of Units. Any such future 

issuance of Units may also adversely affect the trading price of the Units, and could impact the ability 

of our Manager to raise further capital through an offering of the Units. There can be no assurance that 

we will not issue further Units. In addition, any perception by investors that such issuances by us or 

sales by any significant Unitholders might occur could also adversely affect the trading price of the 

Units. 

Upon completion of the Offer, [ǒ]% of the total number of Units will be held by our Sponsor and [ǒ]% 

by our Sponsor Group. The Units will be tradable on the Stock Exchanges. Our Sponsor Group 

(following the lapse of the statutory lock-in period), may sell a portion of the Units held by them, which 

portion may be substantial and the sale of which could increase the aggregate number of Units available 

for active trading on the Stock Exchanges. A sale of Units by any member of our Sponsor Group may 

limit our ability to undertake a preferential issue of Units to those members of our Sponsor Group, and 

therefore limit our ability to raise additional capital on a post-listing basis. A secondary offering of the 

Units by us, if undertaken, may also increase the aggregate number of Units being traded, which could 

have an adverse impact on the market price for the Units. These sales may also make it more difficult 

for us to raise capital through the issue of new Units at a time and at a price which our Manager deems 

is appropriate. 

72. Our rights and the rights of our Unitholders to recover claims against our Manager or the Trustee 

are limited. 
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Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is not liable for any of its actions or omissions, which are in good 

faith in accordance with, or in pursuance of any request or advice of our Manager. Additionally, the 

liability of the Trustee under the Trust Deed for an immediately preceding financial year is limited to 

the fee received by the Trustee except in case of fraud or gross negligence on the part of the Trustee, 

which shall be determined finally by a court of competent jurisdiction. Further, the Trustee has the right 

to be indemnified by us in respect of all claims, liabilities, damages and expenses, including legal fees, 

to which they become subject during the course of their appointment as the Trustee, provided that the 

action or omission giving rise to such claim, liability, damage or expense is not in material violation of 

the Trust Deed and does not involve any gross negligence, fraud, misconduct or violation of applicable 

laws on their part. 

Under the Investment Management Agreement, our Manager is not liable for any of its actions or 

omissions done in good faith. Additionally, the liability of our Manager under the Investment 

Management Agreement is limited to the fee received by our Manager for the immediately preceding 

financial year except in case of fraud, gross negligence, willful default or misconduct of our Manager 

or in cases of material breach of applicable law or provisions of the documents entered into by our 

Manager in relation to us including the Share Acquisition Agreements, the Trust Deed and the 

Investment Management Agreement. Further, our Manager and its respective officers have the right to 

be indemnified by the Trustee against any losses, costs, damages, liabilities, suits, proceedings and 

expenses, including legal fees (ñManagerôs Lossò) incurred by them, unless our Managerôs Loss 

resulted from a material breach of applicable laws or the provisions of the Share Acquisition 

Agreements, the Trust Deed and the Investment Management Agreement, or any gross negligence, 

willful default, misconduct or fraud on the part of our Manager and its officers.  
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SECTION - IV : ABOUT THE BROOKFIELD REIT  

BACKGROUND OF THE BROOKFIELD REIT  

The Brookfield REIT has been settled by our Manager (solely as the settlor, on behalf of our Sponsor) for the 

Initial Contribution. It was settled on July 17, 2020 at Mumbai, Maharashtra, India as a contributory, determinate 

and irrevocable trust under the provisions of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, pursuant to a trust deed dated July 17, 

2020. The Brookfield REIT was registered with SEBI on September 14, 2020 at Mumbai as a real estate 

investment trust, pursuant to the REIT Regulations, having registration number IN/REIT/20-21/0004.  

BSREP V is the sponsor of the Brookfield REIT, Brookprop Management Services Private Limited has been 

appointed as the manager to the Brookfield REIT and Axis Trustee Services Limited shall act as the trustee to the 

Brookfield REIT. 

The principal place of business of the Brookfield REIT is situated at Candor TechSpace IT/ ITES SEZ, Building 

5A/10, Sector-48, Tikri (Near Subash Chowk), Gurugram 122 018, Haryana, India. 

Pursuant to the Formation Transactions, our Initial Portfolio is proposed to be acquired and held by the Brookfield 

REIT through our Asset SPVs. Additionally, CIOP, which provides services including property management, 

facilities management and support services to our Candor Asset SPVs has been considered as an investment by 

the Brookfield REIT under Regulation 18(5)(da) of the SEBI REIT Regulations, and will be directly held by the 

Brookfield REIT. Further, the Brookfield REIT shall enter into Call Option Agreements to acquire the Call Option 

SPVs after the completion of the Offer, in the manner and subject to the terms contained therein. For details, see 

ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactionsò beginning on page 174. 

The following illustration sets out the proposed holding and management structure of the Pro Forma Portfolio by 

the Brookfield REIT, as of the Listing Date and pursuant to the Call Option Agreements, following the Listing 

Date. 
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Proposed Brookfield REIT Structure  

 
 
Note: 
1. By way of a scheme of amalgamation filed with the NCLT, Candor Gurgaon 2 has merged into Candor Kolkata. The NCLT has approved the scheme by way of its order dated August 8, 2019 and has approved the 

application for rectification of the aforesaid order by way of its order dated November 14, 2019. The scheme has been made effective from May 4, 2020 with the approval of the BoA dated March 5, 2020 and ROC, 

Mumbai dated May 4, 2020.  

2. The Call Option SPVs are proposed to be acquired by the Brookfield REIT in the future, subsequent to listing of our Units, pursuant to the Call Option Agreements. For further details on the Call Option Agreements, 

see ñKey Terms of the Formation Transactionsò beginning on page 174. 

Trustee 

Axis Trustee Services Limited 

Trust 

Brookfield REIT  

Manager 

Brookprop Management Services 

Private Limited  

Operational Services 
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Parks Private Limited 
100% 

Call Option SPV
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Seaview Developers 
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Asset SPV 
  

Festus Properties Private 

Limited  
100% 

 

Asset SPV 
  

Candor Kolkata One Hi-

Tech Structures Private 

Limited
1
 

100% 

Asset SPV 
 

Shantiniketan Properties 

Private Limited  
100% 



 

71 

For details with respect to our Sponsor, Sponsor Group, Manager and the Trustee see ñ ï Parties to the Brookfield 

REITò in this section below. Further, for details with respect to our Initial Portfolio, see ñOur Business and 

Propertiesò, beginning on page 120 and for details with respect to our Portfolio Companies and the Call Option 

SPVs, see ñOur Portfolio Companies and the Call Option SPVsò, beginning on page 192. 

Investment Objectives of the Brookfield REIT 

The Brookfield REIT has been settled, inter alia, with the following investment objectives: 

1. to raise funds in accordance with applicable law, for the purpose of attaining the object and purpose of 

the Brookfield REIT; 

2. to make Investments or re-Investments in accordance with inter alia the Trust Deed, the Investment 

Management Agreement, the Share Acquisition Agreement and applicable law, including any business 

of operation and maintenance of any of our Initial Portfoliosô directly held by the Brookfield REIT;  

3. to hold amounts held by the Brookfield REIT pending investment or distribution, or as a reserve of the 

Brookfield REITôs anticipated obligations, as permitted under the REIT Regulations;  

4. to make distributions to our Unitholders in the manner set out in the Trust Deed; 

5. to do all other things necessary and conducive to the attainment of the aforesaid objectives, through 

agents or other delegates (including our Manager); and 

6. to carry on generally such other activities as may be permitted under applicable laws. 

Certain investment conditions applicable to the Brookfield REIT 

a. In accordance with the REIT Regulations, the Brookfield REIT is required to ensure compliance with, 

inter alia, the following investment conditions: 

i. invest not less than 80% of the value of its assets in completed and rent and/ or income 

generating properties; 

ii.  not more than 20% of the value of its assets shall be invested in certain permitted forms of 

investments (whether directly or through a company or LLP) which include, among other things, 

under construction properties, completed but not rent generating properties, mortgage backed 

securities, listed or unlisted debt of companies or body corporates in the real estate sector, 

unlisted equity shares of companies which derive not less than 75% of their operating income 

from real estate activity according to the audited accounts of the previous Financial Year; and 

iii.  not less than 51% of the consolidated revenues of the Brookfield REIT, and our Asset SPVs, 

other than gains arising from disposal of properties, must at all times arise from rental, leasing 

and letting real estate assets or any other income incidental to the leasing of such assets. 

b. Further, our Manager is required to monitor these thresholds on a half-yearly basis and at the time of the 

acquisition of an asset. In the event these conditions are breached on account of market movements of 

the price of the underlying assets or securities or change in tenants or expiry of lease or sale of properties, 

our Manager is required to inform the Trustee and ensure that these conditions are satisfied within six 

months of any such breach (or within one year if approved by our Unitholders). 

c. In addition to the investment ratios set out above, the REIT Regulations and the Trust Deed also impose 

restrictions on certain investments including, among other things, investing in units of other REITs, 

launching schemes under the Brookfield REIT, investments in vacant land, agricultural land or 

mortgages other than mortgage backed securities, and assets located outside India. The Brookfield REIT 

is also restricted from co-investing with any person(s) in any transaction in the event the investment by 

such other person(s) is on terms more favorable than those offered to the Brookfield REIT.  

d. The properties (including under construction properties which are part of existing income generating 

properties) acquired by the Brookfield REIT are also required to be held for a period of at least three 

years from the date of completion or purchase, as applicable, pursuant to the REIT Regulations.  
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As a real estate investment trust which is not Indian owned and controlled, the Brookfield REIT is subject to 

additional investment conditions set out under the FEMA Rules including compliance with the downstream 

investment requirements. Pursuant to the applicable FEMA Rules and the FDI Policy, FDI is prohibited in óreal 

estate businessô. óReal estate businessô means dealing in land and immovable property with a view to earning 

profit therefrom. However, the term óreal estate businessô does not include development of townships, 

construction of residential or commercial premises, roads or bridges, educational institutions, recreational 

facilities, city and regional level infrastructure, townships and REITs registered and regulated pursuant to the 

REIT Regulations. Further, deriving rent/ income from lease of property, not amounting to transfer, also does not 

amount to óreal estate businessô. In addition, in accordance with the FDI policy, an Indian investee company may 

sell developed plots which means plots where trunk infrastructure i.e. roads, water supply, street lighting, drainage 

and sewerage, have been made available.  

Parties to the Brookfield REIT 

I.  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. Ltd. - Our Sponsor  

Our Sponsor was incorporated in Singapore on June 17, 2014 as a óprivate company limited by sharesô with 

registration number 201417591H. Our Sponsor has been registered with SEBI, under the SEBI FPI Regulations 

as a Category II FPI, bearing registration number INSGFP096715 pursuant to a certificate of registration dated 

May 19, 2015. For details in relation to the registered office address, correspondence address, contact person and 

contact details of our Sponsor, see ñGeneral Informationò beginning on page 388. 

Background of our Sponsor  

Our Sponsor is part of the Brookfield Group. In accordance with Regulation 4(2)(d)(iii) of the REIT Regulations, 

the sponsor or its associate(s) are required to have not less than five yearsô experience in the development of real 

estate or fund management in the real estate industry. 

Our Sponsorôs associate (as defined under Regulation 2(1)(b) of the REIT Regulations), BAM, has more than five 

yearsô experience in fund management in the real estate industry on which our Sponsor has relied for its eligibility 

under the REIT Regulations.  

BAM, is the flagship entity of the Brookfield Group and a global alternative asset manager, currently listed on the 

NYSE and TSX and has a market capitalization of over $50.51 bill ion as of September 20, 2020. BAM is 

incorporated in Ontario, Canada and qualifies as an eligible Canadian issuer under the Multijurisdictional 

Disclosure System and as a ñforeign private issuerò (as defined under Rule 405 under the U.S. Securities Act and 

Rule 3b-4 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act). As a result, BAM complies with U.S. continuous reporting 

requirements by filing its Canadian disclosure documents with the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission. BAM, 

through the Brookfield Group, has a 120-year history as an owner and asset manager across a broad portfolio of 

real estate assets with a focus on property, infrastructure, renewable power and private equity. 

Brookfield Property Group carries out investments, directly and indirectly, through Brookfield Property Partners 

L.P. (ñBPYò), which is listed on the NASDAQ and TSX, and private funds, including its flagship real estate funds 

in the Brookfield Strategic Real Estate Partners series. BAM acts, directly or indirectly, as the asset manager to 

all the public vehicles and private funds in the Brookfield Group.  

As BAMôs primary vehicle to manage investments across strategies in real estate, BPYôs global portfolio of assets 

includes office, retail, multifamily, logistics, hospitality, self-storage, triple net lease, manufactured housing and 

student housing assets located in five continents. The Brookfield Group currently manages approximately USD 

17 billion of assets in India, which includes several significant assets managed by the Brookfield Property Group, 

such as the Pro Forma Portfolio and the ROFO Properties.  

Our Sponsor is the wholly owned subsidiary of BSREP India Holdings, a company incorporated in Singapore, 

which is a part of the Brookfield Strategic Real Estate Partners series of funds under the Brookfield Group. The 

shareholding pattern of our Sponsor, as on date of this Draft Offer Document, set out below:  

Equity Shares 

Sr. No. Shareholder Number of shares held 

(USD denominated) 

Amount of share capital (in 

USD) 

1.  BSREP India Holdings 1,110,000 1,110,000 

Total 1,110,000 - 



 

73 

 
Sr. No. Shareholder Number of shares held 

(SGD denominated) 

Amount of share capital (in 

SGD) 

1.  BSREP India Holdings 28,996,370 28,996,460 

Total 28,996,370 - 

 

Redeemable preference shares 

Sr. No. Shareholder Number of shares held 

(USD denominated) 

Amount of share capital (in 

USD) 

1.  BSREP India Holdings 5,159,758 5,159,758 

Total 5,159,758 - 

 
Sr. No. Shareholder Number of shares held 

(SGD denominated) 

Amount of share capital (in 

SGD) 

1.  BSREP India Holdings 55,786,054 5,786,054 

Total 55,786,054 - 

 

Board of directors of our Sponsor 

The following are the directors of our Sponsor: 

(i) Aanandjit Sunderaj; 

(ii)  Ho Yeh Hwa;  

(iii)  Liew Yee Foong; 

(iv) Taswinder Kaur Gill; and 

(v) Zhang Shen. 

Real estate assets outside the Portfolio in which our Sponsor, directly or indirectly, holds interest 

As on the date of this Draft Offer Document, our Sponsor does not hold any interest, directly or indirectly, in 

commercial real estate assets other than those forming a part of the Portfolio. 

Other confirmations 

Our Sponsor meets the eligibility criteria specified under REIT Regulations (net worth of not less than 1,000 

million), with a net worth of US$ 73.19 million as of June 30, 2020 (i.e. approximately  5,527.49 million). 

Further, neither our Sponsor and members of our Sponsor Group nor any of the directors or promoters (to the 

extent that any member of the Sponsor Group has promoters) of our Sponsor and members of our Sponsor Group 

(i) are debarred from accessing the securities market by SEBI; (ii) are promoters, directors or persons in control 

of any other company, or a sponsor, manager or trustee of any other REIT or REIT which is debarred from 

accessing the capital market under any order or directions made by SEBI; or (iii) are in the list of wilful defaulters 

published by the RBI. 

II.  Our Sponsor Group 

In addition to our Sponsor, the following entities form a part of our Sponsor Group: 

a) BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd. (BSREP II India); 

b) Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (BAM); 

c) Kairos Property Managers Private Limited (Kairos); 

d) BSREP Moon C1 L.P; 

e) BSREP Moon C2 L.P;  
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f) BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd. (BSREP India Office III); and 

g) BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Holdings). 

III.  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited - Our Manager 

Brookprop Management Services Private Limited, a part of the Brookfield Group, is a private limited company 

incorporated in India on March 21, 2018 under the provisions of the Companies Act with a corporate identification 

number U74999MH2018FTC306865. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, Brookprop 

Management Services Private Limited has been appointed as our manager in accordance with the REIT 

Regulations. For details with respect to the registered office address, correspondence address, contact person and 

contact details of our Manager, see ñGeneral Informationò beginning on page 388.  

Background of our Manager  

Our Manager meets the eligibility criteria specified under REIT Regulations (net worth of not less than 100 

million), with a net worth of 144.37 million, as of July 27, 2020.  

Our Manager is a real estate services company that provides real estate management services, including facility 

management services and project delivery services to the real estate assets held by the Brookfield Group across 

India. In accordance with Regulation 4(2)(e)(ii) of the REIT Regulations, our Manager or its associate is required 

to have not less than five yearsô experience in fund management, advisory services, property management in the 

real estate industry or in development of real estate. Our Manager has relied on the experience of its associate (as 

defined under Regulation 2(1)(b) of the REIT Regulations), BAM, for meeting the eligibility requirement under 

the REIT Regulations. For details on the past experience of BAM, see ñBackground of our Sponsorò in this section 

above. 

The shareholding pattern of our Manager as on date of this Draft Offer Document is set out below:  

Sr. No. Name of Shareholder No. of shares ( 10 each) Percentage (%) 

1.  BPG Holdings Group Inc. 1,059,300 99 

2.  Brookfield India Holdings Inc. 10,700 1 

 Total  1,070,000 100% 

 

Our Manager confirms that it has, and undertakes to ensure that it will at all times maintain, adequate 

infrastructure, and sufficient key personnel and resources to perform its functions, duties and responsibilities with 

respect to the management of the Brookfield REIT, in accordance with the REIT Regulations, the Investment 

Management Agreement and applicable law. 

Neither our Manager nor any of the promoters or directors of our Manager (i) are debarred from accessing the 

securities market by SEBI; (ii) are promoters, directors or persons in control of any other company or a sponsor, 

investment manager or trustee of any other real estate investment trust or any real estate investment trust which is 

debarred from accessing the capital market under any order or direction made by SEBI; or (iii) are in the list of 

wilful defaulters published by the RBI. 

Board of Directors of our Manager 

The following are the directors of our Manager: 

(i) Akila Krishnakumar;  

(ii)  Shailesh Vishnubhai Haribhakti; 

(iii)  Anuj Ranjan; and 

(iv) Ankur Gupta. 

For further details on the directors on our Board and brief profiles of the directors, key personnel and members of 

the core team of our Manager, see ñThe Board and Management of our Managerò beginning on page 204. 

IV.  Axis Trustee Services Limited - The Trustee  
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Axis Trustee Services Limited is the trustee of the Brookfield REIT. The Trustee is a registered intermediary with 

SEBI under the SEBI (Debenture Trustees) Regulations, 1993, as amended, as a debenture trustee having 

registration number IND000000494 which is valid until suspended or cancelled. For details with respect to the 

registered office address, correspondence address, contact person and other contact details of the Trustee, see 

ñGeneral Informationò beginning on page 388. 

Background of the Trustee 

The Trustee is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Axis Bank Limited. The Trusteeôs services are aimed at catering to 

the individual needs of the client and enhancing client satisfaction. As a trustee, it ensures compliance with all 

statutory requirements and believes in the highest ethical standards and best practices in corporate governance. It 

aims to provide the best services in the industry with its well trained and professionally qualified staff with sound 

legal acumen. 

The Trustee is involved in varied facets of debenture and bond trusteeships, including, advisory functions and 

management functions. The Trustee also acts as a security trustee and is involved in providing services in relation 

to security creation, compliance and holding security on behalf of lenders. 

The Trustee is also involved in providing services as (i) a facility agent for complex structured transactions with 

advice on suitability of the transaction on operational aspects; (ii) an escrow agent; (iii) a trustee to alternative 

investment funds; (iv) custodian of documents as a safekeeper; (v) a trustee to infrastructure investment funds, 

etc. 

The Trustee confirms that it has and undertakes to ensure that it will at all times, maintain adequate infrastructure 

personnel and resources to perform its functions, duties and responsibilities with respect to the Brookfield REIT, 

in accordance with the REIT Regulations, the Trust Deed and other applicable law. 

The Trustee is not an associate (as defined under Regulation 2(1)(b) of the REIT Regulations) of our Sponsor, or 

our Manager. Further, neither the Trustee nor any of the promoters or directors of the Trustee (i) are debarred 

from accessing the securities market by SEBI; (ii) is a promoter, director or person in control of any other company 

or a sponsor, investment manager or trustee of any other real estate investment trust or a real estate investment 

trust which is debarred from accessing the capital market under any order or direction made by SEBI; or (iii) are 

persons who are categorized as wilful defaulters by any bank or financial institution, as defined under the 

Companies Act, 2013, or consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the 

RBI. 

Board of directors of the Trustee 

The board of directors of the Trustee is entrusted with the responsibility for the overall management of the Trustee. 

The details regarding the board of directors of the Trustee are set forth below: 

Sr. No. Name DIN Profile 

1.  Ganesh Sankaran 07580955 He is a director on the board of directors of the Trustee. He also 

serves as a group executive - wholesale banking coverage group 

at Axis Bank Limited. He has previously worked at Federal Bank, 

Equirus Capital, HDFC Bank and Fedbank Financial Services. 

He has a bachelorôs degree in engineering and a masterôs degree 

in business administration.  

2.  Rajesh Kumar Dahiya 07508488 He is a director on the board of directors of the Trustee. He is also 

on the board of directors of Axis Bank Limited and Axis PE 

Limited. He has previously worked at the Tata group. He has a 

bachelorôs degree in engineering and a masterôs degree in 

management.  

3.  Sanjay Sinha 08253225 He is the managing director and chief executive officer of the 

Trustee. He joined Axis Bank Limited in 2006 and served in the 

risk and corporate credit departments of Axis Bank Limited. He 

has previously worked at the State Bank of India. He has a 

bachelorôs degree in science from NIBM, Pune and holds a 

certificate in credit management from the Indian Institute of 

Bankers, Mumbai.  

 

  

http://www.mca.gov.in/mcafoportal/companyLLPMasterData.do
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW  

The information contained in this section is derived from the report titled ñIndia Commercial Real Estate 

Overviewò dated September 22, 2020, prepared by C&WI (the ñIndustry Reportò) and commissioned by the 

Manager in relation to the Offer. Neither the Manager, nor any other person connected with the Offer has 

independently verified this information. Industry sources and publications generally state that the information 

contained therein has been obtained from sources generally believed to be reliable, but their accuracy, 

completeness and underlying assumptions are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. Industry 

publications are also prepared based on information as of specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect 

current trends. 

Wherever data for the 12-month period ended March 31 has been presented in this section, a reference to ñfiscal 

yearò or ñfinancial yearò or ñFYò along with the relevant year has been included. Any other data included with 

respect to a period relates to data for the relevant calendar year period. 

Overview 

India was one of the fastest growing economies in the world between 2017 and 2019 (Source: IMF). As per the 

IMF, while 2020 GDP growth is projected to contract as economic activities were restricted due to the COVID-

19 pandemic, GDP growth is projected to recover to 6% in 2021 driven by attractive macroeconomic fundamentals 

and a favourable demographic dividend. The transmission of interest rate reduction to borrowers is likely as the 

RBI benchmark repo rate declined 115 bps between January and July, 2020, while RBIôs Marginal Cost of Funds 

based Lending Rate (ñMCLRò) has declined by 67 bps during the same period. Gradual decline in inflation rates 

could provide further headroom for the RBI to cut benchmark rates. 

The real estate sector is one of the important sectors of the Indian economy because of its multiplier effect. An 

impact on this sector has a direct bearing on economic growth of the country. The bulk of demand for Grade-A1 

office stock in India is from multinational corporates based out of the United States and the European Union. The 

demand for quality office spaces has also led to rental growths growing at a CAGR of approximately 5% over the 

last 5 years. The net absorption of office spaces in Mumbai and National Capital Region (which includes 

Gurugram and Noida and hereinafter referred to as ñNCRò) has been in-line with major global office markets led 

by low per capital supply, growth of technology services sector, increasing traction from international tenants and 

attractive rentals. 

The technology industry, which is the mainstay of office demand, is one of the global success stories of India and 

has outperformed the GDP growth rate with an 11.3% CAGR (between FY 2014 and FY 2019). Importantly, the 

Indian technology sector continues to evolve as the focus is moving from just cost excellence towards creating 

business impact as Indian companies and Global In-house Centres (ñGICsò) (also known as Global Capability 

Centers (ñGCCsò)), now provide end to end services to their clients. COVID-19 has accelerated the structural 

shift that was already underway prior to the crisis in relation to usage and deployment of technology especially 

cloud, data analytics, e-commerce and digital transformation. The global spending on software and IT services is 

expected to grow at a robust rate between the financial years 2020 and 2025 and the technology industry in India 

is expected to grow at a CAGR of 13% to US$ 350 billion by financial year 2025 from an estimated US$ 191 

billion in financial year 2020 due to its large science, technology, engineering and medicine (ñSTEMò) talent 

pool, competitive cost advantage and favorable demographics (Source: Nasscom). 

The real estate sector has faced challenges and has been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Even in these 

uncertain times, the institutional office market is resilient to rent correction as the US$ weighted average rent in 

India has been in approximately the same range for the last five years. C&WI anticipates vacancy numbers to be 

in the same range for 2020 as shrinkage in supply will offset deferral in office demand. Long term fundamentals 

for the office sector remain intact on the back of: (i) availability of talent pool especially STEM graduates; (ii) 

competitive cost with high quality offices; and (iii) resilient growth from technology and other services sectors. 

Mumbai, Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata (the ñBrookfield REIT Marketsò) have exhibited strong market 

dynamics with robust absorption and limited high-quality supply resulting in lower vacancy levels and higher 

 
Note: 
1 The Industry Report defines ñGrade-Aò as a development type whose tenant profile includes prominent multinational 

corporations. The development should also include adequate ceiling height, 24x7 power back-up, supply of telephone lines, 

infrastructure for access to internet, central air-conditioning, spacious lobbies, circulation areas, good lift services, sufficient 

parking facilities and should have centralized building management and security systems. 
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rental growth during the last five years. Between 2015 and Q1 2020, 41.8 msf2 of non strata owned supply was 

delivered in the Brookfield REIT Markets, while the net absorption was 41.0 msf2. During the same period, 

vacancy decreased by approximately 120 bps on the back of robust demand and improved infrastructure. During 

the last five years, Grade-A business parks in Brookfield REIT Markets which are non strata owned have 

significantly outperformed strata owned office assets, in both occupancy and rental growth. 

Indian Economy: Attractive macro-economic indicators 

One of the largest and fastest growing economies with demographic dividend 

India is the fifth largest economy and one of the fastest growing major economy in the world. Indiaôs GDP grew 

by 7.0%, 6.1% and 4.2% in 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively and Indiaôs GDP was US$ 2.9 trillion in 2019 (3.4% 

share in global GDP). Further, as on December 31, 2019, the average five year real GDP growth was 6.7% 

according to C&WI. As per IMF, Indiaôs economy is projected to contract by 4.5% in 2020 as economic activities 

were restricted due to the stringent lockdown on account of COVID-19 pandemic.  

India GDP and Y-o-Y Growth Rate 

(US$ in billion) (Growth rate in %) 

 
Source: IMF 

Despite these near-term pressures, India is expected to continue to be one of the fastest growing large economies 

led by: (i) Indiaôs booming middle class; (ii) favorable demographics; (iii) favorable government policies; (iv) 

increasing digitization across segments; and (v) a tactical move towards higher transparency and accountability 

across institutions. IMF estimates Indiaôs economic growth to recover to 6% in 2021. Further, the Indian 

government aims to make India a ñUS$ 5 trillion economyò (Source: International Monetary Fund and Public 

Information Bureau).  

 
Note:  
2 For Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata, stock and supply data comprised of relevant non strata owned buildings, however 

completed Grade-A stock has been considered for Mumbai. 
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Major World Economies - GDP Growth Rates  

 
Source: IMF 

Declining interest rates and transmission of interest rate cuts to borrowers underway  

The RBI reduced repo rates by 235 bps between March 2015 and December 2019 and the 10-year Indian G-Sec 

yields declined by 110 bps over the same period. RBI reduced the benchmark repo rate further by 115 bps between 

January and July, 2020 to address the liquidity concerns in the market due to the overall impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic. However, the RBIôs MCLR has declined only 67 bps between January and July, 2020 implying that 

the transmission of interest rate reduction to borrowers is likely. Between January 3, 2020 and July 31, 2020, 10-

year Indian G-Sec declined by 95 bps.  

Moderating Inflation Environment. Consumer Price Index (ñCPIò) inflation in India has been gradually declining 

from 8.2% in March, 2014 to 5.8% in March, 2020. CPI increased to 9.2% in July as against 6.1% in June, 2020 

as the national lockdown led supply disruptions raised prices temporarily along with increase in oil taxes. Current 

inflation levels are higher compared to average headline CPI of 4.4% from 2015 to Q1 2020. CPI is likely to ease 

in the second half of FY 2021 due to base effect, normal rainfall and easing of supply disruptions. Gradual decline 

in inflation rates could provide further headroom for the RBI to cut benchmark rates. 

10-Year G-Sec (1) 
Decline in RBI Repo vs  

RBI MCLR (2)  

 
 

Source: RBI  

Note:  
1. Data reported as of January 2010 to July 2020  
2. Between January 1, 2020 to July 31, 2020 
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Stable Currency in uncertain times 

Indiaôs foreign exchange reserves, as of July 2020, were at an all-time high of US$ 522 billion. Due to strong 

foreign exchange reserve, proactive policies of the Government and active currency management of the RBI, the 

Indian Rupee has witnessed moderate and predictable depreciation compared to other emerging market currencies.  

Annualized Depreciation against US$ (2015 - Q1 2020)  

 
Source: Federal Reserve 

Favourable Demographics: Growing middle class and young population 

¶ Indiaôs young population greater than the United Statesô total population: At 333 million people, 

representing approximately 28% of the total population of India (Source: Census of India, 2011), India 

has the worldôs largest young population (those between 15 and 29 years of age), which is approximately 

six times the size of the young population in the United States. Indiaôs young population is expected to 

further grow to 367 million by 2021 (Source: Ministry of Statistics and Program Implementation).  

¶ Growing Working Class: At 494 million people, India has a formidable and talented labour base (Source: 

World Bank), which is expected to further increase by approximately 90 million people by 2030 (Source: 

World Economic Forum). This structural driver will further increase office absorption, creating 

compelling opportunities across the commercial real estate market in India. 

¶ Increasing Urbanization: At 461 million, India had one of the highest urban populations in the world in 

2018 (approximately 1.4 times the total population of the United States) which is expected to further 

grow to 543 million by the year 2025 (Source: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social 

Affairs).  

Major Structural Reforms by the Government 

¶ Reduction in corporate taxes: On September 20, 2019, the Government of India announced a reduction 

in corporate tax rates from 30.0% to 22.0% (effective tax rate with surcharge reducing from 34.5% to 

25.2%) bringing it closer to the United States (21%), United Kingdom (19%) and China (25%). The 

manufacturing sector was given a further stimulus with a reduced corporate tax rate of 15.0% for 

companies, incorporated after October 1, 2019.  

¶ Goods and Services Tax, 2017 (ñGSTò): GST is a unified sales tax, which has replaced approximately 

10 federal, state and local taxes in India. Implementation of GST has removed the cascading effects of 

tax with the objective of increasing cost efficiency, reducing prices and leading to the formation of a 

common national market.  

¶ Other key initiatives include: Increased spending on infrastructure (US$ 1.4 trillion over the next five 

years (Source: Union Budget of India 2019 - 2020), FDI reforms across multiple sectors, Make in India 

initiative, push towards Digital India and incentives to new businesses, which have enhanced Indiaôs 

competitiveness globally.  

Overview of Indian Office Market  

Indiaôs office real estate landscape has significantly evolved over the last decade. From majority of office stock 
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being unorganized into single standalone buildings with no amenities, the landscape has now consolidated with 

Grade-A developers owning large modern corporate IT parks with a rich amenity mix. The focus of developers 

on Grade-A commercial developments, backed by institutional capital and increasing demand from multinational 

tenants, has led to the onset of campus developments. Multinational tenants have a strong preference for such 

developments due to a well-curated amenity mix and better employee experience. As a consequence, these 

campuses operate at lower vacancies and above average rental levels as compared to the micro-market in which 

they are located.  

Grade-A office stock in Chennai, Mumbai, Pune, Hyderabad, Bengaluru, NCR and Kolkata (collectively referred 

to as ñTop Seven Indian Marketsò) has grown at a CAGR of 11.0% between 2008 and Q1 2020 and was 

approximately 496 msf3 as of March 31, 2020. Bengaluru, Mumbai and NCR are the top three markets in India 

by office stock as of March 31, 2020. Further, the individual CAGR of the Top Seven Indian Markets between 

2008 and Q1 2020 have been in the range of 8% to 15%. The bulk of demand for Grade-A office stock in India is 

from multinational corporates based out of the United States and the European Union.  

The growth of supply in the Top Seven Indian Markets is yet catching up to the demand for quality office space. 

Between 2015 and Q1 2020, these markets have seen a total net absorption of approximately 163.4 msf. Although 

Indiaôs office markets are well established, Indiaôs per capita office stock of 0.4 sf is minimal compared to 

developed markets such as the United States (16.4 sf), Hong Kong (8.6 sf) and Singapore (5.2 sf). Low per capita 

supply along with growth of services sector in India and increasing traction from international tenants has led to 

a higher absorption in major Indian cities compared to some of the other global office markets. 

Per Capita Office Stock  

(in square feet) 

  
 

 
Note: 
3 Only the relevant stock of NCR and Kolkata has been considered for this analysis which excludes the buildings less than 

100,000 square feet and applying certain other criteria. Additionally, for Noida and Kolkata, non-IT buildings have been 

excluded from stock. 
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Comparison between Key Indian and Select Global Cities 

Indian Office Market Present Significant Growth Potential  

(Net Absorption in msf between 2015 and Q1 2020) 

 
Note:  

Only the relevant stock of NCR and Kolkata has been considered for this analysis which excludes the buildings less than 

100,000 square feet and applying certain other criteria. Additionally, for Noida and Kolkata, non-IT buildings have been 

excluded from stock. 

The demand for quality office spaces has also led to rental growths growing at a CAGR of approximately 5.0% 

over the last five years. The Indian office market still offers comparatively cheaper rentals compared to global 

hubs. Moreover, office properties in India offer higher rental yields and are available at attractive capital values, 

significantly lower than global comparable markets.  

Rentals and Valuations continue to be attractive for Indian Markets  

(Rentals in US$ psf per month) 

 
Note:  

1. Capitalization rates and Capital values (US$ psf) are reported for respective countries as of March 31, 2020. 
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Key drivers of office demand 

Sectoral Demand Trend Analysis 

With strong growth in the Indian services sector and increasing penetration of GCCs providing high value-added 

services, the Top Seven Indian Markets have attracted a majority of tenants from the technology sector as 

illustrated below:  

India ï Sectoral Absorption Analysis 2015 ï Q1 2020 ï 243.44 msf 

 
 
Note: 

1. The sectoral absorption analysis is based on gross absorption activity in the Top Seven Indian Markets, including any 

relocations or consolidations 

2. Only the relevant stock of NCR and Kolkata has been considered for this analysis which excludes the buildings less than 

100,000 square feet and applying certain other criteria. Additionally, for Noida and Kolkata, non-IT buildings have been 

excluded from stock. 

Technology Sector: Mainstay of office demand in India 

The structural shift of the Indian economy from agriculture to manufacturing and services is largely credited to 

the emergence of the Indian technology industry. The services sector continues to be the key driver of the Indian 

economy and represented approximately 63% of the Indiaôs gross value added (ñGVAò) for FY 2020 as compared 

to 22% for industry and 15% for agriculture. Indiaôs gross value added (ñGVAò) of services sector increased to 

approximately US$ 1.0 trillion in FY 2019 from approximately US$ 719 million in FY 2015.  

Indiaôs technology services sector has successfully transitioned from being a low-cost support and business 

process outsourcing location to a hub for high-end value-added services and digital business offerings such as 

internet of things, cloud, analytics, block chain and digital solutions. The Indian technology industry has witnessed 

consistent growth with a CAGR of 11.3% between FY 2014 and FY 2019. Further, according to NASSCOM, the 

number of direct employees in the technology sector has significantly grown from 0.4 million in FY 2001 to 4.4 

million in FY 2020. 
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People directly employed in the IT sector 

(US$ in million) 

 
Source: Nasscom 

 

Demand Drivers of the Indian Technology Industry 

¶ Availability of highly skilled STEM Talent Pool. India has one of the largest pools of highly-qualified 

STEM graduates in the world and the second largest English-speaking population in the world. The 

technology industry is one of the largest private sector employers, currently employing approximately 

4.4 million people directly. With over 4.8 million students that graduated in 2019 and with the talent pool 

in India expected to continue to grow, India should attract demand from large multinational corporates.  

STEM Graduates ï 2016  

(in million) 

 
Source: World Economic Forum 

¶ Competitive Cost Advantage. India is one of the preferred destinations for technology services in the 

world and continues to be a leader in the global outsourcing industry with a 56% market share. Out of 

the total export of IT and business process management services expected in FY 2020, exports to the 

United States contribute approximately 62% followed by the United Kingdom and continental Europe 

with approximately 17% and 11%, respectively. (Source: NASSCOM - Techade Strategic Review 2020).  

Indiaôs unique selling proposition is its cost competitiveness in providing technology services, which are 

significantly more cost-effective than the United States. The cost of sourcing services from India is 

approximately 81% lower as compared to Tier II cities in the United States. The following graph sets 

forth operating cost per full-time employees for select cities in the world: 
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Operating Cost per Full Time Employee 

(in US$ ó000 per annum) 

 
Note: India includes the operating cost per full time employees of Bangalore city only.  

Employee cost advantage along with other economic drivers such as availability of labor, raw materials and readily 

available talent pool is one of the key drivers for increasing operations of multinational corporates in India. 

Growth in Employee Cost in United States vs Employment Increase in India  

(Indexed to 100) 

 
Source: RBI KLEMS database, Bureau of Labour Statistics 

Note:  

1. US employment index for total compensation in service providing industries (seasonally adjusted). 

2. India employment in financial services, business services and other services. 

¶ Low Cost, High-Quality Office Infrastructure. Due to multi-national operations and global clientele, 

technology companies often require infrastructure that supports a 24/7 work environment. Availability 

of high-quality offices conforming to global standards at low cost has further enhanced Indiaôs appeal 

for such corporates. Strong growth of technology industry in India has resulted in a multifold increase in 

space occupied by the industry over the last 20 years.  

Impact of COVID-19 on the Technology Sector 

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic disrupted economies of a majority of global countries. The global 

technology and Indian technology sectors have been relatively more resilient to the disruptions due to COVID-

19. In particular, the revenue and net income growth of S&P 500 IT index constituents has been higher than the 

diversified S&P 500 Index. India has witnessed a similar trend wherein Nifty 50 IT index has outperformed the 

diversified Nifty 50 Index.  
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Q2 2020 YoY Growth (%) 

 (S&P 500 vs S&P 500 IT) 

Price Performance (S&P 500 vs S&P 500 IT) 

 (indexed to 100)  

   
 

Price Performance (Nifty 50 vs Nifty 50 IT) 

 
(indexed to 100) 

 
 

 
Source: S&P, Nifty and company filings 

 

COVID-19 has accelerated the structural shift that was already underway prior to the crisis in relation to usage 

and deployment of technology especially cloud, data analytics, e-commerce and digital transformation. Global 

spending on software and IT services is likely to grow at a robust rate. The technology industry in India is expected 

to grow at a CAGR of 13% to US$ 350 billion by financial year 2025 from an estimated US$ 191 billion in 

financial year 2020 due to its STEM talent pool, competitive cost advantage and favorable demographics (Source: 

Nasscom). 

Technology Sector ï India  

(US$ in billion) 

 
Source: Nasscom 
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Growth of the Global Captive Centers 

Between the years 2000 and 2010, several Indian technology companies experienced growth as many domestic 

companies expanded and established delivery centers across the globe. Over the last decade, the Indian companies 

and GICs/ GCCs started providing end to end services to the clients. Further, proliferation of digital services and 

a maturing technology ecosystem are actively adding to the growth of GCCs in India. With the availability of a 

skilled talent pool at competitive pay-scales and affordable infrastructure, India continues to be the top choice for 

global multinational corporates to set up their centers.  

In the last two decades, the rate of establishment of GCCs in India has grown at a CAGR of 9%. India hosted 

approximately 1,250 GCCs, which employed more than 4.4 million people in FY 2020 (Source: NASSCOM). The 

GCC market size has also increased from US$ 19.4 billion in FY 2015 to US$ 28.3 billion in FY 2019 at a CAGR 

of 9.9% (Source: NASSCOM). 

GCC Evolution in India (number of GCCs) GCC Revenue  

 (US$ in billion) 

 

 

Source: NASSCOM, GCC 3.0 Spotlight on Digital, Partnerships, New Delivery Models and Future Skills 

 

 

Rising wage levels have further accelerated the growth of GCCs in India. The average hourly wages in the United 

States increased from US$ 23.2 in 2011 to US$ 29.4 in Q2 2020.  

Unemployment Rate in U.S. US Average Hourly Wages 

 (in US$) 

 

 

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labour Statistics till July 2020 

. 

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labour Statistics 

The growth of GCCs has resulted in an increase in demand for real estate. These tenants typically incur 

approximately Rs. 2,000 to Rs. 6,000 psf for fitting out their premises, unlike other developed markets where 

landlords spend a significant amount of capital expenditure on tenant improvements. Since the tenants invest 

significant capital on their rented spaces, they are more hesitant to terminate their leases during its tenures, and 

their duration of occupancy is typically beyond the initial lock-in period of three to five years. Typically, tenants 

prefer office spaces which offer larger floor plates, amenities and proximity to the talent catchment 

Top Seven Indian Office Markets Trend Analysis 

Approximately 166.9 msf of new supply had been delivered in the Top Seven Indian Markets between 2015 and 

Q1 2020. The net absorption was largely in line with the supply and reached a total of approximately 163.4 msf 

during the same period. The average annual net absorption between 2015 and Q1 2020 was approximately 31 msf. 
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Vacancy levels in the Top Seven Indian Markets witnessed a declining trend with vacancy at end of Q1 2020 

being 11.0%.  

Between Q2 2020 to 2022, additional supply of approximately 109 msf is expected to be delivered in the Top 

Seven Indian Markets, of which approximately 86.6 msf is expected to be absorbed translating into a forecasted 

vacancy of 12.7%. The following graph sets forth the supply, absorption and vacancy trends for Top Seven Indian 

Markets: 

India (Top Seven Indian Markets) - Supply, Net Absorption & Vacancy Analysis 

 
Note:  

1. For NCR and Kolkata, the relevant supply has been considered for this analysis excluding the buildings less than 100,000 

square feet and applying certain other criteria. Additionally, for Noida within NCR and Kolkata, non-IT buildings have 

been excluded from supply.  

2. Future supply estimates are based on analysis of proposed and under construction buildings, however future absorption 

estimates are derived basis past trends, current vacancy and estimated supply.  

3. The net absorption value refers to the net additional leasing activity which has occurred in the year and excludes pre-

commitments or renewals. The pre-commitments are recorded as absorption in the year in which the tenant moves in.  

Sectoral Demand Trend 

With strong growth in Indian services sector and increasing penetration of GCCs providing high value-added 

services, the Top Seven Indian Markets have attracted tenants in other sectors as illustrated below:  
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India ï Sectoral Absorption Analysis (2015 -Q1 2020 - 243.44 msf ) 

 

Note: 

1. The sectoral absorption analysis is based on gross absorption activity of Top Seven Indian Markets, including any 

relocations or consolidations 

2. For NCR and Kolkata, the relevant stock has been considered for this analysis which excludes the buildings less than 

100,000 square feet and applying certain other criteria. Additionally, for Noida within NCR and Kolkata, non-IT 

buildings have been excluded from stock. 

3. Others include automobile, education, flexible workspaces, hospitality, logistics, shipping, oil and gas, research and 

analysis, food and beverage, real estate and related services. 

Rental Analysis 

The combined rentals in the Top Seven Indian Markets have grown at a CAGR of 4.8% between 2015 and Q1 

2020. The following chart sets forth rental trend analysis for the Top Seven Indian Markets:  

India (Top Seven Indian Markets) - Rental Trend Analysis  

(rentals indexed to 100) 

 

Note:  

1. Each of the above presented indexed rentals is a weighted average value (computed on completed stock).  

2. For NCR and Kolkata, the relevant stock has been considered for this analysis which excludes the buildings less than 

100,000 square feet and applying certain other criteria. Additionally, for Noida and Kolkata, non-IT buildings have been 

excluded from stock. 

3. The weighted average rentals indexed above denote likely achievable values. Actual achievable rental may vary +/- 10% 

from the considered rentals depending upon negotiations, final structuring of the lease agreement and other parameters. 
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¶ Robust demand for high quality office space: Young workforce, changing lifestyles and increasing focus 

on employee productivity drives the occupiers to look for superior quality Grade-A office spaces offering 

amenities such as food courts, gymnasium and retail facilities.  

¶ Dominance of established office owners and developers: Demand for well-managed quality office 

spaces, long development cycles and corresponding capital requirement favor large well-capitalized 

office players.  

Asian REITs Comparison  

(area in msf) 

 

Note:  

(1) UC/Potential includes Under Construction Area and Future Development Area.  

(2) Area numbers given for aggregate for the REIT. Data is based on information available in the public domain. 

(3) KDO REIT represents Kenedix Office Investment Corporation REIT, JRE REIT represents Japan Real Estate Investment 

Corporation REIT, NBF REIT represents Nippon Building Fund Management REIT and AIT represents Ascendas India 

Trust. 

Further, a more cautious approach taken by banks recently (as illustrated below) for lending to real estate has led 

to consolidation of supply among the larger developers with established track records. This is likely to accelerate 

due to: (i) liquidity challenges for high leverage developers; (ii) shift in demand towards capital intensive business 

parks; and (iii) increase in demand of high quality office space with amenities. 

Lending to Commercial Real Estate 

(US$ in billion) 

 
Source: RBI. As per Financial Benchmarks India Private Limited, exchange rate as of March 2020 was Rs. 75.4 per US$. 

This has been used as a conversion factor to report the gross outstanding credit (reported to RBI in Rs crores) with 

commercial real estate sector in US$ billion.  

¶ Changing profile of tenants: The scope of work of technology occupiers and GCCs has seen an 

improvement in quality over the past years. The tenants have moved from low-end support work to high-

end value creation such as analytics and artificial intelligence. The changing tenant profile has led to 
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increased focus on quality of office space, amenity mix, and facility management standards. As a result, 

the new age occupiers have become relatively less sensitive to occupancy costs. 

¶ Generic: SEZs and IT parks are among the most preferred office locations for technology companies in 

India as they are entitled to certain tax benefits, provide opportunities for expansion and consolidation 

and are equipped with a diverse range of amenities to cater to the employee base of such companies. 

¶ Consolidation and expansion strategies to business parks: Companies in India, especially GCCs, have 

started consolidating their multiple offices to single locations within the city. The consolidation decisions 

are driven by operational efficiencies, single-location synergies and lower costs through economies of 

scale. Further, there is a preference to consolidate in large office parks which have the ability to provide 

expansion space in future through new development or expiration of existing leases. In order to meet 

social distancing norms in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic, the trend of consolidation in 

business parks with large open space is likely to accelerate in the medium term. 

Vacancy at non strata owned business parks lower than average market vacancy for major cities as on 

Q1 2020 

 
 

Note: Business Parks are defined as large integrated developments. These parks have large floor plates, ample car parkings, 

employee engaging amenities with adequate availaibility of open/green area along with certain other features. 

¶ Tenant relationship strategies: Tenant relationships in India have improved as organized real estate 

developers offer integrated quality campuses with developed ecosystem offering amenities such as retail 

facilities, crèches and food and beverage facilities including food courts, which are in line with the 

current and potential demand of these tenants. Tenant incentives, such as fully fitted out space, or 

improvements are not a common market practice in India.  

Tenant Improvements Paid by Landlord  

(as a % of rental revenues) 

 

 

¶ Increasing demand from Indian origin IT service companies: The gross absorption for office space from 
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Indian origin IT firms has increased from 1.8 msf in 2014 to 3.9 msf in 2019 due to: (i) rise in annual 

employee addition per annum; and (ii) higher adoption of asset light leasing office space as against capital 

intensive office ownership.  

Rising annual gross absorption from Indian IT Firms 

(area in msf) 

 

 

Impact of COVID -19 on the Indian Office markets  

In the first half of 2020, COVID-19 spread to a majority of countries across the world. On March 11, 2020, the 

World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a óglobal pandemicô. The COVID-19 pandemic and preventative 

or protective actions that governmental authorities around the world have taken to counter the effects of COVID-

19, including social distancing, office closures, travel restrictions and the imposition of quarantines, have resulted 

in a period of economic downturn and business disruption, including restrictions on business activities and the 

movement of people comprising a significant portion of the worldôs population, including India.  

On March 14, 2020, India declared COVID-19 as a ñnotified disasterò and imposed a nationwide lockdown on 

March 25, 2020. The Government has subsequently eased restrictions under Unlock 1.0 on June 1, 2020 and 

Unlock 2.0 on July 1, 2020. Also, the Government announced several stimulus measures including for the real 

estate sector: 

¶ an Rs. 20 trillion stimulus package (approximately 10% of GDP), including fiscal measures and RBIôs 

monetary stimulus; 

¶ a cut in repo rate by 115 bps from 5.2% on March 26, 2020 to 4% (lowest ever) on May 22, 2020; 

¶ extension of real estate project deadlines under RERA by six months; 

¶ RBIôs Rs. 500 billion liquidity scheme and investment of 50% of the money in housing finance 

companies (HFCs), small and medium NBFCs; and 

¶ an Rs. 700 billion worth extension of credit-linked subsidy scheme (CLSS) to the middle class for 

affordable housing. 

C&WI anticipates that the delay in decision making for expansion by potential tenants along with delay in 

construction activities would have a short-term impact on the demand and shrinkage in supply resulting in 

vacancies to continue to remain at the existing levels.  

Resilient rentals: The institutional office market is resilient to rent correction as the US$ weighted average rent in 

India has been in approximately the same range for the last five years. 

Supply disruption: Liquidity challenges particularly for high leverage developers will reduce upcoming supply. 

Further, C&WI expects that on account of the limited availability of raw materials, among other things, there 

would be a delay in the delivery timeline of the planned future office supply. 
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Supply shrinkage to offset demand deferral keeping vacancy levels unchanged in 2020 

                            2020E Demand/Supply                                                                                                2020E Vacancy 

 (in msf) 

 

 

 

Demand recovery within six to 12 months: Delayed closure of ongoing transactions could impact office demand 

for the next three to six months. However, according to C&WI, office real estate has exhibited resilience to such 

disruptions due to long term office lease contracts and quality tenant base such as large multinational corporates 

and Fortune 500 Companies. 

C&WI further expects office demand to recover in six to 12 months led by business continuity spends and 

increased outsourcing amid tight cash flow scenarios for companies.  

De-densification: According to C&WI, there will be re-assessment of portfolios to de-densify the workspace to 

focus on hygiene and safety norms. Generally, the space per employee was 4 feet X 2 feet. Social distancing 

norms in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic require six feet between employees and thus space per 

employee could increase to 6 feet X 2 feet. 

Work from home: Savings in real estate expenditure from work from home atleast for the IT service companies 

would be marginal when compared against the trade offs of having on-site personnel such as building positive 

office culture, retaining attractive talent, managing workspace morale and lack of connectivity. 

According to C&WI, many industries have been impacted by the pandemic, however, certain industries such as 

aviation, education, entertainment and events, food and beverage, co-working and hospitality are among the ones 

which would be severely impacted.  

Brookfield REIT Markets  

The Brookfield REIT comprises of Grade-A commercial assets located in four major cities - Mumbai, Gurugram, 

Noida and Kolkata. These cities have exhibited strong economic fundamentals, healthy demand across sectors 

and quality supply addition of office space which are critical drivers for real estate sector. The office stock in 

Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata has been segmented into non strata and strata owned for detailed comprehension 

of office stock comparable to Brookfield REIT. Non strata owned office stock constitutes office developments 

which have controlled ownership and are conducive for institutional level participation. Strata office stock on the 

other hand has multiple ownership for a single office development (the stake of each ownership in such 

developments is minimal). Certain key highlights of the Brookfield REIT Markets are as follows:  

Particulars Mumbai  Gurugram  Noida Kolkata  

Total completed stock (Q1 2020) 92.2 msf 34.8 msf 14.0 msf 6.9 msf 

Current occupied stock (Q1 2020) 76.3 msf 31.0 msf 12.8 msf 6.4 msf 

Current vacancy (Q1 2020) 17.2% 11.0% 8.3% 7.7% 

Average annual net absorption (2015 ï Q1 

2020) 

4.7 msf 1.9 msf 1.0 msf 0.2 msf 

Future supply (Q2 2020E ï 2022E) 14.7 msf 5.5 msf 2.7 msf 0 msf 
Note:  

1. Only the relevant supply of Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata have been considered for this analysis excluding the buildings less than 

100,000 square feet, strata owned office developments and applying certain other criteria.. Additionally, for Noida and Kolkata, non-IT 

buildings has been excluded from supply.  
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Supply, Absorption, Vacancy Trends in the Brookfield REIT Markets 

The Brookfield REIT Markets have exhibited strong market dynamics with robust absorption and limited high-

quality supply resulting in lower vacancy levels and robust rental growth during the last five years. Between 2015 

and Q1 2020, 41.8 msf of non strata owned supply was delivered in the Brookfield REIT Markets, while the net 

absorption was 41.0 msf. During the same period, vacancy decreased by approximately 120 bps on the back of 

robust demand and improved infrastructure. The following graph sets forth the supply, absorption and vacancy 

trends for the Brookfield REIT Markets:  

Brookfield REIT Markets - Office Market Trends 

(area in msf) (vacancy in %) 

 

Note:  

1. Only the relevant supply has been considered for this analysis which excludes the buildings less than 100,000 square 

feet and applying certain other criteria. Strata owned office stock in Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata have been excluded 

from supply. Additionally, for Noida and Kolkata, non-IT buildings has been excluded from supply.  

2. Future supply estimates are based on analysis of proposed and under construction buildings, however future absorption 

estimates are derived basis past trends, current vacancy and estimated supply. 

3. The net absorption value refers to the net additional leasing activity which has occurred in the year and excludes pre-

commitments or renewals. The pre-commitments are recorded as absorption in the year in which the tenant moves in. 

Brookfield REIT Markets ï Occupancy Trends 

Candor Techspace G2 Candor Techspace N1 Candor Techspace K1 

   

Kensington Candor Techspace G1 Candor Techspace N2 

   

Note:  

1. Competitive REIT micro-market for Kensington comprises Andheri, Powai, Malad, Goregaon and eastern suburbs. 
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2. Candor Techspace N1 occupancy adjusted for the recently completed Tower 5. 

3. Only the relevant supply has been considered for this analysis which excludes the buildings less than 100,000 square feet 

and applying certain other criteria. Strata owned office stock in Gurugram, Noida and Kolkata has been excluded from 

supply. Additionally, for Noida and Kolkata, non-IT buildings has been excluded from supply. 

4. Occupancies reported as of March 31, 2020. 

1. Mumbai Region 

Mumbai is the financial capital of India with headquarters of most of the large corporates across all sectors. The 

city has excellent transport infrastructure and is well connected globally. Major industrialization in the last three 

decades has made Mumbai one of the most favoured destinations for investment in India. The city has business 

opportunities across sectors and is becoming a major center for services and outsourcing industries, including IT 

related services. The government has announced a host of policies to support the services and technology sector 

in the state of Maharashtra and Mumbai has emerged as one of the key beneficiaries. The key drivers of demand 

for office space in the Mumbai Region are as follows: 

¶ Financial capital and services hub: Mumbai houses the headquarters and corporate offices of firms/ 

corporates across sectors. With increasing expansion and growth, the demand for quality office space is 

increasing gradually.  

¶ Social infrastructure: Mumbai has established educational institutions and colleges across 

specializations, malls, hospitals and hotels. 

¶ Transport infrastructure: Mumbai is well connected by road and rail. Mumbai has the second busiest 

airport in India connecting to 61 domestic and 48 international destinations. Mumbai Region also has the 

largest container port of India.  

¶ Ongoing and planned infrastructure projects: Key initiatives include: (i) a US$ 12 billion proposed 

investment from 2019 to 2024 for the Navi Mumbai International Airport (expected to be completed by 

2022, with a capacity of 60 million passengers per annum (Source: CIDCO); (ii) multiple metro lines 

(172 km of metro lines is expected to be operational, in phases, by 2022, which is expected to enhance 

connectivity; (iii) various road projects, (including proposed 29.2 km coastal road, which would be an 

8-lane road along the western coastline of Mumbai, which would further enhance north-south 

connectivity and 21.8 km Mumbai Trans Harbour Link) (Source: 

https://cidco.maharashtra.gov.in/navi_mumbai_airport); and (iv) the monorail.  

Mumbai Region Office Market  

The Mumbai Region office market consists of ten micro-markets: Central Business District (ñCBDò), Andheri 

and Powai, Thane-Belapur Road, Malad-Goregaon, Worli-Lower Parel, Bandra Kurla Complex (ñBKCò) and 

Annex, Thane, Central Suburbs, Eastern Suburbs and Vashi and others. The map below reflects the commercial 

hubs of the Mumbai Region:  

https://cidco.maharashtra.gov.in/navi_mumbai_airport
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Note: The map is not to scale.  

The Mumbai Suburbs consists of four micro-markets - Andheri and Powai, Malad - Goregaon, Eastern Suburbs 

and Central Suburbs. The table below sets forth the statistics of CBD and the Mumbai Suburbs micro-markets:  

Particulars Mumbai

-Overall 

CBD Andheri 

and 

Powai (1) 

Malad - 

Goregaon 

Eastern 

Suburbs 

Central 

Suburbs 

Competitive 

REIT (2) 

Total completed stock till Q1 2020 (msf) 92.2 2.1 20.2 13.5 4.9 5.6 15.7 

Current occupied stock till Q1 2020(msf) 76.3 1.9 17.3 11.1 4.5 3.6 14.3 

Current Vacancy Q1 2020 (%) 17.3% 7.0% 14.3% 18.2% 7.8% 36.4% 8.9% 

Avg. Annual Absorption - 2015 ï Q1 

2020 (msf) 

4.71 0.0 0.7 0.6 0.2 0.4 0.7 

Future Supply ï Q2 2020 ï 2022 (msf) 14.7 0.0 1.0 1.2 1.2 0.4 2.3 

Rental CAGR (2015 -Q1 2020) 1.7% (0.6%) 2.7% 3.5% 4.6% 0.9% 4.7% 

Note: 

1. Kensington is located in this micro-market.  
2. A competitive REIT micro-market (comprising Andheri, Powai, Malad, Goregaon and Eastern Suburbs) has been created for the 

purposes of comparison to Kensington which consists of peer set i.e. large corporate parks and certain other additional criteria.  

Mumbai Region: Supply, Absorption, Vacancy and Rental Trend Analysis 

Mumbai is the second largest office market in India by total stock. Historically, Mumbai has seen higher vacancy 

levels which has been mainly due to some of the low performing micro-markets. However, in recent years, with 

rationalization of supply, vacancies have started declining and are expected to reach 15.6% by 2022. Between 

2015 and Q1 2020, Mumbai has seen a total supply of 25.6 msf and total absorption of 24.7msf. 
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